Agreement Between

The Pittsfield School Committee

and

The United Educators of Pittsfield

August 25, 2015 - Aug 24, 2018



TABLE OF CONTENTS

AGREEMENT		1
ARTICLE I RECOGNITION		1
ARTICLE II		
MANAGEMENT	RIGHTS	1-2
ARTICLE III POLICY AND PI	RACTICE	2-3
ARTICLE IV NO STRIKE		3-4
ARTICLE V	OCEDUDE	4.0
Section 1.	OCEDURE Definitions.	
	Procedures	
	General Provisions	
ARTICLE VI		
WORKING CON	DITIONS	9-40
Section 1.	Work Year	
Section 2.	Work Day	10
Section 3.	After School Meetings	13
Section 4.	Evening Meetings	13
Section 5.	Lunch Period	
Section 6.	Assignment	
Section 7.	Teaching Load	
	A. Elementary School Teachers	14
	B. Middle School Teachers	
	C. High School Teachers	
	D. Loss of Preparation Time on Instructional Half-Days	
Continu 0	E. Conferring with Other Teachers on Special Needs	
Section 8. Section 9.	Subject Preparation	
Section 10.	Elementary Recess	
Section 10.		
Section 11.		
Section 12.		
Section 13.		20
Section 14.		20
Section 16.		
Section 17.	,	
Section 18	Medical and Additional Services by Teachers	



	Section 19.	Class Size	21
	Section 20.	Itinerant Teachers	22
	Section 21.	Substitute Teachers	23
	Section 22.		
	Section 23.	Teacher Evaluations - Personnel Files	23
	Section 24.	Fair Employment	25
	Section 25.	Seniority	26
	Section 26.	Lay-Off and Recall	26-27
		A. Layoffs	26
		B. Recalls	
	Section 27.	Clinical Social Workers and Caseworkers	28
	Section 28.	In-House Suspension Specialist	28
	Section 29.	Adult Basic Education (ABE)	
	Section 30.	Certified ESL Teachers	30
	Section 31	Teen Parent Program Instructors	31
	Section 32	Special Education Unit Leaders	
	Section 33	Parent-Child Home Program Head Teacher	32
	Section 34	Academic Coaches	
	Section 35	Specialists	
	Section 36	Occupational and Physical Therapists	
	Section 37	School Nurses and School Nurse Leader	
	Section 38	Electronic Grading	
	Section 39	Professional Dress	40
ARTICLE VI	I		
PROM	OTIONS, V	VACANCIES, TRANSFERS	40-43
	Section 1.	Promotions	40
	Section 2.	Vacancies	41
	Section 3.	Transfers	41
	Section 4.	Involuntary Transfers	42
	Section 5.	Summer School and Evening School Vacancies	42
ARTICLE VI	П		
		D RESPONSIBILITIES	
	Section 1.	Administrative Notices, Bulletins, Postings, Directives	43
	Section 2.	Agendas - Minutes	43
	Section 3.	UEP Meetings	
	Section 4.	UEP-Superintendent Meetings.	
	Section 5.	Availability of Agreement	
	Section 6.	Bulletin Boards	
	Section 7.	Access to Employee Mailboxes	
	Section 8.	Negotiations on School Time	46
	Section 9.	School Directory	46
	Section 10	Information Available to UEP	
	Section 11.	Dues Deduction	
	Section 12	Other Deductions	
	Section 13	Agency Fee	48

Section 14	Joint Labor Management Committee	49
ARTICLE IX		
	SENCE	50-59
Section 1.	Sick Leave	50
Section 2	Sick Leave Bank	
Section 3.	Personal Days	52
Section 4.	Professional Leave	53
Section 5.	Religious Observance	53
Section 6.	Bereavement Leave	53
Section 7.	Court Appearance	54
Section 8.	Organized Reserve Forces Leave	54
Section 9.	Leave for UEP Conventions and Conferences	54
Section 10	. Maternity Leave	55
Section 11	. Peace Corps	56
Section 12	. Military Leave	
Section 13	8	
	. Leave for Public Office	
Section 15	. Leaves for UEP Service	
Section 16	Other Leaves of Absence	58
Section 17	Jury Duty	58
Section 18	. Maintenance of Rights and Benefits	
Section 19	. Child-rearing and Adoption Leave	59
ADTICLE V		
ARTICLE X TEACHER PRO	TECTION	59-60
Section 1.	Personal Injury Benefits	
Section 2.	Reimbursement for Teachers	
Section 3.	Protection	
ARTICLE XI	ND STUDENT TRANSFERS	60.62
	Discipline	
Section 1.	1	
Section 2.	Student Discipline Appeals and Procedural Review Student Transfers	
Section 3	Student Transfers	02
ARTICLE XII		
NON-DISCRIMI	NATION	62
ARTICLE XIII		
	JSE	62
MITTIGO CLITE	~~~	
ARTICLE XIV	NAME OF THE PROPERTY OF THE PR	
	FITS	
	Health Insurance	
Section 2.	Life Insurance	
Section 3	Tax Sheltered Annuities	63

COMPENSATION	N
Section 1.	Professional Development and Educational Improvement
Section 2.	Mileage Allowance
Section 3.	Method of Payment
	Option 1
	Option 2
Section 4.	Early Notice of Resignation With Intent to Retire
Section 5.	Severance Pay
Section 6.	Placement on the Salary Schedule
Section 7.	Longevity
Section 8.	A. Basic Salary Schedule, effective 2015-2018
	B. Occupational and Physical Therapists Salary Schedule
	C. School Nurses Salary Schedule
Section 9.	Increments and Salary Step Movement
Section 10.	Differentials
Section 11.	High School Coaching Positions
Section 12.	Coaches (Intramural)
Section 13.	A. High School Co-Curricular Activities
	B. Middle School and Elementary School Co-Curricular Activities
	C. Division of Co- or Extra-Curricular Compensation Permitted
	D. Per Diem payment for Co- and Extra-Curricular Work
	E. Written Notice of Appointment
Section 14.	Driver Education Teachers
Section 15.	Home Instruction Teachers
Section 16.	TEAM Evaluations
Section 17.	Evening School Teachers
Section 18.	Curriculum and Workshop Teachers and Workshop Leader
Section 19.	Part-Time ABE Teachers and Certified E.S.L. Teachers
Section 20.	Teen Parent Program Instructors
Section 21.	National Board for Professional Teacher Standards Compensation.
Section 22.	Mentor Teachers
Section 23.	Compensation Paid in Error
Section 24.	Irrelevance of Source of Funding
Section 25.	Applicability of Compensation for Retirement
LE XV	
RETELL/SEI EN	DORSEMENT COURSE
I E VVII	
LE XVII DURATION	

APPENDIX B	
Evaluation	96
APPENDIX C	
Health Insurance Memorandum of Agreement.	128

<u>AGREEMENT</u>

This AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the Pittsfield School Committee (hereinafter referred to as the COMMITTEE) and the United Educators of Pittsfield, MTA/NEA (hereinafter referred to as the UEP).

ARTICLE I

RECOGNITION

A. The COMMITTEE recognizes the UEP as the exclusive bargaining agent for the purposes of collective bargaining in respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, and other conditions of employment for:

All full and part-time classroom teachers, guidance counselors, department heads, team and unit leaders, head teachers, Supervisors of Attendance, coaches, librarians, media specialists, teachers of students with special needs, speech therapists, caseworkers, clinical social worker, in-house suspension teachers, peer mediation counselors, certified ESL teachers, Supervisors of Vocational Education, Instructional Technology Specialists, evening school teachers, ABE teachers, TPP instructors, mentor teachers, school nurses, school nurse leader, occupational therapists, physical therapists, academic coaches, and extra-curricular personnel, excluding the Superintendent, Assistant Superintendents, substitute teachers and all other employees of the school system.

- B. Unless otherwise indicated, the employees in the above unit will be hereinafter referred to as "teachers".
- C. Classroom teachers shall include all members of the unit who regularly instruct groups of students.

ARTICLE II

MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

A. The operation and management of the Pittsfield Public Schools, and the supervision of the teachers and of their work, are the rights of the COMMITTEE alone. These rights include, by way of illustration and without being limited to, the following: the right to make reasonable rules to assure orderly and effective work; to make and oversee the implementation of educational policy; to determine the quantity and types of educational equipment and materials to be used; to introduce new methods and facilities; to make and

- institute work schedules; to determine what and where duties will be performed and by whom; to evaluate teachers competency; to hire, transfer, promote, layoff, and recall teachers; and to demote, discipline or discharge teachers for just cause.
- B. The foregoing enumeration of the COMMITTEE'S rights shall not be deemed to exclude other rights not specifically set forth, the COMMITTEE therefore retaining all rights not otherwise specifically restricted by this Agreement.
- C. The failure by the COMMITTEE to exercise any of the rights as provided in this Article shall not be construed as a waiver of these rights nor of any of the rights of the COMMITTEE to control, operate and manage the schools. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed or deemed to constitute a waiver of or any restriction upon the inherent rights of the COMMITTEE except that none of these rights shall be exercised by the COMMITTEE contrary to any specific provision of this Agreement.
- D. Except when it can be shown that conduct or action by the COMMITTEE is in violation of a specific provision of this Agreement, such conduct or action shall not be subject to the grievance or arbitration procedures of this Agreement.

ARTICLE III

POLICY AND PRACTICE

- A. The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in the Agreement, each had unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the undertakings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth by this Agreement.
- B. Any previously adopted policy, practice, rule, or regulation existent which is in conflict with any provision of this Agreement is superseded and replaced by the applicable provision of this Agreement.
- C. Any previously adopted policy, practice, rule or resolution of the COMMITTEE which effects mandatory subjects of bargaining regarding wages, hours or conditions of employment of bargaining unit employees will not be changed by the COMMITTEE

- without affording the UEP notice and an opportunity to bargain regarding the impact of the change prior to its implementation.
- D. The COMMITTEE shall not during the life of this Agreement adopt any policy, practice, rule, or regulation with respect to wages, hours, standards of productivity and performance, and any term and condition of employment inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement, without prior negotiations. Such negotiations shall not compel either party to agree to a proposal or make a concession.
- E. As to every matter not covered by this Agreement, the COMMITTEE retains all the powers, rights and duties as set forth in Article II and may exercise the same without any such exercise being made the subject of negotiations and/or arbitration proceedings. The COMMITTEE may bring such matters to the UEP for discussion for the purpose of obtaining input from the UEP. The introduction of such matters by the COMMITTEE does not constitute a basis for negotiations and/or arbitration proceedings on such matters.
- F. The UEP may bring such matters to the COMMITTEE for the purposes of providing input by the UEP. The introduction of such matters by the UEP does not constitute a basis for negotiations and/or arbitration proceedings on such matters.
- G. During the life of this Agreement, the parties hereto may, by mutual consent, amend this Agreement.

ARTICLE IV NO STRIKE

- A. The parties agree that there shall be no strikes of any kind whatsoever, no work stoppages, withholding of services, slowdowns, or interference with or interruption of the functioning of the school system by any teachers or the UEP.
- B. Nor shall there be any strike or interruption of work because of any disputes or disagreements between any other persons, Employers, Associations, Federations or Unions who are not signatory parties to this Agreement.

- C. Teachers who violate this provision shall be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge for just cause.
- D. The Committee reserves the right to immediately pursue all legal courses of action against both the UEP, its affiliates and the teachers in the event of a strike as defined above, including their right to go to Arbitration as set forth in Article V of this Agreement.

ARTICLE V GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Section 1. Definitions

- A. A "grievance" is a complaint that there has been a violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of this Agreement or any amendment or supplement thereto.
- B. A "grievant" on any issue covered by the terms of this Agreement is any teacher, group of teachers having a common grievance, or the UEP.
- C. A "party of interest" is a grievant, witness, person, group of persons or organization who might be required to take action or against whom action might be taken in order to resolve the grievance.

Section 2. Procedures

A. Level One: (Immediate Superior Level)

- A grievant will first discuss a complaint with the immediate superior together with or through a UEP representative if the grievant so desires, with the objective of directly resolving the matter informally.
- 2. If the grievance is not resolved informally, the grievant may submit directly, together with or through the UEP, a written grievance to the principal of the building or to the immediate superior of the grievant. Within ten (10) calendar days after receiving the grievance, the principal or immediate superior shall communicate his decision in writing.

B. <u>Level Two</u>: (Superintendent Level)

1. The decision of the building principal or the immediate superior may be appealed in

writing by the aggrieved directly, together with or through the UEP to the Superintendent of Schools or his designated representative within ten (10) calendar days after the decision of the principal or immediate superior has been received by the aggrieved.

- 2. The Superintendent of Schools or his designated representative shall meet with the aggrieved directly, together with or through a UEP representative, within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of the appeal.
- 3. The Superintendent of Schools shall submit a decision in writing within ten (10) calendar days.
- 4. If the grievance involves a personnel matter and is not resolved at this level it may be submitted directly to Level Four (Arbitration).

C. <u>Level Three</u>: (School Committee Level)

- If the grievance is not resolved at Level Two and involves a contract interpretation issue, the grievance may be appealed in writing to the School Committee within ten (10) calendar days after the decision has been received by the aggrieved and the UEP.
- 2. The School Committee or the Negotiating Subcommittee of the School Committee shall meet with the grievant and the UEP representative in executive session within fifteen (15) calendar days of receipt of the appeal.
- 3. The School Committee shall communicate its decision in writing within fifteen (15) calendar days of the meeting with the grievant and the UEP representative.

D. <u>Level Four</u>: (Arbitration)

1. If the grievance is not settled at Level Three and the UEP determines the grievance is meritorious, it may file for Arbitration. If the UEP files for Arbitration, it shall notify the Committee within thirty (30) calendar days of the decision at Level Three. The filing of a written demand for Arbitration with the AAA shall be the method of notifying the COMMITTEE of the UEP'S intent to appeal. The date

- postmarked on the envelope containing the AAA demand shall be deemed the date of filing.
- 2. The arbitrator so selected will confer with representatives of the School Committee and the UEP and hold hearings promptly, and will issue his decision not later than twenty (20) days from the date of the close of the hearings; or, if oral hearings have been waived, then from the date the final statements and evidence are submitted to him. The arbitrator's decision will be in writing and will set forth his findings of fact, reasoning, and conclusions on the issues submitted. The arbitrator will be without power or authority to make any decision that requires the commission of an act prohibited by law, or that is violative of the terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall be without power or authority to extend beyond the submission agreement, or to add to, delete from, modify or alter the terms of this agreement. The decision of the arbitrator shall be submitted to the School Committee and to the UEP and shall be final and binding.
- 3. The costs for the services of the arbitrator, including per diem expenses, if any, and actual and necessary travel and subsistence expenses, will be borne equally by the School Committee and the UEP provided, however, a party who cancels or postpones a hearing without the required notice to the AAA or the Arbitrator shall pay the full cost of any fees of the AAA and/or the Arbitrator.
- 4. If the COMMITTEE claims the UEP has violated any provisions of Article IV, the No Strike Clause, it may present such claim to the UEP, in writing, and if the parties fail to settle the matter within ten (10) calendar days, the COMMITTEE may submit the dispute to arbitration under the provisions of Level Four of this Article.

Section 3. General Provisions

- A. Representation: Any "party of interest" may be represented at any level of this procedure by a person of his own choosing, except that a grievant may not be represented by an officer or a representative of any organization other than the UEP. Whenever a grievant is not represented by the UEP, the UEP shall be given five (5) days prior notice of a hearing, have the right to be present and to state its views at all levels of this procedure. The UEP shall have the right to appeal the disposition of a grievance if such disposition is alleged to be a violation of this Agreement.
- B. Timeliness: In order for a grievance to be timely, it must be filed in writing within thirty (30) days after the occurrence or knowledge of the situation, condition, or action giving rise to the grievance.
- C. Failure of a grievant to file in writing a complaint within thirty (30) days, or to proceed to the next step as provided in the procedures, shall cause the grievance to be deemed to have been waived. Failure of the COMMITTEE and/or its agents to respond as provided in the procedures at any step shall constitute a denial of the grievance and the grievant shall have the right to proceed to the next step in the procedure.
- D. Any time limits specified in the Article may be extended only by mutual agreement of both parties reduced to writing.
- E. The fact that a grievance is raised by a member of the bargaining unit, regardless of the ultimate disposition of such grievance, shall not be recorded in the employee's file nor in any file nor record utilized in the promotion process; nor shall such fact be used in any recommendations for job placement; nor shall such teacher or teachers who participate in any way in the grievance procedure be subjected to reprisal for having processed a grievance.
- F. All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of a grievance will be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants, unless the individual in question files a written request that all such documents, communications and records be included in his personnel file.

- G. At Arbitration the grievant and the School Committee shall have the following rights:
 - 1. To be present at the hearing;
 - 2. To hear testimony;
 - 3. To give testimony;
 - 4. To call others to give testimony;
 - 5. To question, whether personally or through a UEP or COMMITTEE representative, any person giving testimony.
- H. Except in cases of arbitration hearing, grievances shall ordinarily be processed at times which do not disrupt the educational programs in the schools or interfere with the teachers' responsibilities.
- I. If grievances are processed during the school day by mutual agreement of the parties, then release time shall be provided to all parties of interest without loss of pay or benefits.
- J. Time limits expressed in this procedure shall be considered maxima and may be extended by mutual agreement.
- K. Nothing herein shall require the UEP to process a grievance through arbitration.
- L. Grievances shall be initiated at the administrative level giving rise to the grievance. If the administrator determines that the grievance has been improperly filed at his level, he/she shall so notify the grievant.
- M. The original filing shall be valid for timeliness as provided in the various levels of the grievance process.
- N. Class or group grievances involving more than one grievant shall identify the class affected by the grievance at Level One of the grievance procedure.
- O. At a School Committee grievance hearing, the UEP and/or the teacher shall have the right to fully present their position regarding the grievance, including the right to speak on their own behalf, to have UEP representation, and to produce support for their position through documents or other persons.

ARTICLE VI

WORKING CONDITIONS

Section 1. Work Year

- A. The work year of teachers, except as set forth below for new personnel, shall be 183 days. The instructional work year will begin no earlier than September 1, and will terminate no later than June 30. Input from the UEP will be solicited in developing the school calendar.
- B. Department heads may be required to work up to five (5) additional days each school year. These days will be scheduled by mutual agreement of the department head and building principal. Any such days worked shall be compensated as set forth in XV § 3.
- C. The mandatory work year for guidance counselors may be extended by the building principal, up to a total of forty (40) days for the counselors at each high school, and up to a total of twenty (20) days for the counselors at each middle school, as follows:
 - the five working days immediately after the end of the school year, and the five working days immediately before the start of the teachers' work year, may be required work days for any or all guidance counselors;
 - 2. other days that may be required, as set forth below, shall be scheduled by the building principal in consultation with the counselor;
 - 3. the guidance department head at each high school may be required to work up to twenty (20) additional days per contract year between the end of one school year and the start of the next; and
 - 4. all other guidance counselors may be required to work up to ten (10) days per contract year between the end of one school year and the start of the next.
- D. New personnel may be required to attend orientation and training of up to two (2) additional days in the week preceding the start of the teachers' work year. New personnel may also be required to attend annual orientation or training of up to three (3) hours in length each for a total of up to fifteen (15) hours during the first three (3) years of employment (i.e., up to forty-five (45) hours total during the first three (3) years of employment).

Section 2. Work Day

A. Except as set forth in subsection B, below, commencing with the 2004-05 school year, the workday for teachers will be as follows:

1. Elementary Level:

a.	Reporting time:	8:30 a.m.
b.	Start of instructional time:	8:45 a.m.
c.	End of instructional time:	3:15 p.m.

d. End of workday: not earlier than 3:25 p.m.,

otherwise as decided pursuant to § 2.E.,

below

2. Middle School Level:

a.	Reporting time:	7:25 a.m.
b.	Start of Instructional time:	7:35 a.m.
c.	End of Instructional time:	2:28 p.m.
d.	End of workday:	2:35 p.m.

3. High School Level:

a.	Reporting time:	7:20 a.m.
b.	Start of instructional time:	7:25 a.m.
c.	End of instructional time:	2:20 p.m.
d.	End of workday:	2:29 p.m.

Notwithstanding the above, a modified and/or evening schedule shall be allowed. Any such schedule must be approved by both parties.

B. The COMMITTEE, with prior consultation with the UEP, may annually schedule the start of the elementary instructional day between 8:40 a.m. and 9:10 a.m.; the start of the middle school instructional day between 7:35 a.m. and 8:05 a.m.; and the start of the high school instructional day between 7:25 a.m. and 7:55 a.m. Whenever the COMMITTEE acts pursuant to this subsection it shall ensure that the difference in total minutes between a teacher's contractual reporting time and the start of the instructional day, the difference in total minutes between the end of the instructional day and the end of a teacher's contractual workday, the total number of minutes between a teacher's

reporting time and the end of her/his contractual workday, and the total number of minutes in the instructional day, shall be as set forth in § 2.A of this Article.

C. Ten (10) half-days of in-service training shall be provided to members of the bargaining unit during the school year. The content of eight (8) of these half-days shall be District driven, and two (2) of the half-days shall be teacher driven (Note: The parties agree to reopen the contract regarding the preceding sentence upon the conclusion of the 2012-2013 school year). The type of professional development (i.e., District driven or teacher driven) will be included in the school calendar commencing with the 2013-2014 school year. A Professional Development Committee, chaired by the Deputy Superintendent, shall be convened quarterly and will include the following: members selected by the UEP, members of the curriculum department, members of the technology department, school principals, the Director of Special Education (or designee), and members of the PEAA.

The goal of the Professional Development Committee will be to work collaboratively in developing both district and site based professional development plans. These plans will balance required compliance training, with content specific, and site based needs. All professional development shall be centered on opportunities for professional growth that will align with district goals – specifically the advancement and achievement of students. In doing so, professional development opportunities will support the professional recertification of unit members in a timely manner.

An annual professional development survey will be developed to gather feedback regarding the efficacy of the professional development programs and the needs of unit members. The Professional Development Committee will recommend a Professional Development Plan to the Superintendent for his/her review. The Superintendent will prepare a final plan, which will be provided to the Pittsfield School Committee.

The Professional Development Committee chairperson will issue a request for proposals (RFP) prior to the December break that will include an RFP form created jointly by the Professional Development Committee. Staff members must submit their proposal(s) on or before the Friday before February break. After the Professional Development Committee vets and the Superintendent approves, all approved proposals will be posted by April 30th for staff to choose his/her professional development workshop(s). The staff will then have five (5) school days to complete and submit their choice(s) in writing to the Professional Development Committee. Staff member(s) who do not submit their selections within that timeframe will be assigned to professional development by the Professional Development Committee chairperson. No later than the last day of school, all facilitators will be informed as to which workshops will be running in the subsequent school year. All staff members will be informed of their workshop assignments as soon as possible.

To facilitate this process, the UEP will distribute a communication explaining the RFP process, including how to fill out the RFP form with an example and a timeline, by November 1st (for the 2012-2013 school year only, the date shall be November 30th). Bargaining unit members who are chosen to present professional development shall receive one-half hour of compensation at the Workshop Leader Teacher hourly rate for every hour of presentation (i.e., if a bargaining unit member provides a three hour presentation, the member will receive one and one-half hours of compensation).

- D. The COMMITTEE and the UEP shall establish a study group on academic and other aspects of student scheduling. The plan or plans developed, if recommended by the study group, and approved by the building principals and the Superintendent of Schools, shall be submitted to the COMMITTEE and the UEP for ratification.
- E. It is expected that, in compliance with D.E.S.E. evaluation guidelines, staff will attend to reasonable parent/student requests for assistance in a timely fashion. The Committee

and UEP agree that teachers may meet with parents and/or students to provide academic assistance outside contract hours up to forty (40) minutes per week during work to rule.

Section 3. After School Meetings

- A. Teachers may be required to remain after the end of the regular workday without additional compensation for no more than two (2) staff meetings each month to commence no later than fifteen (15) minutes after the end of the instructional day and teachers will not be required to remain more than one (1) hour after the meeting begins.
- B. Such meetings are not cumulative and shall deal exclusively with matters related to education or school management.
- C. In regard to specialists who are assigned to more than one (1) building, said specialists will attend the staff meetings scheduled at the school where they are assigned the majority of the time. If a specialist is scheduled an equal amount of time in more than one (1) building, then the specialist will be assigned to attend staff meetings on a case-by-case basis, but in no event will he/she be required to attend more staff meetings than provided in section A above.

Section 4. Evening Meetings

- A. Teachers may be required to attend three (3) evening meetings a year including National Education Week programs. In those schools and classes where parent-teacher conferences are held in lieu of the written report cards, teachers may be required to attend two (2) additional evening meetings.
- B. Evening meetings shall be defined as any required meeting after regular school hours excluding weekends and meetings covered under Section 3 above or elsewhere in the contract. These meetings may not exceed three (3) hours in length and cannot extend beyond 9:00 p.m. Additionally, two (2) evening meetings cannot occur on the same day. The COMMITTEE will make every effort to ensure that the Principal or his/her designee remain in the building for the duration of each evening meeting.

Section 5. Lunch Period

Teachers shall be provided with a duty-free lunch period of thirty (30) minutes. The thirty (30) minutes will be consecutive and uninterrupted.

Section 6. Assignment

- A. A Middle School or High School teacher may be assigned outside his or her area of certification as allowed by the Massachusetts Department of Education provided that a full-time teaching schedule is maintained by all other teachers possessing certification in the subject involved.
- B. Teachers shall be consulted when changes in grade assignment or subject in Elementary and subject assignments in Middle School and High School are contemplated by the administration. Such changes in assignment shall be voluntary whenever possible.
- C. Consistent with the above, employees shall be notified of their assignment for the succeeding school year as early as possible but no later than August l.

Section 7. Teaching Load

A. Elementary School Teachers

- 1. Elementary teachers will be provided with five (5) preparation periods during any five (5) day teaching cycle with one (1) preparation period daily. Teachers will not be responsible for the preparation or distribution of plans/materials used by employees assigned to cover preparation periods not covered by specialists. Summer curriculum workshops and one workshop day during the school year may be provided to develop instructional activities for the periods not covered by a specialist.
- 2. Elementary principals will provide time during the school day for elementary teachers to confer with special education teachers about students.
- 3. Each elementary school will establish their own lunch and recess schedules. This will be done using the principle of site-based decision making.
 - The COMMITTEE and the UEP shall establish a study group on the scheduling, assignment of duties, and other aspects of the work of elementary subject area specialists. As used in this paragraph the term "elementary subject area specialist" shall be understood only to denote a teacher of art, music, library-media skills,

physical education, and natural science at the elementary grade level. The plan or plans developed, if recommended by the study group, and approved by the building principals and the Superintendent of Schools, shall be submitted to the School Committee and the UEP for ratification.

B. <u>Middle School Teachers</u>.

- 1. The workday for teachers in the Middle School will be seven (7) periods a day on non-activity/club days and eight (8) periods a day on activity/club days.
- 2. Teachers in the middle schools will normally be assigned to not more than twenty-five (25) teaching periods or the equivalent. Full-time teachers will be guaranteed an individual preparation period or its equivalent during each instructional day and two (2) or more periods of common planning time per week. Team teachers will have no more than three (3) supervisory periods per week. Full-time non-team teachers with less than twenty-five (25) instructional periods per week will not have more than seven (7) supervisory periods and no more than two (2) per day.
- 3. Teachers in the middle school may volunteer with the agreement of the principal and the UEP to teach additional class periods to a maximum of 27. Teachers so assigned 27 periods will have three (3) supervisory periods eliminated. Teachers so assigned 26 periods will have two (2) supervisory periods eliminated. Teachers so assigned 25 periods will have one (1) supervisory period eliminated.
- 4. It is agreed that if any two (2) activity/club periods per week are scheduled, teachers may be assigned on a voluntary basis to supervise said activity/club period or be assigned to a directed-study activity.
- 5. Full-time teachers who spend a minimum of three (3) periods daily in Grades 7 or 8 shall have a schedule of five (5) teaching periods, one (l) supervisory period and one (l) preparation period.
- 6. It is agreed that if two (2) club periods per week are scheduled in Grades 6, 7 and 8, teachers may voluntarily supervise said club periods, and/or instead, be assigned to supervise study periods.

C. High School Teachers

- 1. Teachers at the high school will work a seven (7) period day. High school academic teachers will normally be assigned to not more than twenty-five (25) teaching periods and five (5) student supervision periods each week. Full-time high school teachers will have one (1) preparation period or the equivalent each instructional day. No teacher will be assigned to more than two (2) days of six (6) teaching periods. Any teacher assigned one such six (6) period teaching day will have no more than four (4) supervisory periods each week. Any teacher assigned two (2) such six (6) period teaching days will have no more than three (3) supervisory periods each week.
- 2. A Directed Study Hall is a supervisory responsibility. A Directed Study Hall has students assigned to a classroom under the supervision of a teacher who is available to provide instructional assistance.
- 3. Science teachers may apply to teach up to 27 periods and will have supervisory periods assigned according to the following chart. No more than two (2) science teachers will have five (5) class assignments which result in a schedule of up to 27 periods due to labs in a high school's science department annually.

<u>Preparation</u>	Supervision	Lab
5	4*	1*
5	2	2
5	1	2
	Preparation 5 5 5 5	

The lab assignment for science teachers will not be supervisory but, with teacher permission, students may assist.

4. Academic teachers may volunteer with the agreement of the principal and the UEP to teach up to thirty (30) periods per week for an elective course that would normally not run because of low enrollment (8 or under) or due to scheduling conflicts. It is understood that any such voluntary assignments will not substantially increase the supervisory responsibilities of other teachers during the course of the school year. Such requests will be submitted to the UEP as early as

^{*}This schedule will be put in place wherever possible and this issue will be revisited by the parties during the last year of the contract.

- possible but no later than June 1 and will be returned to the principal within two (2) weeks on the form provided herein. (Said form to be jointly developed).
- 5. All full-time high school career/vocational teachers may be assigned to not more than thirty (30) periods per week and will have one (1) uninterrupted preparation period each school day.
- 6. High school physical education and physical education/health teachers will be assigned not more than twenty-six (26) periods per week and will have one (1) uninterrupted preparation period each school day.
- 7. Team Leaders and Department Heads supervising the equivalent of four full-time teachers or less will teach five (5) periods each day, have one (l) period for performing their supervisory functions, and have one (l) preparation period.
- 8. The Head Teacher of the Alternative School shall have a schedule consisting of three days teaching and two days for supervision.
- 9. Department Heads supervising the equivalent of at least five but no more than 10 full-time teachers will teach four (4) periods each day, have two (2) periods for performing their supervisory functions and have one (l) preparation period.
- 10. Department Heads supervising the equivalent of at least eleven (11), but no more than fifteen (15) full-time teachers will teach three (3) periods each day, have three (3) periods for performing their supervisory functions and have one (1) preparation period.

D. Loss of Preparation Time on Instructional Half-Days

A teacher who, on any scheduled half-day of instruction, loses her/his preparation period or a portion thereof because of the schedule on that day, shall not be entitled to the replacement or restoration of the lost preparation period or portion thereof on any other day.

E. Conferring with Other Teachers on Special Needs

All principals will provide each special education teacher in grades 9 through 12 with one (1) period per week to confer with other teachers about students' special education needs. All principals in grades PK through 8 will make a reasonable effort, provided there is no additional cost to the District, to provide each special education teacher with one (1) period (or its equivalent) per week to confer with other teachers about students' special education needs.

Section 8. Subject Preparation

A. Middle School and High School teachers will not be required to teach more than two (2) subjects nor more than a total of three (3) teaching preparations within said subjects at any one time, except that a teacher may elect more preparation in order to maintain a full teaching schedule or for other reasons.

B. Academic Facilitation

1. "Academic Facilitator" Defined

Nothing in this section or elsewhere in this Agreement shall be understood to prevent a secondary teacher's being required to perform the duties of an academic facilitator. As used herein "academic facilitator" shall mean the role that a secondary (middle or high school) teacher plays during extended homeroom periods, or time otherwise scheduled during the teacher's regular work day, when that teacher may be directed to meet with students to review their individual registration schedules for the next school year, discuss with them their academic progress and long-range educational and school-related personal goals, and make referrals to individual students' guidance counselors based on such interactions.

2. Restrictions on Time

a. Time formally dedicated to academic facilitation during the school year through extended homerooms or other means shall be limited to not more than six (6) periods or their equivalent during the school year. Routine homeroom activities, including the distribution of report cards, shall not count as time formally dedicated to academic facilitation.

b. No teacher shall be denied a preparation period, as set forth in §7.B.1 and C.1 of this article, as a result of requirements that she/he perform duties as an academic facilitator.

3. Restrictions on Duties and Performance Evaluation

- a. No teacher functioning as an academic facilitator shall be obliged to make specific recommendations to a student for a course or program of study; nor shall any such teacher be obliged to function in a manner that is appropriate to a guidance counselor.
- b. No teacher shall incur personal liability as a result of her/his performance of academic facilitator duties, and the quality of a teacher's performance as an academic facilitator shall not be subject to the formal evaluation procedure for teachers as set forth elsewhere in this Agreement.

4. Restrictions on Group Size

No teacher functioning as an academic facilitator shall be assigned a group of students that exceeds twenty (20) in size, and the average size of all such groups in a given school building shall not exceed sixteen (16) students. A teacher shall have the right to meet with the principal of her/his building to discuss the size and composition of the group of students she/he has been assigned.

Section 9. Elementary Recess

There will be a fifteen (15) minute recess period daily in the elementary schools, as defined by staff. Each elementary school teacher will be off duty for such recess period every other day.

Section 10. Teacher Facilities

- A. Each teacher will have the following facilities:
 - 1. Safe storage space for instructional materials and supplies (e.g., closet, file cabinet, or desk with a functional lock and key).
 - 2. A serviceable desk and chair.
- B. Each itinerant teacher shall be provided with a safe storage space for instructional materials and supplies at each work location. Such storage facilities may be shared by the teachers assigned to that particular work location on a regular schedule.

C. Teaching facilities shall be scheduled so as to provide the fullest appropriate utilization of the facilities and staff available in the best interests of the educational programs in the schools.

Section 11. Parking

An adequate portion of the parking lot at each school will be reserved for teacher parking.

Section 12. Moving of Classes

In the event that a class is to be relocated either within a building or to another building, the teacher shall be provided assistance for the transporting of furniture and supplies.

Section 13. Classroom Interruptions

- A. Classroom interruptions shall be prohibited except for good cause.
- B. Public address systems and classroom phones shall not be used while classes are in session except for good cause.

Section 14. Textbooks

- A. Teachers shall be provided with sufficient textbooks for every student assigned to the class if the use of such textbooks by each student is required by the course of study.
- B. Teacher's editions shall be provided together with standard tests, workbooks, and manuals if available.

Section 15. TEAM Evaluations

Teachers shall have the right to make referrals for TEAM Evaluation Assessments, to participate in the evaluation sessions, and to make suggestions for changes in the student's educational program.

Section 16. Health and Safety

- A. The COMMITTEE shall maintain health and safety standards as required by law.
- B. Student health problems which may affect classroom performance shall be made known to teachers upon the admission of the student to school, to the extent permitted by law.
- C. Essential safety equipment for all science and career/vocational classrooms and all other school locations shall be provided. Science and career/vocational teachers shall notify their principal as soon as possible upon learning of any safety equipment that is missing, lacking or not functioning.

- D. Teachers recognize that a healthy and safe school environment is a shared responsibility. Teachers will be safety conscious and work with the COMMITTEE to ensure a safe school environment.
- E. Teachers may be required to comply with administrative measures taken to ensure the safety of staff and students, the security of school property, and the security of the school building or other facility to which they are assigned, such as wearing of identifying badges or emblems.

Section 17. A-V Equipment

Audio-visual equipment shall be kept in good repair and made available for use.

Section 18. Medical and Additional Services by Teachers

- A. The COMMITTEE and the UEP acknowledge that a teacher's primary responsibility is to teach and that his/her energies should, to the extent possible, be utilized to this end. Therefore, they agree to take the following steps:
 - 1. Teachers will not be required to administer medical exams, or supervise eye or ear examinations, dispense medication, weigh or measure students, or to drive pupils to activities which take place away from the school building.
 - The COMMITTEE agrees to relieve teachers to the extent possible, from performing non-teaching administrative, clerical, and supervisory tasks (such as study halls).

Section 19. Class Size

- A. The parties recognize the desirability of achieving optimum teaching conditions by assuring workable class sizes. To this end, and to the extent possible within existing facilities and available staff, the COMMITTEE recognizes that it is desirable to attempt to reach the class size maximum set for in subsections B and C, below.
- B. 1. Elementary School Maximum Class Sizes

Grades K-3 18

Grades 4-5 22

- 2. If there are insufficient numbers of classrooms to accommodate the numbers described above, then a teacher-pupil ratio of 1:18 should be maintained in Grades K, 1, 2, and 3, and a teacher-pupil ratio of 1:22 should be maintained in grades 4 and 5. These ratios are calculated exclusive of remedial reading, resource room, or Title 1 teachers.
- C. Middle and High School Maximum Class Sizes:
 - 1. Academic subjects

(including science laboratories) 24 Grade 6 22 Technology 24 Technology using power tools 15

Physical Education 35/teaching station

Band and Choral instruction no limit

Visual Arts, technology, science not more than number of work stations

- 2. Caseloads of English and science teachers should not exceed 100 students
- 3. Class size in career/vocational programs should adhere to Chapter 74 regulations
- D. The Superintendent of Schools and the UEP will work cooperatively towards the goals set forth herein.
- E. Teachers who extend services to special needs students shall have classes and caseloads that fall within state regulations, with violations subject to the grievance procedure set forth in Article III, above; provided, however, that the decision of the COMMITTEE will be final as to the disposition of the dispute within the grievance procedure.

Section 20. Itinerant Teachers

- A. Itinerant teachers shall have no less than fifteen (15) minutes of travel time scheduled when traveling from school to school.
- B. Such travel time shall not be scheduled so as to interfere with itinerant teachers' lunch period.

Section 21. Substitute Teachers

A. It is agreed that substitute teachers are not members of the bargaining unit and are not entitled to the benefits of this contract. If a teacher is ill or otherwise unavailable, every reasonable effort will be made to secure a substitute teacher before a regular teacher is asked to substitute.

Section 22. Solicitation of Funds

Teachers shall not be required to participate in solicitation of student funds for any reason. Teachers shall not be held liable for lost or stolen funds collected for business or commercial companies.

Section 23. Teacher Evaluations - Personnel Files

- A. The COMMITTEE and UEP have agreed to implement and abide by the attached evaluation system, which is hereby made an Appendix to this Agreement. For the 2012-2013 school year only, any timelines contained in the evaluation system prior to December 15th will be delayed to commence four (4) weeks after ratification of the Settlement Agreement by both constituent parties and training has been completed.
- B. The COMMITTEE shall not use any type of mechanical, electronic, or intercom device for the purpose of monitoring or recording the performance of any teacher, unless such teacher wishes to use such a device for self-improvement purposes. The District has installed and maintains video cameras in common areas of the buildings throughout the District and in instructional settings (currently the Pittsfield High School weight room and Student Resource Center). The footage captured by these cameras shall be used for security purposes only (i.e., to investigate theft, vandalism or illegal activity). None of the footage from the camera will be used for evaluation. Prior to the future installation of cameras in any instructional settings throughout the District, the Committee shall give the UEP advanced written notification.
- C. A teacher shall have the right, an appointment having been made in advance, to inspect the contents of his or her personnel file, where kept, and to reproduce any part therein. Such teacher shall have the right to have a UEP representative present during inspection.

- Any document in the personnel file must be photocopied upon request of the teacher. Teachers may have their entire personnel file photocopied for a nominal fee provided that request is submitted in writing one (1) week in advance.
- F. All material placed in a teacher's personnel file will be signed and dated. No material of any nature shall be included in or removed from any teacher's personnel file without the knowledge of the teacher. No material derogatory to a teacher's conduct, service, character, or personality will be placed in this personnel file, unless the teacher has acknowledged that he/she has had the opportunity to review such material by affixing his signature within three (3) days to the copy to be filed with the express understanding that such signature in no way indicates agreement with the contents thereof. The teacher will also have the right to submit a written answer to such material and his answer shall be reviewed by the Superintendent and attached to the file copy.
- G. The teacher's personnel file shall be maintained in the Personnel Office, and shall be the only official file. However, evaluation information is contained in Teach Point with the exception of the Summative Evaluation which will be placed in the personnel file. Personnel files of individual teachers shall be available for inspection by the teacher, the teacher's supervisor, members of the Superintendent's cabinet, the School Committee and/or its representatives. Other administrators shall have access to the files only if the teacher is an applicant for a position under the direct authority of that administrator, and the time and date of such access shall be noted on a log attached to the file.
- H. All examinations of the personnel file will be in the Personnel Office. A Table of Contents will be prepared for the personnel file of each newly employed teacher. Assistance will be provided to currently employed teachers to develop a Table of Contents for their personnel file.

Section 24. Fair Employment

- A. No teacher shall be disciplined, reprimanded, reduced in rank or compensation, separated or discharged, or deprived of any professional advantage without just and sufficient cause.
- B. In the event that a teacher is to be disciplined, reprimanded, reduced in rank or compensation, deprived of any professional advantage, separated or otherwise discharged, such employee shall be given the reasons therefore in writing prior to carrying out such action, except for verbal and written reprimands and exigent circumstances.
- C. A teacher has the right to be represented by the UEP in any meeting with more than one member of the administration when there is probable cause to believe that the purpose of the meeting is for disciplinary action.
- D. Teachers Without Professional Status may be terminated in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 71 of the General Laws of Massachusetts. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, no action of the School Committee or the Superintendent of Schools with respect to the retention or non-retention of a Teacher Without Professional Status and no action of any official of the school system based upon such action of the COMMITTEE or the Superintendent of Schools shall be made subject to the arbitration provision of this Agreement.
- E. Either arbitration or the procedures described under Chapter 71 of the General Laws of Massachusetts may be selected by a Teacher With Professional Status as the method of resolution of a grievance under this Article. The method elected shall be the exclusive method notwithstanding any contrary provisions of Chapter 71 of the General Laws of Massachusetts.
- F. Physical Therapists and Occupational Therapists who have not completed three (3) full school years of employment with the Pittsfield Public Schools are employees at-will, and may be terminated without cause. Any such decision is not subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure. Any Physical Therapist or Occupational Therapist who has

completed three (3) full school years of employment with the Pittsfield Public Schools shall not be disciplined, reprimanded, reduced in rank or compensation, separated or discharged, or deprived of any professional advantage without just and sufficient cause.

Section 25. Seniority

- A. System-wide seniority is defined as the length of service in Unit A of the Pittsfield Public Schools. Periods of service interrupted by a break due to resignation, retirement, termination or work outside of the unit shall not be added together to determine system-wide seniority. The employment date is the date that a teacher began functioning solely in a Unit A capacity, either by continuous service or by receiving a percentage of the regular teachers' salary scale. Unpaid leaves of absence are not included in determining the length of service.
 - 1. Members of the bargaining unit who continue in the employ of the Pittsfield Public Schools and who perform work outside of Unit A for a period of less than three (3) years shall have their seniority restored upon their return to Unit A.
 - 2. Members of the bargaining unit who continue in the employ of the Pittsfield Public Schools and who perform work outside of Unit A for a period of more than three (3) years shall have seniority restored up to four (4) years upon their return to Unit A.
 - B. The school system shall prepare a seniority list which indicates the dates of employment of all members of the bargaining unit, the area of certification of current assignment and all areas of certification held by the teacher. The UEP shall be supplied with this list by October 15 and said list shall be kept current by the Administration.

Section 26. Lay-Off and Recall

A. Layoffs

1. In the event of a cutback in personnel within the school system, teachers shall be laid off on a seniority basis. The seniority list as defined in Article IV, Section 25 shall be examined to determine (a) the least senior teacher currently assigned in the area of certification affected by the cutback, and then (b) the least senior of the teachers of lesser seniority than the teacher identified in (a)

- above assigned in any area of certification held by teacher identified in (a) above, if any. This identification process shall be repeated in order to determine the least senior teacher to be laid off.
- A teacher to be laid off must be given notice of layoff by May 15th for Teachers
 Without Professional Status and on/or before June 1st for Teachers With
 Professional Status.

B. Recalls

- 1. A recall list shall be established by the school system. Such list shall consist of the names of the affected teachers and date of lay off. These teachers shall be rehired before any new teachers are hired for positions for which any laid off teacher is certified. Such rehiring shall also be based on seniority, i.e., the person who was laid-off last shall be the first re-employed. The UEP shall be provided with the recall list which shall be kept current.
- 2. A teacher will remain on the recall list for five (5) years or unless said teacher has refused two (2) offerings for reemployment. Failure to respond within twenty (20) days to certified letter offering reemployment mailed to the most recent address provided to the COMMITTEE or the Superintendent of Schools shall also constitute a refusal. After the second refusal the teacher's name will be removed from the recall list.
- 3. Any Teacher With Professional Status who is laid off for five years or less will upon recall be entitled to all the benefits to which he/she was entitled prior to layoff including unused accumulated sick leave, seniority, and professional status.
- C. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the COMMITTEE or the Superintendent of Schools shall have the right to appoint, retain, recall, and hire any individual it deems qualified, from an unrestricted pool of candidates for the position of Department Head.

D. Sections A and B above shall apply to Physical Therapists and Occupational Therapists who have completed three (3) full school years of employment with the Pittsfield Public Schools.

Section 27. Clinical Social Workers and Caseworkers

- A. Clinical Social Workers and Caseworkers assigned to the Adolescent Support Program and the Alternative School:
 - 1. are required to work thirty seven and one-half (37 1/2) hours per week.
 - 2. will be entitled to a one-half hour duty-free lunch.
 - 3. will be entitled to five (5) weeks vacation.
 - do not have to report for work when scheduled school days are cancelled due to inclement weather or for other reasons, and such absences will not be counted as vacation time.
- B. Caseworkers will be placed on Step 5 of the Bachelor's salary schedule on the effective date of this Agreement and will proceed on the Bachelor's in the same manner as all members of the bargaining unit. Such compensation is to include on-call requirements.
- C. Clinical Social Workers will be placed on Step 5 of the Master's salary schedule on the effective date of this Agreement and will proceed on the Master's schedule in the same manner as all members of the bargaining unit. Clinical Social Workers:
 - 1. will be entitled to the course reimbursement provisions of this Agreement, but not to the extra credit provisions.
 - 2. will be entitled to all legal holidays.
 - 3. will be entitled to all the benefits and assume all the obligations of this Agreement not specifically superseded by the provisions of this Section.

Section 28. In-House Suspension Specialist

- A. The In-House Suspension Specialist shall be assigned duties for the equivalent of six (6) teaching periods for each full school day.
- B. The In-House Suspension Specialist shall have the equivalent of one (1) full period each full school day for preparation and for consultation.

- C. Other teachers may be assigned to In- House Suspension duties as part of the supervisory responsibilities required by Article VI, Section 7 of the collective bargaining agreement.
- D. The In-House Suspension Specialist shall be paid on the teacher's salary schedule.

Section 29. Adult Basic Education (ABE)

- A. Full-time ABE teachers shall have the equivalent of one (1) full period each school day for preparation and consultation.
- B. ABE teachers are expected to teach in three (3) subject areas.
- C. Full-time ABE teachers will be paid on the teachers' salary schedule and all teacher benefits in Article IX and XV will apply. Sections 25 and 26 of this Article shall apply to them.
- D. Article VI Working Conditions, Section 2 does not apply to full-time ABE teachers.
- E. Appointed ABE teachers who work 12 hours or more a week will be paid in accordance with Section 19 of Article XV. They shall have layoff and recall rights consistent with Article VI, Sections 25 and 26, but only within their classification.
- F. The parties agree that Article VI, Sections 1 and 2 do not apply to part-time ABE teachers. Nor does Article VI Working Conditions, Sections 3-9; Article IX Leaves of Absence, Sections 1-6; Article XIV Fringe Benefits; and Article XV Compensation, Sections 4-17.
- G. Notwithstanding the above subsection F, part-time ABE teachers who work 12 hours or more are entitled to the following benefits effective August 25, 2008:
 - a. Sick Leave seven (7) sick days per year, accumulative up to 45 days. Up to two (2) of the seven (7) sick days per year may be used for illness in the teacher's immediate family.
 - b. Bereavement Days three (3) days per year.
 - c. Longevity based on one-half (1/2) of the amount listed in Article XV, Section 7, if they meet the criteria for years of experience.
 - d. Vacation Entitlement:

i. 0-10 years 10 days pay

ii. 11+ years 17 days pay

Payment under this entitlement will be paid during school vacation periods. An employee who is entitled to this benefit will designate the specific week(s) when he/she will receive the vacation pay. The employee will make such designation by November 1. If no such designation is made, a lump sum payment will be made to the employee.

- H. Present appointed employees in the above named categories working 12 hours or more per week will be given preference by seniority for additional scheduled program hours prior to seeking outside applicants.
- I. Appointed ABE teachers who work 20 hours or more a week shall be entitled to health insurance benefits, as well as pension benefits, to the extent these are available through the City of Pittsfield for its similarly situated employees.

Section 30. Certified ESL Teachers

- A. ESL certified teachers who work 12 hours or more a week will be paid in accordance with Section 19 of Article XV. They shall have layoff and recall rights consistent with Article VI, Sections 25 and 26, but only within their classification.
- B. The parties agree that Article VI, Sections 1 and 2 do not apply to part-time ESL certified teachers. Nor does Article VI Working Conditions, Sections 3-9; Article IX Leaves of Absence, Sections 1-6; Article XIV Fringe Benefits; and Article XV Compensation, Sections 4-17.
- C. Notwithstanding the above subsection B, part-time ESL certified teachers who work 12 hours or more are entitled to the following benefits effective August 25, 2008:
 - a. Sick Leave seven (7) sick days per year, accumulative up to 45 days. Up to two (2) of the seven (7) sick days per year may be used for illness in the teacher's immediate family.
 - b. Bereavement Days three (3) days per year.
 - c. Longevity based on one-half (1/2) of the amount listed in Article XV, Section 7, if they meet the criteria for years of experience.

d. Vacation Entitlement:

i. 0-10 years 10 days pay

ii. 11+ years 17 days pay

Payment under this entitlement will be paid during school vacation periods. An employee who is entitled to this benefit will designate the specific week(s) when he/she will receive the vacation pay. The employee will make such designation by November 1. If no such designation is made, a lump sum payment will be made to the employee.

- D. Present appointed employees in the above named categories working 12 hours or more per week will be given preference by seniority for additional scheduled program hours prior to seeking outside applicants.
- E. ESL Certified Teachers who work 20 hours or more a week shall be entitled to health insurance benefits, as well as pension benefits, to the extent these are available through the City of Pittsfield for its similarly situated employees.

Section 31: Teen Parent Program Instructors

Persons employed as instructors in the Teen Parent Program (TPP) shall enjoy the following benefits:

- A. Compensation for TPP Instructors in the 1999-2000 school year shall be as set forth in Article XV § 20 below.
- B. The benefits available to TPP Instructors shall be those available to Adult Basic Education part-time teachers as provided in § 29 above.
- C. Each TPP Instructor shall receive one (1) preparation period each week.
- D. Each TPP Instructor shall receive a 30-minute unpaid lunch within the working day.
- E. The ordinary work week for a TPP Instructor shall be the number of hours per week ordinarily worked by that tutor in the 1998-99 school year. Nevertheless, if grant-related funding for the TPP is reduced substantially or eliminated then the work week for the TPP may be shortened; but in case such grant-related funding is substantially reduced or

eliminated, the COMMITTEE shall consider making up said funding prior to effecting any reduction in the hours per week by TPP Instructors.

Section 32: Special Education Unit Leaders

- A. Unit Leaders may be appointed administratively to serve in the Special Education Department or its successor. A Unit Leader shall perform all the duties and satisfy all the expectations of a department head, as applicable, and shall be compensated based on supervisory duties on the same differential schedule as a department head.
- B. A Unit Leader may be assigned by the Superintendent of Schools or her/his designee to serve as in-put evaluator for paraprofessional personnel. A Unit Leader with such responsibilities shall be compensated according to the schedule in Article XV § 10.B.
- C. Each Unit Leader shall be relieved of direct instructional duties for the equivalent of one day per week (0.2 FTE) for the performance of her/his Unit Leader duties.

Section 33: Parent-Child Home Program Head Teacher

Effective with the start of the 2000-01 school year, the position of Head Teacher in the Parent-Child Home Program shall be a non-special education Unit Leader position, with compensation and duties as set forth in Article XV § 10.A and B.

Section 34: Academic Coaches

All academic coaches shall be properly trained and shall receive the contractual hourly rate for all training. All academic coaches shall receive the same individual preparation and/or team meeting time as other teachers at their particular grade level. Academic coaches shall not be made to attend any after school meetings beyond what is contractually allowed for all teachers. Any and all verbal and/or written interactions between the academic coaches and the teachers they work with shall remain confidential. In no circumstance shall any of the information collected by the academic coach be used in any teacher observation and/or evaluation. The curriculum coordinator will be the input evaluator for the academic coaches. All summative evaluations will be done by the primary evaluator, the building principal.

Section 35: Specialists

Specialists may be assigned outside their area of certification, as allowed by the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (i.e., currently up to 20%), during times when they are not already providing coverage for teacher preparation periods. In such circumstance, specialists will be provided with appropriate materials. In addition, specialists will be supervised during times when they are assigned outside their area of certification, but will not be evaluated on said assignment.

Section 36: Occupational and Physical Therapists

- A. The following provisions of Article XV of the Agreement shall apply to occupational and physical therapists: §§ 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 23, 24.
- B. Occupational and physical therapists will continue to create their own daily/weekly schedules. Said schedules must be submitted to the Special Education Director, and are subject to the prior approval of the Special Education Director.
- C. Occupational and physical therapists shall work at their assigned tasks for not less than the length of the teachers' workday as defined in Article VI(2)(A)(1-3) of the Agreement. Occupational and physical therapists may, on occasion, be required to work longer than the regular work day in order to complete the professional tasks required of them.
- D. The work year for occupational and physical therapists shall be the teachers' work year, as defined in Article VI, Section 1.A and D, and six (6) additional days, for a total of one hundred eighty-nine (189) days. The additional days shall be scheduled in coordination with the Director of Special Education or her/his designee, and shall be approved by said Director. In addition, the Director may require occupational and physical therapists to work one (1) to three (3) extra days to service pupils if the Director provides notice to the occupational and physical therapists no later than June 1st. The extra one (1) to three (3) days are also considered part of the normal work year. However, if notice is provided after June 1st, then the occupational and physical therapists will receive their per diem rate for any days worked beyond one hundred eighty-nine (189).

- E. Each occupational therapist and physical therapist shall receive 30-minutes of preparation time per day. The therapist shall use preparation time solely for the following purposes: completion of testing-related paperwork; completion of progress or therapy notes; treatment planning; completion of documentation related to Medicaid reimbursement; completion of documentation related to Individualized educational Plans or Section 504 plans; and organization and maintenance of therapeutic equipment. Said preparation time may be split into two (2) fifteen (15) minute blocks.
- F. The occupational and physical therapists shall be required to attend professional development on the days designated for such development during the approved school calendar. The development programs that the therapists attend shall be those that are relevant to their assignments and professional duties as occupational and physical therapists. If, because of their specific school base locations, or because of any other factor, an issue arises regarding what professional development activity one or more of the therapists should attend, then the therapist involved may bring the matter to the attention of the Director of Special Education, and the Director shall make the final determination of the appropriate professional development program for those therapists to attend.
- G. Occupational and Physical Therapists are generally not required to attend staff meetings, however, the Special Education Director may on occasion require their attendance at staff meetings. Occupational and Physical Therapists are required to attend unit meetings.
- H. Occupational and Physical Therapists shall receive a mileage reimbursement of \$50.00 per month, up to \$500.00 per contract year.
- I. Occupational and Physical Therapists shall, as part of their professional responsibilities, meet as needed with parents of students to whom they are providing assistance in order to discuss pertinent educational and service-related issues; but Occupational and Physical Therapists shall not be required to attend parent-teacher conferences that take place pursuant to Article VI, § 4 of the Agreement.

J. Until August 24, 2008, Occupational and Physical Therapists shall not be required to perform supervisory or other duties as may be required pursuant to Article VI, § 9 or other applicable provisions of the *Agreement*.

Section 37: School Nurses and School Nurse Leader

- A. The School Nurse Leader shall not routinely be required to substitute for School Nurses.
- B. Evaluations: The School Nurse Leader will be an input evaluator. The Building Principal and/or the Deputy Superintendent will be the primary evaluator, as appropriate. The School Nurse Leader will be evaluated by the Deputy Superintendent. School Nurses and the School Nurse Leader will be evaluated on the same schedule and frequency as provided for other Unit A employees. Until a successor evaluation is negotiated, School Nurses and the School Nurse Leader shall be evaluated based upon the evaluation previously utilized by the City.
- C. Staff and Unit Meetings: School Nurses are generally not required to attend staff meetings, however, the School Nurse Leader and/or Principal may on occasion require their attendance at staff meetings. School Nurses are required to attend unit meetings. Unit meetings will be once a month.
- D. First Aid and CPR: Classes will be provided as needed in order to maintain continuity in certification free and of no cost to School Nurses and School Nurse Leader.
- E. School Nurse Leader (SNL) coverage: When the SNL is out or not available, a staff school nurse covers for the SNL. The individual staff nurse volunteers for this responsibility and is appointed by the SNL based on rotation. A school nurse who covers for the SNL will receive \$42.04 per day effective August 25, 2015; \$42.67 effective August 25, 2016; and \$43.31 effective August 25, 2017.
- F. Duties: School Nurses and School Nurse Leader shall not be required to perform supervisory or other duties.
- G. Provision of a private and safe nurse office including but not limited to:
 - i. Running Water: Hot & Cold
 - ii. Private Phone/FAX

- iii. Access to a copier within the building
- iv. Ventilation
- v. Bathroom for patients
- vi. Walkie Talkie
- vii. Appropriate Lighting

H. Provision of:

- i. First Aid Supplies
- ii. Assessment tools/instruments
- iii. Functional/lockable office furniture and supplies
- iv. One (1) lab coat shall be provided to each School Nurse and School Nurse Leader at the start of school annually
- I. The work year of school nurses shall be one hundred eighty-seven (187) days. The four (4) extra days beyond the one hundred eighty-three (183) day teacher work year shall be scheduled within five (5) business days before or after the teacher work year by the Superintendent or designee in consultation with the School Nurse Leader.
- J. The provisions of Article XV Compensation, Section 1 shall apply to School Nurses and the School Nurse Leader.
- K. Nurses holding a Bachelor's Degree may accumulate credit in blocks of 6-12-18-24-30 credits before the MSN/D.E.S.E. Approved National Certification for a Nurse at the rate of \$30 per credit for successful completion of prior approved courses.
- L. Nurses holding a MSN/D.E.S.E. Approved National Certification for a Nurse may accumulate credit for successful completion of prior approved courses taken after earning a MSN/D.E.S.E. Approved National Certification for a Nurse and before earning a Doctor's Degree in the following amount:
 - i. Nurses holding a MSN/D.E.S.E. Approved National Certification for a Nurse may accumulate credit for successful completion of prior approved courses taken after earning a M.S.N./D.E.S.E. Approved National Certification for a Nurse and before earning a Doctor's Degree in the following amount: Forty-eight (48) semester hours at thirty-five dollars (\$35) per credit hour.

- ii. Nurses who accumulate 60 credits beyond a M.S.N./D.E.S.E. Approved National Certification for a Nurse will be paid at a level equal to \$3,000 greater than the MSN/D.E.S.E. Approved National Certification for a Nurse column. Courses taken after 60 credits beyond a M.S.N./D.E.S.E. Approved National Certification for a Nurse will be reimbursed at \$50/credit.
- iii. Nurses will receive \$50 for each credit earned after receipt of her/his doctorate if the credit hour was approved in the same manner as other credit hour compensation.
- M. If a School Nurse or School Nurse Leader obtains more than one (1) D.E.S.E. Approved National Certification for a Nurse, the Committee will make a lump sum payment to said School Nurse or School Nurse Leader in the amount of \$1,000 per additional D.E.S.E. Approved National Certification for a Nurse in the school year during which the additional Certification(s) was obtained. In addition, the School Nurse or School Nurse Leader will receive a lump sum payment in the amount of \$1,000 every five (5) years if said School Nurse or School Nurse Leader maintains the Certification(s). For example, a School Nurse who has National Certification as School Nurse and then obtains an additional National Certification as a Community Health Nurse would receive a lump sum payment of \$1,000 in the year the additional certification was obtained. Then, if the School Nurse was still Nationally Certified as both a School Nurse and a Community Health Nurse five (5) years later, the School Nurse would receive another lump sum payment of \$1,000. There would be no lump sum payments between said time periods.
- N. In determining seniority for any purpose under this contract, except as specifically noted below, school nurses and the school nurse leader shall have their seniority calculated in accordance with Article VI, Section 25 (i.e., "length of service in Unit A of the Pittsfield Public Schools").
- O. For the purpose of early retirement (Article XV, Section 4) and severance pay (Article XV, Section 5) only, continuous service as a School Nurse or School Nurse Leader for the City shall be included in determining seniority. However, the total amount of service

necessary to receive said benefits will be in accordance with the Unit A contract (see Article XV(4) and XV(5)). In regard to early retirement, if a School Nurse and/or School Nurse Leader meets the requirements of Article XV(4), said School Nurse and/or School Nurse Leader shall be entitled to a \$1,000 payment. The School Nurses and School Nurse Leader are not eligible for the \$5,000 payment listed in Article XV(4).

P. For the purpose of a reduction in force, continuous service as a School Nurse or School Nurse Leader with the City of Pittsfield shall be included in determining seniority in regard to any School Nurse and/or School Nurse Leader who has achieved professional teacher status. If a School Nurse and/or School Nurse Leader has not achieved professional teacher status, City service shall not count toward seniority. Service with the City does not count toward professional teacher status.

Q. Longevity:

- i. Any School Nurse who has been employed as a Nurse by the City of Pittsfield and/or the Pittsfield Public Schools for at least fifteen (15) years shall be entitled to a \$1,000.00 longevity amount which shall be added to the Nurse's regular salary. This provision only applies to School Nurses who were employed by the City and/or the Pittsfield Public Schools on January 1, 2008.
- ii. Any Nurse hired on January 2, 2008 or later and the School Nurse Leader shall be eligible for longevity in accordance with Article XV(7). City service does not count toward this longevity benefit.
- R. Any accumulated and unused sick days acquired while an employee of the City of Pittsfield shall be converted to accumulated sick days under the Unit A contract. For purposes of conversion, the amount of sick leave shall be calculated to the nearest half day (i.e., if an employee accumulated 6 days and 1 hour of sick time on the City side, it would be converted to 6 days on the school side) and one (1) day shall equal seven (7) hours.
- S. Each School Nurse shall receive thirty (30) minutes of preparation time per day. Nurses shall use preparation time for the purpose of completion of necessary paperwork, completion of documentation related to Medicaid reimbursements, organization and

maintenance of medications and equipment, and other professionally related matters. Said preparation time may be split into two (2) fifteen (15) minute blocks. The scheduling of the preparation periods will be coordinated with the building administrator. If the nurse and building administrator cannot agree upon the schedule, the building administrator shall make the final determination. During the preparation periods, nurses shall remain on-call for urgent needs requiring immediate attention. Nurses must either remain in their office or be immediately available by walkie-talkie during the preparation periods. If an urgent matter occurs during the nurse's preparation period, the preparation period will not be extended or rescheduled to a later time.

- U. The following Article does not apply to the School Nurses and the School Nurse Leader: Article XV, Section 8 (School Nurses and School Nurse Leader have a separate pay scale/system).

Section 38. Electronic Grading

Teachers will post student grades electronically no later than ten (10) school days after the due date for the assignment or date of the quiz, test, or examination, or by the due dates of progress reports or report cards, whichever is earlier. It is understood that long-term, major projects and presentations may not be posted on-line within ten (10) school days, but will be posted by the dates of progress reports or report cards if they are to be counted in the final average. In the event the electronic grading system of the Pittsfield Public Schools is inoperable, the timelines referenced herein shall be extended by the amount of time the system was inoperable. After investigation, exceptions to the ten (10) school day requirement may be made at the sole discretion of the principal. A letter of expectation will be issued for a first offense.

Section 39. Professional Dress

Teachers shall dress in a professional manner for the type of position to which they are assigned.

ARTICLE VII

PROMOTIONS, VACANCIES, TRANSFERS

Section 1. Promotions

- A. If a vacancy occurs in a new or existing Unit A position that carries a pay differential, it shall be filled by the Superintendent of Schools with the understanding that any end result vacancy from internal reassignments, however characterized, is subject to the recall list.
- B. Notice of such vacancy shall be sent to each school for posting and a copy sent to the President of the UEP. Such posting will include title of the position, qualifications, school, salary, grade and/or subject area assignment and time and date when applications are due.
- C. Position descriptions for each vacancy shall be made available on request.
- D. Such vacancy shall be advertised for a minimum of thirty (30) days, except in cases of emergency.

For purposes of this article, a position shall be considered vacant only if:

- 1. The position that is empty has heretofore been filled by a regularly appointed teacher;
- 2. The Superintendent of schools intends to fill the empty position for at least one complete (September June) school year; and
- 3. The position is empty due either to
 - a. The resignation, retirement, or death of the teacher who held the position,
 - An administrative grant of a leave of absence for any contractually recognized reason to the teacher who held the position, when said leave will last for at least one complete (September June) school year, or

- c. A leave of absence for illness that is being taken by the teacher who held the position, when it is known in advance that said leave will last for at least one complete (September June) school year.
- F. When, due to a teacher's absence or illness, a position is known or reasonably expected to be empty for less than one complete (September June) school year, that position shall not be considered vacant.

Section 2. Vacancies

Whenever a vacancy occurs after the opening of school but prior to February I, qualified teachers from the recall list will be used to fill the vacancy. If the recall list does not contain a qualified teacher, the position will be posted. In determining how such a position will be filled the following September, the Superintendent shall examine transfer requests.

Section 3. Transfers

Requests by teachers for transfers for the beginning of the school year shall be made in the following manner:

- A. Requests for transfers shall be submitted by teachers in writing to the Personnel Office by April 15, indicating subject, grade or school to which the teacher seeks assignment. Such requests will remain valid for two (2) years. Administration will provide teachers written notification of receipt of the transfer requests no later than May 1. Administration shall provide teachers with written notification no later than August 1 if the teacher's transfer request has not been granted.
- B. A list of transfer requests shall be maintained by the school system showing the date of the original request. Such lists shall be made available to the UEP.
- C. No new appointments may be made until pending transfer requests for existing openings have been considered.
- D. As used in this section, "consideration" of a transfer request shall mean the following:
 - 1. Except on the conditions otherwise set forth in this subsection, each appropriately certified individual who is a Teacher with Professional Status in

- the Pittsfield Public Schools and who has requested a transfer to a position that will be vacant in the next school year, shall be interviewed by the building principal or other pertinent administrator; and
- 2. No principal or other administrator shall be required to interview more than five (5) such teachers in order to comply with the requirements of this subsection, although nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit a principal or other pertinent administrator from interviewing as many internal candidates for a vacancy as she/he deems necessary. The identity of the teachers who must be interviewed under this subsection shall be determined on the basis of seniority as defined in Article VI § 25.A., above.
- E. A teacher who seeks a transfer will receive written notice of the resolution of her/his transfer request.

Section 4. Involuntary Transfers

- A. Teachers may be involuntarily transferred by the COMMITTEE or the Superintendent of Schools to a comparable position.
- B. Such a transfer will be made only after a meeting between the teacher and the Superintendent (or his designee), at which time the teacher will be notified of the reasons for the transfer.
- C. In the event that a teacher objects to the transfer at this meeting, upon the written request of the teacher, the UEP will be notified and the Superintendent (or his designee) will meet with the UEP's representatives to discuss the transfer, provided however, that transfer will be subject to the grievance procedure but the decision of the COMMITTEE will be final.

Section 5. Summer School and Evening School Vacancies

A. All openings for summer school and evening school positions and for positions under Federal programs will be adequately publicized by the Superintendent in each school building as early as possible and teachers who have applied for such positions will be notified of the action taken regarding their application as early as possible.

B. Copies of postings made during the summer for these positions will be sent to the President of the UEP.

ARTICLE VIII

UEP RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

None of the rights provided by this Article will apply if the UEP or teachers are involved in actions prohibited by Article IV (No Strike) of this Agreement.

Section 1. Administrative Notices, Bulletins, Postings, Directives

Two (2) copies of any posting, bulletin, notice, or directive from the Superintendent's office or other administrative office which affects the terms and conditions of employment of teachers system-wide or in any particular work location shall be supplied to the UEP President simultaneously.

Section 2. Agendas - Minutes

- A. A copy of the agenda for all COMMITTEE meetings shall be sent to the President of the UEP at the same time as copies are sent to the Committee members.
- B. A copy of the official minutes of all COMMITTEE meetings shall be sent to the President of the UEP when such minutes have been typed and entered into the official records of the SCHOOL COMMITTEE. Documents relating to all issues considered at COMMITTEE meetings shall be kept on file and made available for inspection upon request.
- C. The President of the UEP may request that an item be placed on the agenda of any regular COMMITTEE meetings provided that the COMMITTEE is given one (l) week's notice in writing and all material relating to the item in the possession of the UEP is submitted with the request. A UEP representative may speak to any agenda item as long as such request is made to the Chairman of the SCHOOL COMMITTEE prior to the official convening of the meeting.

Section 3. UEP Meetings

- A. Use of school buildings by the UEP for general membership meetings shall be subject to the rules, regulations and fees placed on the use of school buildings by the Superintendent of Public Buildings. Such rules, regulations and fees shall not be applied discriminatorily.
- B. The UEP may call meetings of members of the collective bargaining unit assigned to a particular school building under the following conditions. Prior approval for the meeting shall be obtained from the principal of the building. Such approval shall not be withheld except if the principal has previously scheduled a school activity requiring teacher attendance consistent with other terms of this Agreement. The meeting will be scheduled before or after regular school hours, and no meeting will last beyond 6:00 P.M.
- C. The UEP building representative may request that the principal of the building grant the UEP ten (10) minutes on the agenda at each Faculty Meeting. The ten (10) minutes so allotted shall be scheduled last on the agenda and follow all other agenda items. Attendance during the ten (10) minutes granted to the UEP shall be limited to members of the bargaining unit.
- D. There shall be a building representative designated by the UEP in each school building and he/she shall be a member of the Faculty Advisory Council.
- E. The Faculty Advisory Council shall be elected by members of the bargaining unit in each building and shall be a representative cross-section of the faculty. The Council will not discuss items which are properly the subject of negotiations or process grievances, but will discuss all other matters of mutual concern. The Council will meet on a regular basis with the principal of the building and an agenda will be provided at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the meeting. Council members may submit items for inclusion on the agenda.
- F. The size, composition, and the manner of election of the Faculty Advisory Council will be determined by vote of the faculty after first seeking a resolution of these issues with the principal at the first faculty meeting of each school year.

G. Representatives of the UEP who have been identified and certified by the UEP to the Assistant Superintendent for Personnel and Negotiations may meet with individual teachers or small groups of teachers in the schools, under the following conditions. Such Representatives shall identify themselves in the office of the principal before contacting teachers. The Representatives may consult with teachers at any time in Teachers' Rooms or Teachers' Lounges provided that such consultations do not distract or disrupt the educational programs in the schools or interfere with the teachers' responsibilities.

Section 4. UEP - Superintendent Meetings

The Superintendent shall meet with representatives of the UEP on a regular basis. The Superintendent and/or the UEP will submit an agenda for such meetings and the meetings shall take place at mutually agreeable times but not later than two (2) weeks after submission of an agenda, unless the Superintendent rejects, in writing to the UEP President, an agenda item or items.

Section 5. Availability of Agreement

- A. The COMMITTEE and the UEP shall have 800 copies of this AGREEMENT printed. The cost of the printing shall be shared equally by the parties. The UEP shall be provided with 600 copies and shall make a copy available to each member of the bargaining unit. The COMMITTEE will give a copy of this AGREEMENT to each newly hired teacher at the date of hiring. The COMMITTEE shall maintain copies of this AGREEMENT at each school and administrative office for inspection by members of the bargaining unit.
- B. The AGREEMENT may be printed in the Vocational Division of the Pittsfield Public Schools and spirit duplications or photocopies may be produced. Printing of this AGREEMENT outside of the schools must be done in a union shop.

Section 6. Bulletin Boards

One (l) bulletin board in each school building shall be provided by the COMMITTEE for the exclusive use of the UEP for the purpose of posting UEP or UEP - sponsored material. All such postings shall be signed by the UEP and copies of all such material shall be supplied to the

building principal. The right to posting of organizational material shall not be extended to any other teacher organization.

Section 7. Access to Employee Mailboxes

- A. The President of the UEP or his designated representative shall have the exclusive right to send organizational material to one (l) UEP representative in each school building through the central distribution system of the Pittsfield Public Schools.
- B. One (l) person in each school building shall be designated by the UEP and identified to the principal of the building as the UEP representative for placing organizational material in the mailboxes of members of the bargaining unit. This right shall not be extended to any other teacher organization.

Section 8. Negotiations on School Time

- A. Negotiations shall ordinarily be conducted at times which do not disrupt the educational programs in the schools or interfere with the teachers' responsibilities.
- B. If negotiations are conducted during the school day by mutual agreement of the parties, then release time shall be provided to all parties of interest without loss of pay or benefits.

Section 9. School Directory

- A. The COMMITTEE shall provide the UEP with twenty-five (25) copies of the School Directory when the Directory is distributed to the schools.
- B. The COMMITTEE shall provide the UEP with the name, address and work location of each newly hired teacher when such teacher is hired. Telephone numbers shall be provided unless the teacher indicates otherwise.

Section 10. Information Available to UEP

In addition to any information provided in other Articles or Sections of this Agreement, upon request, the COMMITTEE shall provide the UEP with all information, records, statistics, or other material in the possession of the COMMITTEE which is available to the Public upon request, and which is necessary to facilitate negotiations or the administration of this Agreement.

Section 11. Dues Deduction

- A. The COMMITTEE agrees to deduct dues from the salaries of teachers for the United Educators of Pittsfield, Massachusetts Teachers Association, and the National Education Association (herein referred to as the UEP) as said teachers individually and voluntarily authorize the COMMITTEE to deduct and transmit the monies promptly to the secretary-treasurer of the UEP. Teacher authorizations will be submitted to the COMMITTEE on forms developed for this purpose by the UEP and approved by the COMMITTEE.
- B. Teachers who wish to discontinue such deductions will give the COMMITTEE and the UEP sixty (60) days advance written notice.
- C. The UEP will give the COMMITTEE sixty (60) days written notice of any change in the rate of its membership dues.
- D. The COMMITTEE will be given two (2) week's written notice prior to the distribution of the payroll of any authorizations for deductions commencing on that payroll.
- E. The UEP agrees to and does hereby indemnify, defend and hold harmless the COMMITTEE and the City of Pittsfield, and their members, agents and representatives from and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, suits, or any other form of action brought by members of the collective bargaining unit arising from or relating to any action taken by them in good faith in making or transmitting such deductions in accordance with the UEP'S written instructions, provided that the COMMITTEE has given the UEP timely notice of any such claims, demands, liabilities, or suits, and that the UEP has had an opportunity to intervene in and defend any such actions.

Section 12. Other Deductions

The Committee shall provide that, whenever duly authorized by any member of the bargaining unit on a form or forms approved by the Committee, payroll deductions on behalf of such teacher shall be made every pay day and transmitted in accordance with such form or forms for any of the following purposes:

1. Premiums under group income protection and allowed to purchase life insurance up to ten thousand dollars (\$10,000).

- 2. Premiums under City of Pittsfield Employees Group Insurance Program.
- 3. Payments to the Greylock Federal Credit Union and Credit Union of the Berkshires. (Deductions for US bonds are generally permitted through the Credit Union, but not through the payroll deductions.)
- 4. Deductions for Voice of Teachers for Education.
- 5. Premiums under tax-sheltered annuity.
- 6. Direct Deposit of paycheck.
- 7. Deductions for United Way.
- 8. Premiums maintained under Employers Flexible Spending Account through Paychex of the type authorized by Chapter 697, section 132 of the Acts of 1987, for the purpose of enabling teachers to pay their share of the premiums for their health insurance with pre-tax earnings.
- 9. Payroll Deduction Record Teachers will be provided with a payroll record of payroll deductions.
- 10. Teachers pay stubs will identify, by source, any additional incidental compensation being paid along with a teacher's regular pay.
- 11. Agency Fee deductions.
- 12. Any other deductions within the capabilities of the city's payroll system.

Section 13. Agency Fee

- A. The Committee will respect the position of the United Educators of Pittsfield/MTA/NEA (UEP) as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent of all employees in Unit A on matters of wages, hours, conditions of employment for the life of this Agreement. The parties therefore agree that:
 - 1. Effective thirty (30) days after the commencement of the 1997-1998 school year or the commencement of employment, whichever comes later, each employee, in accordance with the G.L.C. 150 E, §12, shall be required to pay the service fee to the UEP as a condition of his /her employment in the district.
 - 2. Any employee who fails to pay the agency fee in lieu of dues to the exclusive bargaining agent will be subject to legal action by the UEP for collection of said

- fee. Any cost of collecting said fees will be added to the individual's total service fee due. The UEP will be solely responsible for enforcing the provisions of this Section. The Committee will not be responsible to enforce any provision of the Section.
- 3. The UEP will indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Committee against any and all claims, actions, or lawsuits of any kind or description, whether at law or inequity, and whether based on statute, constitution or common law, made or instituted against the Committee or its agents, employees or administrators, resulting from this Section. Specifically, the UEP will have no right of action by way of contribution, counterclaim, or other basis against the Committee. Should any administrative agency or court of competent jurisdiction find the Committee liable for any damages as a result of this Section, the UEP will pay any and all of those damages, including interest and charges.
- 4. If any court or competent jurisdiction determines that any part of this Section 1, 2, or 3, is unconstitutional, in violation of statute, or otherwise unenforceable, all of the other parts of this 1, 2, and 3, will be null and void.
- 5. The service fee shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions of the M.G.L. c. 150E, § 12, and applicable state and federal constitutional law. Payment of said fee will not entitle the fee payer to be a member in good standing with the UEP.

Section 14. Joint Labor Management Committee

The parties agree to establish a standing Joint Labor Management Committee (JLMC) for the purpose of enhancing the collaborative relationship and cooperatively addressing issues as they arise. Meetings will be conducted on a monthly basis and/or as needed. The JLMC will not discuss items which are properly the subject of negotiations or process grievances. The JLMC shall consist of up to five (5) members of the UEP's choosing and up to five (5) members chosen

by the Superintendent. The committee shall be jointly chaired. Either party can have up to two (2) agenda items at any one time.

The JLMC is an advisory committee only and may not modify terms and conditions of the collective bargaining agreement and/or past practice without agreement of the School Committee and the Association.

ARTICLE IX

LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Section 1. Sick Leave

- A. A teacher will be entitled to fifteen (15) sick leave days with full pay each school year for personal illness or injury, whether or not he/she reports for duty on the first day of school. In case of merit, the School Committee may allow additional days at its discretion. A teacher may use up to fifteen (15) sick leave days (i.e., the teacher's annual sick leave amount) per year for illness in their immediate family. Immediate family includes parents, spouse, children, mother-in-law, father-in-law, siblings, and someone living in the immediate household.
- B. Administration may require a note from a medical provider if a teacher is out sick on more than three (3) consecutive work days, a pattern of sick leave usage exists, and/or in the event sick leave abuse is suspected.
- C. In the event that more than nine (9) undocumented (i.e., without a physician note and/or FMLA certification) sick leave days are used in a given school year, then the teacher shall not receive step movement in the following school year. Administration shall provide a written reminder notice to teachers who have used seven (7) undocumented sick leave days that if they use more than nine (9) undocumented days, then the teacher will not receive step movement in the following school year. If in the subsequent school year the teacher uses nine (9) or fewer undocumented days, then the teacher would move to the step that the teacher would have achieved the prior school year.

Section 2. - Sick Leave Bank

- A. The purpose of the Sick Leave Bank is to provide additional sick leave time to teachers who have exhausted their personal sick leave as a result of a prolonged and/or catastrophic event due to a serious illness and/or injury. Applications must meet the above definition/standard.
- B. All teachers shall belong to the Sick Leave Bank ("Bank"), and shall, upon being employed by the Pittsfield Public Schools, contribute one (1) sick leave day to the Bank.
- C. At any time that the total number of days in the Bank is reduced to one hundred (100), each member of the bank shall contribute one (1) additional day.
- D. In order to access the Sick Leave Bank, a teacher must submit a written request to the Sick Leave Bank Committee. Said request must include a completed Family and Medical Leave Act form.
- E. A teacher shall suffer a five (5) day loss of pay after exhaustion of his/her sick leave before being able to withdraw time from the Bank.
- F. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall consist of four (4) members as follows: the UEP President or his/her designee, a UEP appointee chosen by the UEP President, the Superintendent or his/her designee, and a central office appointee chosen by the Superintendent.
- G. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall review the teacher's submission and the applicant's prior leave usage. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall make a determination regarding whether to grant or deny the request within three (3) school days of the receipt of the request. A majority vote of the Sick Leave Bank is necessary to grant a request.
- H. In the event the Sick Leave Bank Committee denies a request, the applicant may request reconsideration of said determination in writing within ten (10) school days of receipt of the denial. The applicant may attend the appeal meeting, and present additional

- information. A majority vote of the Sick Leave Bank Committee is necessary to reverse its prior determination.
- I. The Sick Leave Bank Committee, by majority vote, can decide to allow an applicant, upon his/her return to work from a leave allowed by the Sick Leave Bank Committee, to borrow up to ten (10) sick days against the annual sick leave amount to be credited to the teacher in the following year. This benefit can only be accessed one time during any given contract year. Any sick days that are not used by the end of the year shall be returned to the Sick Leave Bank. Any advanced sick days that are used shall be deducted from the applicant's following year annual allotment.
- J. Any determinations of the Sick Leave Bank Committee pursuant to sections G and H above shall be final and binding, and are not subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement.
- K. No teacher may use more than one hundred sixty (160) days from the Bank for each illness. Whether an illness is the same illness for purposes of this subsection shall be determined by satisfactory medical evidence.

Section 3. Personal Days

- A. Except as set forth in subsection B, below, absence without loss of pay, not to exceed two (2) days in any school year, shall be granted to any teacher by the Superintendent of Schools or her/his designee for personal reasons, with no requirement that a reason be provided for using a personal leave day.
- B. Personal leave may not be taken on any workday immediately before or immediately after a school holiday or vacation. An absence for personal reasons on any such workday, except when taken with leave granted pursuant to Article IX § 16.B, below, shall be subject to a deduction of one day's pay, as determined according to Article XV § 3, and shall not ordinarily be subject to disciplinary action.
- C. The principal or designee may grant a teacher's request for time off not to exceed three

 (3) hours due to an emergency or other approved reason, which will not be charged to

personal leave. The principal or designee's decision shall be made on a caseby-case basis. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Section 4. Professional Leave

Teachers may request and will be entitled to at least two (2) professional days for the purpose of visiting other schools or attending meetings or conferences of an educational nature. The granting of these days will be subject to the approval of the Superintendent and their scheduling will be done by the teacher's principal or counterpart supervisor.

Section 5. Religious Observance

Each teacher will receive up to three (3) days leave without loss of pay or benefits for required observance of recognized religious rites when such observance is not possible outside the school day.

Section 6. Bereavement Leave

- A. In the event of a death of a member of the immediate family, teachers will be entitled to five (5) consecutive work days, such days to begin with either the day of death or the day of the funeral at the teacher's discretion. Immediate family includes parents, spouse, life partner/companion, children, mother-in-law, father-in-law, siblings, and a person for whom the teacher has had the responsibility for making funeral arrangements. Up to two (2) of these five (5) work days can be taken at a later date in the case of a delayed internment.
- B. Teachers shall be entitled to four (4) consecutive work days to take effect from the day of death or the day of the funeral at the teacher's discretion of a grandparent, grandchild, brother and sister in-law or someone living in the immediate household. Up to two (2) of these four (4) work days can be taken at a later date in the case of a delayed internment.
- C. In the case of the death of a relative of the second degree, the teacher shall be entitled without loss of pay to the day or part thereof necessary to attend the funeral. Relatives of the second degree include uncles, aunts, nephews, nieces, cousins and in-laws, other than mentioned above.

Section 7. Court Appearance

- A. A teacher who has been subpoenaed to appear in court on a day he/she otherwise would have worked will be granted compensation by the COMMITTEE in an amount which, when added to the compensation received for such court appearance, will equal his regular prorated salary provided, however, the subpoena arises out of lawful and proper actions taken by the teacher in the course of his employment and provided the COMMITTEE and the UEP (and/or any school employee) are not adversarial parties in the court proceeding. Where the COMMITTEE initiates a suit against a teacher and/or the UEP and the teacher and/or the UEP prevails, the COMMITTEE will reimburse the teacher or teachers who have to testify in the proceeding for time missed from their employment at an amount which, when added to the compensation received for such court appearance will equal their regular prorated salary. Such compensation will also be provided when a teacher, during the course of his duties, witnesses an event which subsequently becomes the subject of criminal court proceedings in which he/she is subpoenaed to testify.
- B. Time necessary for appearances in any legal proceeding connected with teacher's employment or the school system, and requested by the COMMITTEE and/or its agents, shall be granted without loss of pay of benefits.

Section 8. Organized Reserve Forces Leave

A teacher who, as a member of the Armed Forces Reserve, is ordered to report for his annual tour of duty during the school year, shall be granted up to seventeen (17) days of leave. Compensation will be granted to the teacher by the COMMITTEE in an amount which, added to the compensation received for such tour of duty, will equal his regular salary. Appropriate documentation shall be provided by the teacher upon request from Human Resources.

Section 9. Leave for UEP Conventions and Conferences

Leaves of absence without loss of pay to attend conventions of the United Educators of Pittsfield, MTA/NEA (UEP) shall be granted to UEP representatives to such conventions; provided, however, that the total amount of time taken by all such representatives will not exceed twenty (20) days per school year.

Section 10. Maternity Leave

- A. A female teacher who has been employed by the COMMITTEE for at least three consecutive months as a full-time teacher, who is absent from such employment for a period not exceeding eight (8) weeks for the purpose of giving birth or for adopting a child under the age of eighteen or for adopting a child under the age of twenty-three (23), if the child is mentally or physically disabled, said period to be hereinafter called maternity leave, and who shall give at least two (2) weeks' written notice to her Employer of her anticipated date of departure and intention to return, shall be restored to her previous, or a similar, position with the same status, pay, length of service credit and seniority, whenever applicable, as of the date of her leave. Such leave shall be unpaid to the extent the teacher's sick leave does not cover the balance.
- B. The COMMITTEE shall not be required to restore a teacher on maternity leave to her previous or a similar position if other teachers of equal length of service credit and status in the same or similar position have been laid off due to economic conditions or other changes in operation conditions affecting employment during the period of such maternity leave; provided, however, that such teacher on maternity leave shall retain any preferential consideration for another position to which she may be entitled as of the date of her leave.
- C. Such maternity leave shall not affect the teacher's right to receive vacation time, sick leave, bonuses, advancement, seniority, length of service credit, benefits, plans or programs for which she was eligible at the date of her leave, and any other advantages or rights of her employment incident to her employment position; provided, however, that such maternity leave shall not be included, when applicable, in the computation of such benefits, rights, and advantages; and provided, further, that the Employer need not provide for the cost of any benefits, plans, or programs during the period of maternity leave unless such Employer so provides for all employees on leave of absence.
- D. No provision of this section shall be deemed to be in conflict with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 or any other applicable Federal or State law.

E. Males and females are eligible for unpaid adoption leave in accordance with the above requirements.

Section 11. Peace Corps

Consistent with the provision of M.G.L. c. 71 § 41B, the Superintendent of Schools shall grant to a teacher who is currently in good standing and who has been accepted to serve in the Peace Corps of the United States, a leave of absence for the term of such service. Such leave shall be without pay and shall not be counted as creditable service for retirement purposes, and shall count as an unpaid leave of absence for purposes of this Agreement; but a teacher who receives such leave shall be restored to her/his previous or a similar position, with the same status, pay, length of service credit and seniority, where applicable, as she/he held on the date of such leave of absence.

Section 12. Military Leave

- A. Military leaves will be granted on request to any teacher upon induction, enlistment or recall into active service of any branch of the Armed Services of the United States. Such leave shall be without pay and shall remain in effect for the period of service not to exceed five (5) years. Upon return from such leave, teachers shall be returned to their former positions or to a comparable position provided they notify the School System within ninety (90) days prior to discharge from the service. Appropriate documentation shall be provided by the teacher upon request from Human Resources.
- B. Teachers not able to perform the duties of their former positions due to a disability sustained during military service but qualified to perform other duties in the school system consistent with their certification, shall be transferred to the other position at no loss in seniority, status, or pay.
- C. Teachers on military leave because they were drafted or recalled into active service shall continue to accrue all seniority and advancement upon the salary schedule. It is understood that the school year(s) in which a military leave of absence is granted shall not be deemed to count toward professional teacher status.
- D. This provision shall be renegotiated if the President of the United States shall declare a national emergency.

Section 13. Parenting Leave

- A. A Teacher With Professional Status who wishes to obtain an unpaid leave of absence to care for a newborn child or newly adopted infant shall submit a written notice to the COMMITTEE at least forty-five (45) days in advance of the anticipated date of birth or adoption.
- B. Such leave shall be taken without pay, benefit accrual or co-payment of insurance. Parenting Leaves shall extend for the remainder of the school year in which the request is made; except that a teacher absent on parenting leave may, with approval of the Superintendent or her/his designee, return to work before the end of the school year in which the leave is taken. Written notice of intent to return in September must normally be given prior to May 1, but in no event later than May 31, of such calendar year.
- C. If a teacher fails to return to work by the second September, following the start of the Parenting Leave, his employment will be terminated.
- D. No provision of this section shall be deemed to be in conflict with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 or any other applicable Federal or State law.

Section 14. Leave for Public Office

The COMMITTEE shall grant leaves of absence without pay to any teacher with professional status to serve for one (1) term of a full-time public office. The COMMITTEE may extend such leaves at its discretion.

Section 15. Leaves for UEP Service

Employees who are elected or appointed to full-time positions with the UEP or any organization with which it is affiliated will, upon proper application, be granted up to two (2) years leave of absence for the purpose of accepting positions. Any further extension of such leave will not be given. Employees granted such leaves of absence shall retain all benefits as though they were in regular service. Upon return from such leaves of absence, employees shall be placed on the proper step of the salary schedule and shall be returned to their former positions.

Section 16. Other Leaves of Absence

- A. Extended leaves of absence may be granted for serious family or personal illness, professional improvement, and for other reasons at the discretion of the Superintendent or his/her designee.
- B. Whenever an Act of God or other calamity occurs for a teacher for whom personal leave time is unavailable pursuant to Article IX § 3.A and 3.B, above, said teacher may request paid "Act of God" leave from the Superintendent of Schools or her/his designee. Such leave shall count as use of personal time for purposes of determining the amount of personal leave time the teacher has for use in that school year, and also for purposes of computing that teacher's entitlement to and amount of severance pay. Act of God leave shall not be available to a teacher in excess of two (2) days in a school year. The Superintendent or her/his designee may request documentation or other evidence sufficient to establish the need for Act of God leave by any teacher requesting it. The decision to grant Act of God leave shall be solely the Superintendent's or her/his designee's and shall not be subject to the grievance procedures of the *Agreement*.

Section 17. Jury Duty

- A. Teachers summoned to jury duty shall serve without loss of pay or benefits. The teacher shall provide the building principal with a copy of the summons to serve on a jury as soon as possible after its receipt.
- B. The teacher shall notify his or her principal as soon as possible if he or she is not required to report for jury duty on any given day, and he or she will report to work that day.
- C. If a teacher is released early from jury duty, he or she shall notify his or her principal as soon as possible and, if so directed, shall promptly report to work for the balance of the workday.
- D. Teachers must turn in documentation of the days served on jury duty along with their jury duty pay to the Payroll Office.

Section 18. Maintenance of Rights and Benefits

All fringe benefits to which a teacher was entitled at the time his leave of absence commenced, including unused accumulated sick leave, will be restored to him/her upon return, and he/she will be assigned to the same or a substantially equivalent position. It is understood that return from any leave provided for in this Article is subject to the layoff and recall provisions of this Agreement.

Section 19. Child-rearing and Adoption Leave

Employees may take unpaid leave for child-rearing and/or adoption leave in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act and M.G.L. c. 149, §105D. In the event of child-rearing leave and/or adoption leave, a non-birth parent and/or a teacher adopting a child may choose to use up to ten (10) sick leave days and two (2) personal leave days for purpose of the leave.

ARTICLE X

TEACHER PROTECTION

Section 1. Personal Injury Benefits

- A. Whenever a teacher is absent from school as a result of personal injury caused by an accident or assault occurring in the course of his employment, he/she may use the accumulated sick leave he/she has to his credit. A teacher may take such of this accumulated sick leave as, when added to the amount of any workers compensation disability allowance actually received, will result in the payment to him/her of his full salary.
- B. It is the intention of the parties to incorporate Chapter 152 of the General Laws Workers' Compensation, into the collective bargaining agreement. However, disputes and issues falling under the scope of Chapter 152 shall not be arbitrable.

Section 2. Reimbursement for Teachers

Teachers will be reimbursed for:

- A. Any clothing or other personal property normally carried by the person, such as handbags, umbrellas, etc., damaged or destroyed in the course of his employment through no fault of his own, up to a maximum of five-hundred dollars (\$500), upon satisfactory proof of damages; and
- B. The cost of medical, surgical, or hospital services (less the amount of any insurance reimbursement or legal restitution for such services) incurred as the result of any injury sustained in the course of his employment.

Section 3. Protection

- A. Teachers will immediately report all cases of assault and/or battery suffered by them in connection with their employment to the Superintendent of Schools or her/his designee, in writing.
- B. This report will be forwarded to the COMMITTEE which will comply with any reasonable request from the teacher for information in its possession relating to the incident or the persons involved, and will act in appropriate ways as liaison between the teacher, the police, and the courts.
- C. All teachers shall be notified that, if court action might ensue from their actions in the performance of duty, legal counsel will be provided by the City Solicitor or another attorney selected by the COMMITTEE.

ARTICLE XI

DISCIPLINE AND STUDENT TRANSFERS

Section 1. Discipline

- A. The parties recognize that the COMMITTEE has the responsibility for the development of a disciplinary code as defined in M.G.L., c.71, § 37 H and 37 H 1/2.
- B. The COMMITTEE agrees to review any disciplinary code or code proposals submitted by the UEP as long as such code conforms to M.G.L., c.71, § 82-86.

Section 2 Student Discipline Appeals and Procedural Review

- A. A teacher who is dissatisfied with the final administrative action in a disciplinary matter involving a student whom that teacher has referred for discipline shall have the following rights:
 - Step 1: The teacher shall have the right to a timely meeting with the person imposing the discipline on the student. Said meeting may be requested orally or in writing.
 - Step 2: In the event that the teacher is dissatisfied with the result of the meeting held at Step 1, that teacher shall have the right to a timely meeting with the building principal to appeal the administrative action taken. Said meeting may be requested orally or in writing. (Steps 1 and 2 shall be combined if the principal has imposed the discipline being appealed.)
 - Step 3: In the event that the teacher remains dissatisfied with the administrative action after the aforesaid meeting, she/he shall have the right to a timely meeting with the Superintendent of Schools or her/his designee to review the administrative action taken in disciplining the student. Said meeting may be requested orally or in writing.
- B. The parties agree that the appeal process set forth herein shall not result in a change in any disciplinary action taken administratively against any student. The parties further agree that said appeal process shall not be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in Article III of this Agreement. A teacher bringing an appeal under this section may request Union representation for any and steps of the process.
- C. The COMMITTEE and the UEP shall reestablish in the 2005-06 school year a committee, which shall review student discipline penalties and procedures. The committee may make formal recommendations to the UEP and the School Committee on improving the school district's student disciplinary procedures.

Section 3. Student Transfers

The School Administration has the right to make pupil assignments and transfers to classes. When a student, after being assigned to a class, is transferred from that class to another class, the teachers concerned in the transfer will be consulted. The consultation is in no way meant to affect the School Administration's right to make such transfers.

ARTICLE XII

NON-DISCRIMINATION

The COMMITTEE shall not discriminate against any employee for any reason including but not limited to race, sex, creed, color, national origin, age, marital status, religion or political belief, sexual orientation, and handicap status, or other protected status under Federal or State law.

ARTICLE XIII

SAVINGS CLAUSE

- A. If any provision of this Agreement shall be found at any time to be contrary to law as the result of court decisions or legislative acts, then such provision shall not be applicable or performed or enforced except to the extent permitted by law and substitute action shall be subject to prompt negotiation between the UEP and the COMMITTEE.
- B. In the event any provision of this Agreement shall be found at any time to be contrary to law as the result of court decisions or legislative acts which void any provision of this Agreement, all other provisions of the Agreement shall continue in effect.

ARTICLE XIV

FRINGE BENEFITS

Section 1. Health Insurance

A. The COMMITTEE agrees to pay that portion of the cost of individual or family coverage, whichever applies to the particular case, for Health Insurance of the type presently available to teachers, which is provided for other employees of the City of Pittsfield, but not less than sixty percent (60%) of such cost; and, effective with the 2005-

06 contract year, eighty (80%) of the cost of the individual or family coverage of the available HMO's will be paid for each enrolled teacher. The UEP agrees to coordinate efforts with other municipal unions and the City administration to address the City's contractual commitment to provide health insurance through a specifically named carrier.

- B. The COMMITTEE and UEP are parties to a Memorandum of Agreement which provides for health insurance benefits to be provided through the Massachusetts Inter-local Insurance Association/BlueCross BlueShield Massachusetts. Said Agreement is attached to this contract. Employees shall receive health insurance benefits in accordance with said Agreement so long as said Agreement is in effect.
- C. Health insurance premium deductions shall be equalized throughout the year based upon the applicable number of pay periods. Health insurance premium increases effective July 1st will be deducted from employees' paychecks in June.

Section 2. Life Insurance

The COMMITTEE agrees to pay that portion of the cost of up to \$10,000 term life insurance plan of the type presently available to teachers, which is provided for other employees of the City of Pittsfield, but not less than fifty percent (50%) of such cost.

Section 3. Tax-Sheltered Annuities

Teachers will be eligible to participate in a "tax-sheltered" Annuity Plan established pursuant to United States Public Law, 87-370.

Section 4. Disability Plan Payroll Deduction

Teachers shall be able to avail themselves of the MTA or other chosen disability plan through payroll deductions (i.e., only one (1) disability plan will be eligible for payroll deductions for the entire bargaining unit). Teachers will be responsible for 100% of the cost of said plan.

ARTICLE XV

COMPENSATION

Section 1. Professional Development and Educational Improvement

- A The COMMITTEE agrees to appropriate one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) for each year of this Agreement for the purposes of providing professional development and educational improvement support to teachers. The COMMITTEE shall disburse these funds as set forth in subsection B and C, below.
- B. 1. The COMMITTEE shall designate in each contract year of this Agreement seventy-five thousand dollars (\$75,000) for the purpose of supporting teachers' education improvement. Specifically, the sum shown shall be used each year toward payment of tuition, registration, library fee, and laboratory fees for inservice courses or courses at accredited colleges, universities, or professional training schools that are germane to the teacher's professional assignment and that are taken with the prior approval of the Superintendent of Schools or her/his designee, when approval is sought in writing on designated forms. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
 - 2. The funds designated in subsection B(1), above, shall be distributed in each year of this Agreement by allocating \$25,000 for each period described in this paragraph. Each request must be filed on or before the following deadlines to be considered for reimbursement:
 - a. First course meeting occurs between July 16 and November 1: Submit request for approval by not later than November 1
 - b. First course meeting occurs between November 2 and March 1: Submit request for approval by not later than March 1
 - c. First course meeting occurs between March 2 and July 15: Submit request for approval by not later than July 15.
 - 3. The amount allocated in accordance with subsection B(2), above, shall be divided by the total amount of tuition and approved fees timely requested. Each request shall be funded at the percentage level of such ratio.

- C. 1. In each year of this Agreement, the COMMITTEE shall allocate twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000) for the purpose of promoting teachers' professional development by means other than those identified in subsection B(1), above. Specifically, the sum shown shall be used each year for the reasonable expenses (including fees, meals, lodging, and/or transportation) incurred by teachers who attend workshops, seminars, conferences, or other professional improvement sessions at the request of, and with the advance approval of, their principal, and the Superintendent or her/his designee. Staff members who have submitted the appropriate form to his/her Principal shall be eligible to receive reimbursement as described above. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
 - 2. The funds designated in subsection C(1), above, shall be distributed in each year of this Agreement by allocating fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) for the first period (a) described in this paragraph, and ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) for the second period (b) described in this paragraph. Any remaining amount from period (a) shall be transferred to period (b). If there are any remaining funds after May 15th, then the JLMC will determine how to distribute the remaining funds and notify the Business Office no later than June 1 to be expended prior to July 1st.

Each request must be filed on or before the following deadlines to be considered for reimbursement:

- a. For professional development occurring between July 1 and December 31:
 Submit documentation for reimbursement not later than January 15th.
- b. For professional development occurring between January 1 and May 15: Submit documentation for reimbursement not later than May 15th.
- D. The COMMITTEE agrees to appropriate \$25,000 each year for the employment of teachers in summer workshop sessions.

Section 2. Mileage Allowance

- A. Teachers who are assigned to more than one school in any one school day will receive compensation for all inter-school driving done by them.
- B. This compensation will be the rate in effect in March of each year as established by the Internal Revenue Service. Such rate shall be used for mileage reimbursement during the ensuing contract year.

Section 3. Method of Payment

- A. Daily rate of pay will be 1/183 for duration of agreement for determining proration of salary.
- B. Pay day for all members of the bargaining unit will be Wednesday, with a bi-weekly payroll. The pay day shall be changed from Wednesday to Friday effective upon the City of Pittsfield's implementation of same (note: The parties understand that upon said change all other references to Wednesday in this section will be considered to mean Friday). The COMMITTEE's processing of payroll should ensure that staff receives payment on the designated pay day. The COMMITTEE shall not be responsible for third party delays. The COMMITTEE's timelines for submission of timesheets must be adhered to.
 - 1. Any member of the bargaining unit who, as of the start of the 2005-06 contract year, was receiving twenty-six (26) paychecks in a contract year, and any member of the bargaining unit first hired for the 2005-06 contract year, or who is hired thereafter, shall in each year thereafter be paid on a 26-check schedule.
 - 2. Any unit member who selected Option 1, as described in subsection C of this section, in June 2005 for the 2005-06 contract year, or who was already receiving 21 checks per year, shall be "grandfathered," and may continue to be paid in 21 checks as long as she/he desires; but any such grandfathered unit member who subsequently opts to get paid 26 times, as described in Option 2 of subsection C of this section, shall not be permitted thereafter to return to the 21-check option.
- C. Solely in accordance with the conditions set forth in the preceding subsection, members of the bargaining unit may elect one of the following two methods of payment. Such

election must be made on forms provided by the COMMITTEE before June 15 of the school year prior to implementation.

Option 1.

Teachers electing this option shall receive their pay as follows:

- For the Agreement effective August 25, 2012 and ending August 24, 2015, paychecks will be issued every other Wednesday beginning September 1 through June 30.
- 2. There will be twenty-one (21) paychecks issued during the course of the aforesaid period. Each paycheck will be in the amount of one twenty-first (1/21st) of the annual salary.
- 3. Pay schedules for the following school year will be issued on or before the last day of school in June, provided the payroll calendar has been adopted by that date.

Option 2.

- For the Agreement effective August 25, 2012 and ending August 24, 2015, paychecks will be issued every other Wednesday beginning September 1, with the twenty-sixth and final check issued during August.
- 2. Each paycheck will be in the amount of one twenty-sixth (1/26th) of the annual salary.
- 3. Pay schedules for the following school year will be issued on or before the last day of school in June, provided the calendar has been adopted by that date.
- D. Not later than the second paycheck of the school year, each teacher shall be provided with a written statement reporting the teacher's:
 - Salary step placement
 - Base salary for the current year
 - Compensation for earned graduate credits
 - Longevity, if applicable
 - Accumulated sick leave effective at the start of the school year
 - Current insurance coverage
 - Stipends or differentials (if applicable at the time of notice) and any such comparable matters pertaining to the teacher's employment and compensation as it may be possible to inform each teacher of at that time.

E. Any employee hired on or after August 25, 2010 will be required to receive his/her compensation through direct deposit.

Section 4. Early Notice of Resignation with Intent to Retire

- A. Except as set forth in subsection B, below, any teacher meeting the qualifications set forth in subsection C, below, whose formal notice of her/his intent to resign from the Pittsfield Public Schools is received by January 1 of the calendar year of her/his resignation shall be paid a \$5,000 one-time bonus. Said payment shall be made in the month following the teacher's retirement.
- B. No payment shall be made pursuant to subsection A, above, to a teacher who retires during a school year.
- C. In order to qualify for the bonus provided in subsection A, above, a teacher must:
 - 1. invoke this provision in writing to the Director of Human Resources;
 - 2. be eligible to retire under the rules of the Massachusetts Teachers Retirement Board; and
 - 3. must have not less than ten (10) full school years of continuous service as a teacher in the Pittsfield Public Schools immediately prior to seeking this benefit. "Full year" shall mean the entire teachers' work year. A form appearing as "Appendix A" to this Agreement shall be available from the Personnel Office for invoking this provision in writing..
- D. Notice of resignation submitted under this provision shall be revocable only with the consent of the prospective resignee and the Pittsfield Public Schools, and only under extraordinary circumstances. Any request to revoke a resignation submitted under this provision shall, if contested by the Pittsfield Public Schools, be decided by majority vote of a committee composed of four (4) members, two (2) being members of the UEP, one being the Superintendent of Schools or her/his designee and one (1) being a member of the School Committee. The decision of said committee shall be final and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure of this Agreement.

- E. 1. A teacher who has received compensation under the provisions of a predecessor agreement for giving early notice of intent to retire, and who is employed by the Pittsfield Public Schools as of September 7, 1999, may exercise one of the following options, election of which shall exclude all others:
 - Option 1: The teacher may resign as planned and receive the compensation that was stipulated in the predecessor agreement; or
 - Option 2: The teacher, if she/he formally stated her/his intent to resign during the 1999-2000 school year, may rescind her/his notice of intent to resign, and either (a) repay whatever she/he has received as an early notice incentive under the predecessor agreement, or (b) change her/his stated resignation date to not earlier than the end of the 1999-2000 school year, and receive the payment described in subsection A, above; or
 - Option 3: The teacher, if she/he formally stated her/his intent to resign not earlier than the end of the 1999-2000 school year, may receive the payment described in subsection A, above, so long as her/his formally stated intent to resign is not withdrawn before January 1 of the year in which the resignation was stated to be effective.
 - 2. Except when a teacher elects Option 1, no payment for early notice of intent to resign shall be made to a teacher otherwise eligible for this payment except in accordance with subsection A, above. A teacher eligible under Option 2(b) or Option 3 for the benefit described in subsection A, and who, prior to the effective date of this Agreement, received payment for early notice of intent to retire under the provisions of a predecessor agreement, shall not be entitled to receive more than a total of \$5,000 for early notice of intent to resign.
- F. If a teacher has provided early notice of intent to resign consistent with the provisions of this section, so that the teacher is entitled to the benefit described in subsection A, above, then, if that teacher dies before he/she could finish the work requirement described in subsection B, above, the sum that would have been due the teacher upon completion of

her/his employment shall be deemed a debt owed to that teacher at the time of her/his death, and, consistent with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the teacher's estate shall receive the payment otherwise due to the teacher.

Section 5. Severance Pay

- A. Upon the retirement or death of a teacher, the following severance pay provisions shall be applicable for service in the Pittsfield Public Schools.
 - 1. Severance pay shall be granted to a teacher with at least twenty (20) years service as a teacher or administrator in the Pittsfield Public Schools. An accounting of all unused sick leave while a professional employee of the Pittsfield Public Schools will be made. The teacher shall receive ten percent (10%) of his/her daily rate of compensation for each unused sick day. The COMMITTEE shall inform the estate of a teacher who dies in service of the provisions of this Agreement."
 - 2. A teacher who, upon her/his separation from employment by the Pittsfield Public Schools, qualifies to receive severance pay, and who has used not more than one-half of the personal leave days available to her/him during her/his period of employment as a teacher by the Pittsfield Public Schools, shall receive \$100.00 for each unused personal leave day as part of her/his severance pay.
 - 3. Commencing on August 25, 2015, for each school year that a teacher uses three or fewer sick leave days, the teacher shall accumulate one (1) "attendance day" in a separate severance account. For each school year that a teacher does not use any sick leave days, the teacher shall accumulate two (2) attendance days in said account. Upon retirement, resignation, or death of a teacher, the teacher shall receive \$100 for each attendance day in the teacher's severance account.

Section 6. Placement on the Salary Schedule

- A. Full credit, not to exceed ten (10) years, will be given for previous teaching experience upon initial employment.
 - 1. The COMMITTEE may place a newly hired teacher up to Step 13 on the salary schedule regardless of her/his experience. In every such case the Superintendent of Schools or her/his designee shall notify the UEP that this is being done. Further, the

Superintendent or her/his designee shall consult with the UEP regarding the rationale in each instance that a new hire is placed other than at her/his appropriate experience level.

- B. 1. A teacher who was employed by the Pittsfield Public Schools, who left the employ of the Pittsfield Public Schools, and who returns to work for the Pittsfield Public Schools after an absence not exceeding five years (60 calendar months), shall be paid at the contractual salary step warranted by her/his experience.
 - 2. Previously accumulated unused leave days will be restored to returning teachers who return within three (3) years of the time they left the Pittsfield School System.
 - 3. The School Committee may grant credit on the salary scale for military service up to three (3) years prior to employment in Pittsfield.
 - 4. A Career/Vocational Technical Education teacher who teaches students in the occupational or vocational programs may be employed with or without a degree if he or she is certified by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, Division of Occupational Education, or is on an approved waiver. In either event, a new teacher, if he/she has not been teaching at least six (6) years, may be granted up to six (6) years of experience in determining his or her placement on the salary schedule. Said teachers will be placed on the appropriate Step of the following preparation levels of the Basic Salary Schedule:

Career/Vocational Technical Education without a Degree – Bachelor's Level

Career/Vocational Technical Education with a Bachelor's Degree – Master's Level

Career/Vocational Technical Education with a Master's Degree – CAGS Level

5. A teacher who has retired and who returns to work for the Pittsfield Public Schools under a critical shortage declaration duly approved by the Massachusetts Department of Education, who left the employ of the Pittsfield Public Schools, and who returns to work for the Pittsfield Public Schools after an absence not exceeding five years (60 calendar months), shall be paid at the contractual salary step warranted by her/his experience.

1. Teachers holding a Bachelor's Degree may accumulate credit in blocks of 6-12-18-24-30 credits before the Master's at the rate of \$30 per credit for successful completion of prior approved courses. Effective August 25, 2013, this provision shall no longer be effective. Instead, teachers will be placed on the appropriate column of the salary schedule (see Section 8(A)). If a teacher is receiving compensation for credits that do not correspond with a particular column prior to August 25, 2013, said teacher will continue to receive compensation based upon said number of credits until the teacher obtains a sufficient number of credits to move to the next column. For example, if a teacher currently holds a B+6, said teacher will continue to be compensated based upon B+6 until said teacher is eligible to move to B+15.

D.

- 2. Teachers holding a Master's Degree may accumulate credit for successful completion of prior approved courses taken after earning a Master's Degree and before earning a Doctor's Degree in the following amount:
 - a. Teachers holding a Master's Degree may accumulate credit for successful completion of prior approved courses taken after earning a Master's Degree and before earning a Doctor's Degree in the following amount: Forty-eight (48) semester hours at thirty-five dollars (\$35) per credit hour.
 - b. Teachers who accumulate 60 credits beyond a Masters will be paid at a level equal to \$3,000 greater than the MA column. Courses taken after MA+60 will be reimbursed at \$50/credit.
 - c. Effective August 25, 2013, this provision (i.e., Section 2 including subsections a and b) shall no longer be effective. Instead, teachers will be placed on the appropriate column of the salary schedule (see Section 8(A)). If a teacher is receiving compensation for credits that do not correspond with a particular column prior to August 25, 2013, said teacher will continue to receive

- compensation based upon said number of credits until the teacher obtains a sufficient number of credits to move to the next column. For example, if a teacher currently holds a M+6, said teacher will continue to be compensated based upon M+6 until said teacher is eligible to move to M+15.
- 3. Career/vocational teachers shall receive \$90 for each block of six (6) credits earned after September 1, 1999. Effective August 25, 2013, this provision shall no longer be effective. Instead, teachers will be placed on the appropriate column of the salary schedule (see Section 8(A)). If a teacher is receiving compensation for credits that do not correspond with a particular column prior to August 25, 2013, said teacher will continue to receive compensation based upon said number of credits until the teacher obtains a sufficient number of credits to move to the next column.
- 4. a. Any member of the bargaining unit who was awarded a doctorate before

 September 1, 1997, will receive \$50.00 for each credit hour earned after receipt
 of her/his doctorate of which there is a record in the employee's personnel file
 by the end of the working day on May 26, 1998. Payment for the credit hours
 will be effective July 1, 1997. Effective August 25, 2013, this provision shall
 no longer be effective. Instead, teachers will be placed on the appropriate
 column of the salary schedule (see Section 8(A)). However, any teacher who
 has already earned credits beyond a Doctorate pursuant to this section shall
 continue to be compensated for said credits, but will not be compensated for
 additional credits earned after August 25, 2013.
 - b. Any member of the bargaining unit who is awarded a doctorate on or after
 September 1, 1997, or who has a doctorate and is employed by the Pittsfield
 Public Schools after July 1, 1998, will receive \$50.00 for each credit earned

after receipt of her/his doctorate, and for which suitable evidence is presented, provided that (i) the credit hour was earned after September 1, 1998, and (ii) if the credit hour was earned while the individual was employed by the Pittsfield Public Schools, then it was approved in the same manner as other credit hour compensation. Said payment will be effective for the 1998-99 school year. Effective August 25, 2013, this provision shall no longer be effective. Instead, teachers will be placed on the appropriate column of the salary schedule (see Section 8(A)). However, any teacher who has already earned credits beyond a Doctorate pursuant to this section shall continue to be compensated for said credits, but will not be compensated for additional credits earned after August 25, 2013.

5. If a teacher is requested to teach outside her/his certification area, then the teacher will be reimbursed the reasonable cost of taking a course in that subject area, less anything available from professional development. "Reasonable cost" means tuition and fees otherwise approvable for reimbursement charges at a Massachusetts State College.

Section 7. Longevity

Payments in addition to other entitlements will be granted on the basis of length of service as defined in Article IV, § 25, Seniority, of this Agreement in the following amounts:

Effective	August 25, 2015	August 25, 2016	August 25, 2017
Years of			
<u>Service</u>			
15-19 years	\$499	\$499	\$499
20-24 years	\$687	\$687	\$687
25+ years	\$998	\$998	\$998

The payment after 20 and 25 years of service is the total longevity payment due and is not in addition to the dollar payment given in the previous category or categories.

UNITED EDUCATORS OF PITTSFIELD

Section 8.A, Basic Salary Schedule

See attached Salary Schedules marked as 8.A.

UNITED EDUCATORS OF PITTSFIELD Section 8.B, Occupational and Physical Therapists Salary Schedule

See attached Salary Schedules, marked as 8.B

UNITED EDUCATORS OF PITTSFIELD Section 8.C, School Nurses Salary Schedule

See attached Salary Schedules, marked as 8.C

Section 9. Increments and Salary Step Movement

- A. During the first three full school years of her/his employment as a teacher by the Pittsfield Public Schools, a teacher shall move automatically to the next salary step in her/his second full year, and to the salary step after that in her/his third full year of employment as a teacher. For purposes of this section, "full school year" shall mean a school year in which an individual's actual work as an appointed teacher has started by not later than October 1 of the school year.
- B. 1. In the fourth year of her/his employment, and thereafter, a teacher shall be eligible for salary step movement only by earning increment credits. Increment credits are necessary for a teacher's salary step movement as follows.

<u>Teacher's Academic Degree</u>	<u>Professional Development Points</u>
	Needed per year
No Bachelors Degree	45 PDPs
Bachelors Degree	30 PDPs
Masters Degree or more	15 PDPs

For purposes of this section, one graduate credit hour shall be deemed the equivalent of 15 PDPs.

- 2. In order for salary step movement to be effective at the start of the teachers' work year, satisfactory evidence of having earned a suitable number of increment credits shall be presented by the teacher to the Personnel Office by not later than October 1. Satisfactory evidence of having earned a suitable number of increment credits that is so presented after October 1, but not later than February 1, shall make said teacher's salary step movement effective February 1.
- 3. a. Effective with the 2000-2001 contract year, PDPs will count toward step movement only if they are deemed administratively to be recognized by the Massachusetts Department of Education as creditable toward a teacher's recertification by that agency. The point of reference for making this

- determination shall be the Department's duly published regulations and guidelines on teacher recertification.
- b. In the event of an administrative determination that a teacher's claimed PDPs are not recognized by the Massachusetts Department of Education as creditable toward a teacher's recertification, the teacher shall have the right to meet with the Superintendent of Schools and her/his designee to seek review of that determination. An administrator other than the one who made the determination to which the teacher objects shall conduct said review. The decision of the Superintendent or her/his designee in this review shall be final, and shall in no case be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in Article V of this Agreement.
- C. Career/vocational teachers may be granted in-service credit for trade-related courses, seminars, workshops and institutes. The number of credits to be awarded for each approved course, seminar, workshop or institute taken by the career/vocational teacher will be determined by the Superintendent of School or her/his designee after consultation with the Assistant Superintendent for Career/Vocational Technical Education and the teacher involved. All such in-service credit determinations shall be in conformity with the requirements of M.G.L. c. 74.

Section 10. Differentials

A.

Title	Effective August 25, 2015	Effective August 25, 2016	Effective August 25, 2017
Department Heads, Unit Leaders & PCHP Head Teacher*	25, 2015	25, 2010	25, 2017
Fewer than 5 teachers	\$4259	\$4323	\$4388
5-10 teachers	\$4624	\$4693	\$4763
11-15 teachers	\$4986	\$5061	\$5137
16 or more teachers	\$5341	\$5421	\$5502
* The Department Head, Unit Leader, and/or PCHP Head Teacher will be included in determining the total number of teachers.			
*Supervisory/Department Head Vocational Technical Program	\$7285	\$7394	\$7505
Team Leaders**	\$4018	\$4078	\$4139
Instructional Technology Specialist	\$3842	\$3900	\$3959
Head Teachers	\$1826	\$1853	\$1881
Head Teachers (Non-Community Schools), in Principal's absence	\$640	\$650	\$660
Head Teachers (Middle Schools) (in Principal's absence)	\$66	\$67	\$68

Unit Leaders with Evaluation responsibilities for paraprofessionals shall be compensated B. as follows:

No. of Paras. Evaluated	Differential Effective August 25, 2015	Differential Effective August 25, 2016	Differential Effective August 25, 2017
1-6	\$191	\$194	\$197
7-12	\$377	383	\$389
13-18	564	\$572	\$581
19-24	\$753	\$764	\$775
25-31	\$941	\$955	\$969
32-36	\$1,129	\$1,146	\$1,163
37-42	\$1,317	\$1,337	\$1,357

^{*}The position description dated May 1997 is incorporated by reference into this Agreement.

**In regard to 9th grade Team Leaders, if the school has a dedicated team, then the position will be funded.

- D. Department Head and Team Leader positions will be posted and appointed on an annual basis. If there is more than one (1) qualified applicant for such a position, the principal or other administrator shall not be required to interview more than two (2) such applicants, although nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit a principal or other administrator from interviewing as many internal applicants for such a position as she/he deems necessary. The identity of the applicants who will be interviewed under this section shall be determined by the principal or other administrator.
- E. If the Committee adopts an Advisor/Advisee high school program, then the parties will negotiate an appropriate stipend. Individuals who are selected for the program will be responsible for lessons and planning.

Section 11 High School Coaching Positions Group I Head Coaches:

Sport	Minimum	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Maximum
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,					
	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015
Football	ļ					
Basketball Boys	ļ					
Basketball Girls	ļ					
Hockey	ļ					
Baseball	\$3,630	\$3,839	\$4,045	\$4,250	\$4,459	\$4,662
Softball	ļ					
Soccer Boys	ļ					
Soccer Girls	ļ					
Lacrosse	ļ					
Track						
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,					
	2016	2016	2016	2016	2016	2016
Football						
Basketball Boys	ļ					
Basketball Girls	ļ					
Hockey	ļ					
Baseball	\$3,684	\$3,897	\$4,106	\$4,314	\$4,526	\$4,732
Softball	ļ					
Soccer Boys	ļ					
Soccer Girls						
Lacrosse						
Track						

	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,					
	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017
Football						
Basketball Boys						
Basketball Girls						
Hockey						
Baseball	\$3,739	\$3,955	\$4,168	\$4,379	\$4,594	\$4,803
Softball						
Soccer Boys						
Soccer Girls						
Lacrosse						
Track						

Group II Head Coaches

Sport	Minimum	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Maximum
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,					
	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015
Swimming Boys* Swimming Girls* Wrestling	\$2,749	\$2,982	\$3,219	\$3,454	\$3,692	\$3,925
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,					
	2016	2016	2016	2016	2016	2016
Swimming Boys* Swimming Girls* Wrestling	\$2,790	\$3,027	\$3,267	\$3,506	\$3,747	\$3,984
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25, 2017					
Swimming Boys* Swimming Girls* Wrestling	\$2,832	\$3,072	\$3,316	\$3,559	\$3,803	\$4,044

Group III Head Coaches

Group III Head Coaches							
Sport	Minimum	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Maximum	
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	
	August 25,						
	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015	
Golf							
Tennis Boys							
Tennis Girls							
X Country Boys							
X Country Girls	\$2,087	\$2,231	\$2,408	\$2,569	\$2,732	\$2,949	
X-Ctry Skiing Boys							
X-Ctry Skiing Girls							
Volleyball Boys							
Volleyball Girls							
Alpine Skiing							
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	
	August 25,						
	2016	2016	2016	2016	2016	2016	
Golf							
Tennis Boys							
Tennis Girls							
X Country Boys							
X Country Girls	\$2,118	\$2,264	\$2,444	\$2,608	\$2,773	\$2,993	
X-Ctry Skiing Boys							
X-Ctry Skiing Girls							
Volleyball Boys							
Volleyball Girls							
Alpine Skiing							
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	
	August 25,						
	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017	
Golf							
Tennis Boys							
Tennis Girls							
X Country Boys							
X Country Girls	\$2,150	\$2,298	\$2,481	\$2,647	\$2,815	\$3,038	
X-Ctry Skiing Boys							
X-Ctry Skiing Girls							
Volleyball Boys							
Volleyball Girls							
Alpine Skiing							

Group IV Ass't Coaches

Sport Sport	Minimum	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Maximum
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,					
	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015
Baseball Football Basketball Boys Basketball Girls Softball Soccer Boys Soccer Girls Lacrosse Volleyball Boys Volleyball Girls Track Boys Track Girls	\$2,306	\$2,506	\$2,697	2013	2013	\$2,949
Wrestling	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25, 2016					
Baseball Football Basketball Boys Basketball Girls Softball Soccer Boys Soccer Girls Lacrosse Volleyball Boys Volleyball Girls Track Boys Track Girls Wrestling	\$2,341	\$2,544	\$2,737			\$2,993
	Effective August 25, 2017					
Baseball Football Basketball Boys Basketball Girls Softball Soccer Boys Soccer Girls Lacrosse Volleyball Boys Volleyball Girls Track Boys Track Girls Wrestling	\$2,376	\$2,582	\$2,778			\$3,038

Group V Ass't Coaches

Sport	Minimum	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Maximum
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,					
	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015
Cross Country						
-	\$1,314	\$1,314				\$1,314
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,					
	2016	2016	2016	2016	2016	2016
Cross Country						
-	\$1,334	\$1,334				\$1,334
	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,					
	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017
Cross Country	\$1,354	\$1,354				\$1,354

TRAINER	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,	August 25	August 25
	2015	2016	2017
	\$5,844	\$5,932	\$6,021

FACULTY MANAGER**	Effective	Effective	Effective
	August 25,	August 25	August 25
	2015	2016	2017
	\$4,662	\$4,732	\$4,803

^{*}If either the boys' or girls' team has five (5) or fewer members, then the stipend will be at the rate set for one coach

Ticket Takers, Ticket Sellers Score Keepers, Timer, Game-site Managers, & other similar positions Rate of pay will be no less than that of the 1996-1997 season. Positions funded by gate receipts. Persons taking one of positions does so for the entire season.

^{**}Shall work the teachers' work year plus ten days.

Section 12. Coaches A.

Intramural Middle School			
Season	Effective August 25, 2015	Effective August 25, 2016	Effective August 25, 2017
Fall	\$1,146	\$1,163	\$1,180
Winter	\$1,452	\$1,474	\$1,496
Spring	\$1,146	\$1,163	\$1,180

Intramural High School			
Season	Effective August 25, 2015	Effective August 25, 2016	Effective August 25, 2017
Fall	\$1,273	\$1,292	\$1,311
Winter	\$1,146	\$1,163	\$1,180
Spring	\$1,146	\$1,163	\$1,180

Section 13.

A. High School Co-Curricular Activities

Category	Positions In Category	Effective August 25, 2015	Effective August 25, 2016	Effective August 25, 2017
I	High School Band High School Chorus Orchestra	\$3,765	\$3,821	\$3,878
II	Academic Decathlon* Cheerleaders (2 per school) Color Guard Drama** Sr. Class Advisor Jr. Class Advisor Yearbook Editor	\$2,683	\$2,723	\$2,764
III	Environmental/Environmental Future Teachers of America Newspaper Quiz Team† Radio Station School Store Sophomore Class Advisor Student Senate/Council Yearbook Business Mgr. ††	\$1,155	\$1,172	\$1,190

IV	Computer Program Club Freshman Class Advisor Language Clubs National Honor Society Pep Club Students Against Drunk Driving (SADD) Technology Club Literary Journal	\$753	\$764	\$775
V	Math League Internet Club Photography Club	\$377	\$383	\$389

^{*} Yearbook Business Manager shall be responsible for finances as connected with yearbook and the Literary Journal.

- ** The Drama Advisor will be responsible for a fall as well as a spring production.
- † The Quiz Team Advisor shall be responsible for participation in the County Quiz Team League, participation in local and regional radio Quiz contests, and participation in TV quiz contests.

Payment will be as follows:

Effective August 25, 2015	\$290	per TV show up to	\$1,145
Effective August 25, 2016	\$294	per TV show up to	\$1,162
Effective August 25, 2017	\$298	per TV show up to	\$1,179

- †† Two Academic Advisors at a single high school may receive the full stipend provided that the high school involved enters two complete Academic Decathlon teams into official competition in the Academic Decathlon program.
 - 1. All above shall be subject to the following provisions:
 - a. Positions shall be advertised in the usual manner.
 - b. Building principals shall provide detailed outlines of programs to be implemented.
 - c. Annual reports shall be required of each moderator.
 - 2. As is the case with any position/activity listed in the collective bargaining agreement, the Pittsfield Public Schools will determine, at its discretion, whether to fund and/or fill any of the above-listed co-curricular activities.
 - 3. The building principal, with the concurrence of the superintendent, may petition the School Committee to finance worthy additional co-curricular activities.

B. Middle School and Elementary School

1. In 2004-05 and thereafter, a total of three thousand nine hundred (\$3,900) shall be appropriated for the elementary schools' co-curricular activities.

2. The particular activities to be offered at each middle and elementary school will be determined by the building principal. Except as set forth in paragraph 3, below, compensation for such activities will be determined by a designated representative of the UEP and the Assistant Superintendent for Personnel and Negotiations.

The position of middle school band director, orchestra director, and choral director shall be compensated as a Category III position under Article XV § 13.A, above.

C. <u>Division of Co- or Extra-Curricular Compensation Permitted</u>

Two or more individuals may divide the duties of a co-curricular or extra-curricular position, and therefore the stipend for that appointment, with the approval of the Superintendent or her/his designee. The Superintendent or her/his designee shall notify the UEP when this is done.

D. Per Diem Payment for Co- and Extra-Curricular Work

Co- or extra-curricular positions may be compensated at a per diem rate if and only if (1) a timesheet is used by any teacher duly appointed to the position, (2) the per diem rate to be used is approved in writing by the Superintendent or her/his designee, and (3) the total sum paid to the teacher or teachers so dividing the compensation for the position shall not exceed the amount of the stipend for the specific position that is set forth in this Agreement.

E. Written Notice of Appointment for Co- and Extra-Curricular Positions

No appointment to any co- or extra-curricular position shall be deemed effective and therefore as requiring payment unless and until a written notice of appointment has been sent by the Superintendent of Schools or her/his designee to the individual recommended for that position.

Section 14. Driver Education Teachers

Behind-the-wheel instructors will receive the following:

Effective August 25, 2015	\$18.28	Per class hour
Effective August 25, 2016	\$18.55	
Effective August 25, 2017	\$18.83	

Classroom instructors will receive the following:

Effective August 25, 2015	\$20.08	Per class hour
Effective August 25, 2016	\$20.38	
Effective August 25, 2017	\$20.69	

Section 15. Home Instruction Teachers

Home Instruction teachers will receive the following:

Effective August 25, 2015	\$20.08	Per class hour
Effective August 25, 2016	\$20.38	
Effective August 25, 2017	\$20.69	

Certified teachers employed by the COMMITTEE shall be given an opportunity for homebound instruction assignments before certified teachers not employed by the COMMITTEE are given such assignments.

Section 16. TEAM Evaluations

Personnel required to participate in TEAM evaluation sessions outside of their regular workday shall be compensated at the rate paid to teachers of children on homebound instruction.

Section 17. Evening School Teachers

A. Certified teachers instructing within their area(s) of certification will receive:

Effective August 25, 2015	\$25.11	Per class hour
Effective August 25, 2016	\$25.49	
Effective August 25, 2017	\$25.87	

B. Other teachers (Leader) will receive:

Effective August 25, 2015	\$20.07	Per class hour
Effective August 25, 2016	\$20.37	
Effective August 25, 2017	\$20.68	

Section 18. Curriculum and Workshop Teachers and Workshop Leader

Teacher	Effective August 25, 2015	\$28.52	Per class hour
	Effective August 25, 2016	\$28.95	
	Effective August 25, 2017	\$29.38	

Leader	Effective August 25, 2015	\$30.16	Per class hour
	Effective August 25, 2016	\$30.61	
	Effective August 25, 2017	\$31.07	

Section 19. Part-time A.B.E. Teachers and Certified E.S.L. Teachers

Effective August 25, 2015	\$30.64	Per class hour
Effective August 25, 2016	\$31.10	
Effective August 25, 2017	\$31.57	

Section 20. Teen Parent Program Instructors

Effective August 25, 2012	\$28.95	Per class hour
Effective August 25, 2013	*	
Effective August 25, 2014	**	

Section 21. National Board for Professional Teacher Standards Compensation

- 1. Commencing in the 2000-01 contract year, the COMMITTEE shall compensate up to ten (10) teachers per year for fifty percent (50%) of that teacher's application fee in seeking certification by the National Board for Professional Teacher Standards (NBPTS). Payment shall be made to the teacher not later than thirty (30) calendar days after the teacher's submittal to the Superintendent or her/his designee of (a) all documentation of the teacher's submittal of an appropriate NBPTS application form and (b) a photocopy of the cancelled check, money order, or other means by which payment to the NBPTS was made.
 - 2. In the event that more than ten teachers apply for NPBTS certification in a contract year, reimbursement shall be made to the first ten teachers who submit full documentation of their submittal of completed applications, as set forth above.
- B. Commencing in the 2001-02 contract year, the COMMITTEE shall each year compensate up to ten (10) teachers each year who have been awarded NBPTS certification, the compensation being as follows:
 - 1. The remaining fifty percent (50%) of the teacher's NBPTS application fee, which shall be paid not later than thirty (30) calendar days after the teacher's submittal to the Superintendent or her/his designee of suitable evidence of having been awarded NBPTS certification;
 - In each full school year of the validity of the NBPTS certificate awarded,
 \$5,000 per year, payable as salary; and
 - 3. In each partial school year of the validity of the NBPTS certificate awarded, a pro rata portion of \$5,000, based on the part of the teacher's contractual work year during which said valid certification is held, payable as salary.

- C. A teacher who earned NBPTS certification previously under this provision shall continue to be entitled to the annual compensation set forth in § 20.B.2 and B.3, above, for the entire period of the NBPTS certificate's validity.
- D. By not later than November 1, 2000, a committee composed of up to five representatives of the COMMITTEE and up to five representatives of the UEP shall meet to study the availability to Pittsfield teachers of national or other certifications of subject area knowledge or teaching competency for vocational-technical or other teachers. The study committee shall make recommendations to the COMMITTEE and the UEP not later than March 15, 2001 on the advisability of recognizing said certifications by means of compensation or other means, and, to the extent it deems appropriate, the study committee shall specify the dollar amount it recommends, or other means considered desirable, for such recognition.

Section 22. Mentor Teachers

- A. If the COMMITTEE sponsors a teacher mentoring program during the 2009-10 contract year, then the stipend paid to each mentor teacher shall be \$560.
- B. Appointment to a mentoring position shall be made by the Superintendent of Schools or her/his designee. Such appointment shall be made on the recommendation of the building principal or other appropriate supervisory administrator. Such appointments shall be for one year, and shall be renewable.
- C. The Superintendent or her/his designee shall establish standards of performance for mentor teachers on or before August 1, 2000, and shall timely publicize said standards annually to any interested teacher. A copy of said standards shall be provided to the UEP at the time of their publication. The Superintendent or her/his designee will consult with the UEP at the UEP's request prior to their publication.
- D. The failure of the Superintendent or her/his designee to renew a teacher's mentoring appointment shall in no case be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in Article V of this Agreement.

Section 23. Compensation Paid in Error

- A. Compensation that is owed to a member of the bargaining unit under this Agreement or a predecessor agreement, and that she/he has not received in error, may be recovered by that teacher, but only retroactive to the start of the fiscal year when the error is discovered.
- B. Compensation that has been paid to a member of the bargaining unit under this Agreement or a predecessor agreement, and that is in excess of what the employee was owed contractually, may be recovered by the COMMITTEE from the bargaining unit member to whom the excess payment was made, but only but only retroactive to the start of the fiscal year when the error is discovered.
- C. As used in this section the term "fiscal year" denotes the period starting July 1 and ending June 30.

Section 24: Irrelevance of Source of Funding

Regardless of the source of funding for payment for work that is covered by this Agreement, compensation rates stated in this Agreement shall apply for all such work.

Section 25: Applicability of Compensation for Retirement

Applicability of compensation for the purpose of retirement is at the sole discretion of the Massachusetts Teachers Retirement System (MTRS).

ARTICLE XVI

RETELL/SEI Endorsement Course

To the extent that current Unit A members are required to obtain the SEI endorsement for licensure purposes, the COMMITTEE and UEP agree that:

- the District will create and maintain a master list of educators who require the SEI endorsement and those who have earned it through established DESE pathways.
- This list will be shared with the UEP upon request or when updated.
- The President of the UEP will be provided with a list, either digitally or hard copy, of each cohort of UEP members enrolled in the District based RETELL/SEI Endorsement course.
- The meeting dates of the RETELL/SEI Endorsement course will be outside of the regular school day and at a location within the City of Pittsfield.
- Teachers who already have or will earn the SEI endorsement through an approved DESE pathway, but not through an educator licensure program prior to being employed by the District, will earn the equivalent of three (3) graduate credits toward salary step movement.
- The District will offer a cost-free course for educators in the event the endorsement has not been earned by 2017.

ARTICLE XVII DURATION

The Agreement shall be effective as of August 25, 2015, and shall continue and remain in full force until August 24, 2018. Not later than January 15, 2018, or at such other date as the parties hereto may agree, said parties shall enter into negotiations for a successor *Agreement* to become effective August 25, 2018.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto so Narmber, 2015.	et their hands and seals, thisday of
PITTSFIELD SCHOOL COMMITTEE	UNITED EDUCATORS OF PITTSFIELD
BY: Karherine you CHAIRMAN	BY: Bleen

APPENDIX A

NOTICE OF RESIGNATION AND CLAIM OF BENEFITS PURSUANT TO ARTICLE XV § 4 OF THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE UNITED EDUCATORS OF PITTSFIELD AND THE PITTSFIELD SCHOOL COMMITTEE

I, (please print or type name),	
hereby invoke Article XV § 4 of the Agreement between the United Educators of Pittsfield and	l
the Pittsfield School Committee, and submit my resignation from the Pittsfield Public Schools,	,
effective (please indicate date), but not later than the day	
preceding the start of the next teachers' work year. In so doing, I claim the benefit stated in	
Article XV § 4(A) that is due me upon my leaving said employment.	
I hereby state that to the best of my knowledge I am eligible to retire under the rules of the	
Massachusetts Teachers' Retirement Board, and that I have been continuously employed as a	
teacher in the Pittsfield Public Schools for not less than ten (10) full years prior to providing th	is
notice.	
I will receive payment of the sum provided in the month following my retirement.	
I recognize that, except under the conditions set forth in Article XV § 4(D) of the Agreement, r	ny
resignation will be effective on the date stated above, and may not be revoked.	
SIGNATURE: DATE:	

APPENDIX B

EVALUATION

Table of Contents

- (1) Purpose of Educator Evaluation
- (2) Definitions
- (3) Evidence Used in Evaluation
- (4) Rubric
- (5) Evaluation Cycle: Training
- (6) Evaluation Cycle: Annual Orientation
- (7) Evaluation Cycle: Self-Assessment
- (8) Evaluation Cycle: Goal Setting and Educator Plan Development
- (9) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts Educators without PTS
- (10) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts Educators with PTS
- (11) Observations
- (12) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Assessment
- (13) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Evaluation for Two-Year Self-Directed Plans Only
- (14) Evaluation Cycle: Summative Evaluation
- (15) Educator Plans: General
- (16) Educator Plans: Developing Educator Plan
- (17) Educator Plans: Self-Directed Growth Plan
- (18) Educator Plans: Directed Growth Plan
- (19) Educator Plans: Improvement Plan
- (20) Timelines
- (21) Career Advancement
- (22) Rating Impact on Student Learning Growth
- (23) Using Student feedback in Educator Evaluation
- (24) Using Staff feedback in Educator Evaluation
- (25) Transition from Existing Evaluation System
- (26) General Provisions
- (27) Implementation

1) Purpose of Educator Evaluation

- A) This contract language is based on M.G.L., c.71, § 38; M.G.L. c.150E; the Educator Evaluation regulations, 603 CMR 35.00 et seq.; and the Model System for Educator Evaluation developed and which may be updated from time to time by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. See 603 CMR 35.02 (definition of model system). In the event of a conflict between this collective bargaining agreement and the governing laws and regulations, the laws and regulations will prevail.
- B) The regulatory purposes of evaluation are:
 - To promote student learning, growth, and achievement by providing Educators with feedback for improvement, enhanced opportunities for professional growth, and clear structures for accountability, 603 CMR 35.01(2)(a);
 - ii) To provide a record of facts and assessments for personnel decisions, 35.01(2)(b);
 - iii) To ensure that every school committee has a system to enhance the professionalism and accountability of teachers and administrators that will enable them to assist all students to perform at high levels, 35.01(3); and
 - iv) To assure effective teaching and administrative leadership, 35.01(3).

2) Definitions (* indicates definition is generally based on 603 CMR 35.02)

- *Artifacts of Professional Practice: Products of an Educator's work and student work samples that demonstrate the Educator's knowledge and skills with respect to specific performance standards. Examples of work products that may or may not be chosen to become artifacts for evaluation could include (this list is not exhaustive):
 - i) Integrated units of instruction
 - ii) Daily lesson plans
 - iii) Teacher-made assessments
 - iv) Classroom technology applications
 - v) Classroom management plan and class rules
 - vi) Teacher/student parent contacts
 - vii) Student interest surveys
 - viii) Parent communication log

- ix) Classroom newsletter
- x) Samples of student work (without identifying information)
- xi) Teacher journals/logs
- xii) Educator generated videos and/or audio tapes (15 minute segment limit) (with permission granted)
- xiii) Educator generated photographs of classrooms (with permission granted)
- xiv) Summative evaluations
- xv) Student/parent/colleague surveys
- xvi) Resume/transcript
- xvii) Awards, recognitions
- xviii) Meetings and workshops
- B) Classroom teacher: Educators who teach preK-12 whole classes, and teachers of special subjects as such as art, music, library, and physical education. May also include special education teachers and reading specialists who teach whole classes.
- Categories of Evidence: Multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, judgments based on observations and artifacts of professional practice, including unannounced observations of practice of any duration; and additional evidence relevant to one or more Standards of Effective Teaching Practice (603 CMR 35.03).
- *District-determined Measures: Measures of student learning, growth and achievement related to the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks, Massachusetts Vocational Technical Education Frameworks, or other relevant frameworks, that are comparable across grade or subject level district-wide. These measures may include, but shall not be limited to: portfolios, approved commercial assessments and district-developed pre and post unit and course assessments, and capstone projects. Grading district assessments will not be a teacher responsibility. The UEP and the Committee reserve their rights regarding bargaining, to the extent allowed by law, upon DESE issuance of guidelines.
- E) *Educator(s): Inclusive term that applies to all classroom teachers and Specialized Instructional Support Personnel, unless otherwise noted.
- F) *Educator Plan: The growth or improvement actions identified as part of each Educator's evaluation. The type of plan is determined by the Educator's career

stage, overall performance rating, and the rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement. There shall be four types of Educator Plans:

- i) Developing Educator Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator for one school year or less for an Educator without Professional Teacher Status (PTS); or, at the discretion of an Evaluator, for an Educator with PTS in a new assignment.
- ii) Self-Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator for one or two school years for Educators with PTS who are rated proficient or exemplary.
- iii) Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator of one school year or less for Educators with PTS who are rated needs improvement.
- Improvement Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Evaluator of at least 45 calendar days and no more than one school year for Educators with PTS who are rated unsatisfactory with goals specific to improving the Educator's unsatisfactory performance. In those cases where an Educator is rated unsatisfactory near the close of a school year, the plan may include activities during the summer preceding the next school year, but said activities are not required.
- G) *ESE: The Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.
- *Evaluation: The ongoing process of defining goals and identifying, gathering, and using information as part of a process to improve professional performance (the "formative evaluation" and "formative assessment") and to assess total job effectiveness and make personnel decisions (the "summative evaluation").
- *Evaluator: Any person designated by a superintendent who has primary or supervisory responsibility for observation and evaluation. The superintendent is responsible for ensuring that all Evaluators have training in the principles of supervision and evaluation. Each Educator will have one primary Evaluator at any one time responsible for determining performance ratings.
 - i) Primary Evaluator shall be the person who determines the Educator's performance ratings and evaluation. The Primary Evaluator may be the Supervising Evaluator.

- Supervising Evaluator shall be the person responsible for developing the Educator Plan, supervising the Educator's progress through formative assessments, evaluating the Educator's progress toward attaining the Educator Plan goals, and making recommendations about the evaluation ratings to the primary Evaluator at the end of the Educator Plan.
- who is assigned to more than one building will be evaluated by the appropriate administrator where the individual is assigned most of the time. The principal of each building in which the Educator serves must review and sign the evaluation, and may add written comments. In cases where there is no predominate assignment, the superintendent will determine who the primary evaluator will be.
- iv) Notification: The primary Evaluator and supervising Evaluator, if any, will only be those designated on the Evaluation Responsibility List and may not be changed without formal agreement between the UEP and the school committee.
- J) Evaluation Cycle: A five-component process that all Educators follow consisting of 1) Self-Assessment; 2) Goal-setting and Educator Plan development; 3) Implementation of the Plan; 4) Formative Assessment/Evaluation; and 5) Summative Evaluation.
- K) *Experienced Educator: An educator with Professional Teacher Status (PTS).
- L) *Family: Includes students' parents, legal guardians, foster parents, or primary caregivers.
- M) *Formative Assessment: The process used to assess progress towards attaining goals set forth in Educator plans, performance on standards, or both. This process may take place at any time(s) during the cycle of evaluation, but typically takes place at mid-cycle.
- *Formative Evaluation: An evaluation conducted at the end of Year 1 for an Educator on a 2-year Self-Directed Growth plan which is used to arrive at a rating on progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice, or both.
- O) *Goal: A specific, actionable, and measurable area of improvement as set forth in an Educator's plan. A goal may pertain to any or all of the following: Educator

- practice in relation to Performance Standards, Educator practice in relation to indicators, or specified improvement in student learning, growth and achievement.
- P) *Measurable: That which can be classified or estimated in relation to a scale, rubric, or standards.
- Q) Multiple Measures of Student Learning: Measures must include a combination of classroom, school and district assessments, student growth percentiles on state assessments, if state assessments are available, and student MEPA gain scores. This definition may be revised as required by regulations or agreement of the parties upon issuance of ESE guidance expected by July 2012.
- *Observation: A data gathering process that includes notes and judgments made during one or more classroom or work site visits(s) of any duration by the Evaluator and may include examination of artifacts of practice including student work. An observation must occur in person.

Classroom or work site observations conducted pursuant to this article must result in feedback to the Educator. Normal supervisory responsibilities of department, building and district administrators will also cause administrators to drop in on classes and other activities in the work site at various times as deemed necessary by the administrator. Carrying out these supervisory responsibilities, when they do not result in targeted and constructive feedback to the Educator, are not observations as defined in this Article.

- S) **Parties**: The parties to this agreement are the Pittsfield school committee (SC) and the United Educators of Pittsfield (UEP).
- T) *Performance Rating: Describes the Educator's performance on each performance standard and overall. There shall be four performance ratings:
 - i) Exemplary: the Educator's performance consistently and significantly exceeds the requirements of a standard or overall. The rating of exemplary on a standard indicates that practice significantly exceeds proficient and could serve as a model of practice on that standard districtwide.

- ii) **Proficient**: the Educator's performance fully and consistently meets the requirements of a standard or overall. Proficient practice is understood to be fully satisfactory.
- iii) **Needs Improvement**: the Educator's performance on a standard or overall is below the requirements of a standard or overall, but is not considered to be unsatisfactory at this time. Improvement is necessary and expected.
- iv) **Unsatisfactory**: the Educator's performance on a standard or overall has not significantly improved following a rating of needs improvement, or the Educator's performance is consistently below the requirements of a standard or overall and is considered inadequate, or both.
- Werformance Standards: Locally developed standards and indicators pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71, § 38 and consistent with, and supplemental to 603 CMR 35.00. The parties may agree to limit standards and indicators to those set forth in 603 CMR 35.03.
- V) *Professional Teacher Status: PTS is the status granted to an Educator pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71, § 41.
- W) Rating of Educator Impact on Student Learning: A rating of high, moderate or low based on trends and patterns on state assessments and district-determined measures. The parties will negotiate the process for using state and district-determined measures to arrive at an Educator's rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement, using guidance and model contract language from ESE.
- X) Rating of Overall Educator Performance: The Educator's overall performance rating is based on the Evaluator's professional judgment and examination of evidence of the Educator's performance against the four Performance Standards and the Educator's attainment of goals set forth in the Educator Plan, as follows:
 - i) Standard 1: Curriculum, Planning and Assessment
 - ii) Standard 2: Teaching All Students
 - iii) Standard 3: Family and Community Engagement
 - iv) Standard 4: Professional Culture
 - v) Attainment of Professional Practice Goal(s)
 - vi) Attainment of Student Learning Goal(s)
- Y) *Rubric: A scoring tool that describes characteristics of practice or artifacts at different levels of performance. The rubrics for Standards and Indicators of

Effective Teaching Practice are used to rate Educators on Performance Standards, these rubrics consists of:

- i) Standards: Describes broad categories of professional practice, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03
- ii) Indicators: Describes aspects of each standard, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03
- iii) Elements: Defines the individual components under each indicator
- iv) Descriptors: Describes practice at four levels of performance for each element
- Z) Specialists: Educators who teach or counsel individual or small groups of students through consultation with the regular classroom teacher, for example, school nurses, guidance counselors, speech and language pathologists, and some reading specialists and special education teachers.
- *Summative Evaluation: An evaluation used to arrive at a rating on each standard, an overall rating, and as a basis to make personnel decisions. The summative evaluation includes the Evaluator's judgments of the Educator's performance against Performance Standards and the Educator's attainment of goals set forth in the Educator's Plan.
- BB) *Superintendent: The person employed by the school committee pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71 §59 and §59A. The superintendent is responsible for the implementation of 603 CMR 35.00.
- *Teacher: An Educator employed in a position requiring a certificate or license as described in 603 CMR 7.04(3)(a, b, and d) and in the area of vocational education as provided in 603 CMR 4.00. Teachers may include, for example, classroom teachers, librarians, guidance counselors, or school nurses.
- DD) *Trends in student learning: At least two years of data from the district-determined measures and state assessments used in determining the Educator's rating on impact on student learning as high, moderate or low.
- EE) **Walkthrough**: An informal visit that provides an opportunity for evaluators to see an overview of the individual classrooms. Walkthroughs shall not be used for evaluative purposes. Evaluators are not required to provide feedback after a walkthrough.

- 3. **Evidence Used In Evaluation**: The following categories of evidence shall be used in evaluating each Educator:
 - A) Multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, which shall include:
 - Measures of student progress on classroom assessments that are aligned with the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks or other relevant frameworks and are comparable within grades or subjects in a school;
 - ii) At least two district-determined measures of student learning related to the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks or the Massachusetts Vocational Technical Education Frameworks or other relevant frameworks that are comparable across grades and/or subjects district-wide. These measures may include: portfolios, approved commercial assessments and district-developed pre and post unit and course assessments, and capstone projects. One such measure shall be the MCAS Student Growth Percentile (SGP) or Massachusetts English Proficiency Assessment gain scores, if applicable, in which case at least two years of data is required.
 - iii) Measures of student progress and/or achievement toward student learning goals set between the Educator and Evaluator for the school year or some other period of time established in the Educator Plan.
 - (a) For classroom teachers: The educator shall propose classroom-based assessments that are scored using an agreed upon district or school rubric or scoring guide. Rubrics will be determined by teams of teachers by grade level/subject matter/school-wide.
 - (b) For Specialists: The educator shall select an assessment that will be used to measure student learning outcomes directly related to the learning goals outlined in IEP, treatment plans, or other student-specific goals.
 - iv) For Educators whose primary role is not as a classroom teacher, the appropriate measures of the Educator's contribution to student learning, growth, and achievement as negotiated by the UEP and the district. The measures must be based on the Educator's role and responsibility.
 - v) Other measure(s) discussed by the educator and evaluator may include but not be limited to individual, grade level and/or content area teams, or whole school metrics such as;

- (a) Grading patterns.
- (b) Course taking patterns.
- (c) Promotion, retention and/or graduation rates.
- (d) Performance on Advance Placement, SAT, PSAT, ACT, ASVAB and other standardized measures.
- (e) Feedback from student surveys. The parties agree to negotiate protocols based on DESE guidance.
- (f) Excessive student absenteeism shall be factored into measures of teacher proficiency.
- B) Judgments based on observations and artifacts of practice including:
 - i) Unannounced observations of practice of any duration.
 - ii) Announced observation(s) for non-PTS Educators in their first year of practice in a school, Educators on Improvement Plans, and as determined by the Evaluator.
 - iii) Examination of Educator work products.
 - iv) Examination of student work samples.
 - v) Observations of interactions and contributions to grade level or content area teams.
 - vi) Contributions to school or districts committees.
 - vii) Attendance at professional development activities.
- C) Evidence relevant to one or more Performance Standards, including but not limited to:
 - i) Evidence compiled and presented by the Educator, including:
 - (a) Evidence of fulfillment of professional responsibilities and growth such as self-assessments, peer collaboration, professional development linked to goals in the Educator plans, contributions to the school community and professional culture;
 - (b) Evidence of active outreach to and engagement with families;
 - ii) Evidence of progress towards professional practice goal(s);
 - iii) Evidence of progress toward student learning outcomes goal(s).
 - iv) Student and staff feedback (see #23 and 24 below).

v) Any other relevant evidence from any source that the Evaluator shares with the Educator and the Educator agrees is relevant. Other relevant information could include information provided by other administrators.

4. Rubric

The rubrics are a scoring tool used for the Educator's self-assessment, the formative assessment, the formative evaluation and the summative evaluation. The districts may use either the rubrics provided by ESE or comparably rigorous and comprehensive rubrics developed or adopted by the district and reviewed by ESE.

5. Evaluation Cycle: Training

- A) Prior to the implementation of the new evaluation process contained in this article, districts shall arrange training for all Educators, principals, and other evaluators that outlines the components of the new evaluation process and provides an explanation of the evaluation cycle. The district through the superintendent shall determine the type and quality of training based on guidance provided by ESE.
- By November 1st of the first year of this agreement, all Educators shall complete a professional learning activity about self-assessment and goal-setting satisfactory to the superintendent or principal. Any Educator hired after the November 1st date, and who has not previously completed such an activity, shall complete such a professional learning activity about self-assessment and goal-setting within three months of the date of hire. The district through the superintendent shall determine the type and quality of the learning activity based on guidance provided by ESE.

6. Evaluation Cycle: Annual Orientation

- A) At the start of each school year, the superintendent, principal or designee shall conduct a meeting for Educators and Evaluators focused substantially on educator evaluation. The superintendent, principal or designee shall:
 - Provide an overview of the evaluation process, including goal setting and the educator plans.
 - ii) Provide all Educators with directions for obtaining a copy of the forms used by the district. These may be electronically provided.

iii) The presenter may be digitally recorded to facilitate orientation of Educators hired after the beginning of the school year.

7. Evaluation Cycle: Self-Assessment

- A) Completing the Self-Assessment
 - i) The evaluation cycle begins with the Educator completing and submitting to the Primary or Supervising Evaluator a self-assessment by November 1st or within four weeks of the start of their employment at the school.
 - ii) The self-assessment includes:
 - (a) An analysis of evidence of student learning, growth and achievement for students under the Educator's responsibility.
 - (b) An assessment of practice against each of the four Performance Standards of effective practice using the district's rubric.
 - (c) Proposed goals to pursue:
 - (1) At least one goal directly related to improving the Educator's own professional practice.
 - (2) At least one goal directly related to improving student learning.

B) Proposing the goals

- i) Educators must consider goals for grade-level, subject-area, department teams, or other groups of Educators who share responsibility for student learning and results, except as provided in (ii) below. Educators may meet with teams to consider establishing team goals. Evaluators may participate in such meetings.
- ii) For Educators in their first year of practice, the Evaluator or his/her designee will meet with each Educator by October 1st (or within four weeks of the Educator's first day of employment if the Educator begins employment after September 15th) to assist the Educator in completing the self-assessment and drafting the professional practice and student learning goals which must include induction and mentoring activities.
- iii) Unless the Evaluator indicates that an Educator in his/her second or third years of practice should continue to address induction and mentoring goals

- pursuant to 603 CMR 7.12, the Educator may address shared grade level or subject area team goals.
- iv) For Educators with PTS and ratings of proficient or exemplary, the goals may be team goals. In addition, these Educators may include individual professional practice goals that address enhancing skills that enable the Educator to share proficient practices with colleagues or develop leadership skills.
- v) For Educators with PTS and ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory, the professional practice goal(s) must address specific standards and indicators identified for improvement. In addition, the goals may address shared grade level or subject area team goals.

8. Evaluation Cycle: Goal Setting and Development of the Educator Plan

- A) Every Educator has an Educator Plan that includes, but is not limited to, one goal related to the improvement of practice; one goal for the improvement of student learning. The Plan also outlines actions the Educator must take to attain the goals established in the Plan and benchmarks to assess progress. Goals may be developed by individual Educators, in conjunction with the Evaluator, or by teams, departments, or groups of Educators who have the similar roles and/or responsibilities. See Sections 15-19 for more on Educator Plans.
 - Educators will be provided time (during a faculty meeting or a half day in September 2012) to prepare goals and Educator plans. School and District goals will be provided to the Educators.
 - ii) Team time must be provided to consider team goals.
 - iii) Consultation time with Specialists may be required to complete Educator goals.
 - iv) Times provided above will not interfere with preparation time or Educator lunch. Evaluators will minimize interfering with teaching time for the above activities.
- B) To determine the goals to be included in the Educator Plan, the Evaluator reviews the goals the Educator has proposed in the Self-Assessment, using evidence of Educator performance and impact on student learning, growth and achievement based on the Educator's self-assessment and other sources that Evaluator shares with the Educator. The process for determining the Educator's impact on student

learning, growth and achievement will be determined after ESE issues guidance on this matter. See #22, below.

- C) Educator Plan Development Meetings shall be conducted as follows:
 - i) Educators in the same school may meet with the Evaluator in teams and/or individually at the end of the previous evaluation cycle or by October 15th of the next academic year to develop their Educator Plan. Educators shall not be expected to meet outside of contractually required school days.
 - ii) For those Educators new to the school, the meeting with the Evaluator to establish the Educator Plan must occur by October 15th or within six weeks of the start of their assignment in that school if the start date is after September 1st.
 - iii) The Evaluator shall meet individually with Educators with PTS and ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory to develop professional practice goal(s) that must address specific standards and indicators identified for improvement. In addition, the goals may address shared grade level or subject matter goals.
 - iv) Times provided above will not interfere with preparation time or Educator lunch. Evaluators will minimize interfering with teaching time for the above activities.
- D) The Evaluator completes the Educator Plan by November 1st. The Educator shall sign the Educator Plan within 5 school days of its receipt and may include a written response. The Educator's signature indicates that the Educator received the plan in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents. The Evaluator retains final authority over the content of the Educator's Plan.

9. Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts – Educators without PTS

- A) In the first year of practice or first year assigned to a school:
 - i) The Educator shall have at least one announced observation during the school year using the protocol described in section 11B, below.
 - ii) The Educator shall have at least four unannounced observations during the school year.

- B) In their second and third years of practice or second and third years as a non-PTS Educator in the school:
 - The Educator shall have at least three unannounced observations during the school year.

10. Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts – Educators with PTS

- A) The Educator whose overall rating is proficient or exemplary must have at least one unannounced observation during the evaluation cycle.
- B) The Educator whose overall rating is needs improvement must be observed according to the Directed Growth Plan during the period of Plan which must include at least two unannounced observations.
- C) The Educator whose overall rating is unsatisfactory must be observed according to the Improvement Plan which must include both unannounced and announced observation. The number and frequency of the observations shall be determined by the Evaluator, but in no case, for improvement plans of one year, shall there be fewer than one announced and four unannounced observations. For Improvement Plans of six months or fewer, there must be no fewer than one announced and two unannounced observations.

11. Observations

The Evaluator's first observation of the Educator will meet the requirements of the timeline. Observations required by the Educator Plan should be completed by April 15th for Educators receiving summative evaluations and completing their evaluation cycle. The Evaluator may conduct additional observations after this date but may not be included in the summative evaluation without the consent of the Educator with UEP representation.

Educators on the first year of a two-year plan may be observed throughout the entire school year. The Evaluator is not required nor expected to review all the indicators in a rubric during an observation.

A) Unannounced Observations

i) Unannounced observations may be in the form of partial or full-period classroom visitations. Whenever an unannounced observation is taking

place, the Evaluator will inform the Educator an observation is being conducted by placing an orange copy of the unannounced observation form on the Educator's desk before beginning the observation.

ii)

- (a) Multiple visits to a classroom should be made at different times throughout the day.
- (b) The Evaluator should meet the minimum required number of visits for each Educator. However, receiving more than the minimum required visits should be viewed as routine unless otherwise indicated in written feedback.
- the Evaluator will be provided with at least brief written feedback from the Evaluator within 3-5 school days of the observation. The written feedback shall be delivered to the Educator in person, placed in the Educator's mailbox in a sealed envelope, sent through a secure evaluation system such as Teach Point, or mailed to the Educator's home.
- iv) Any observation or series of observations resulting in one or more standards judged to be unsatisfactory or needs improvement for the first time must be followed by at least one observation of at least 30 minutes in duration within 30 school days.
- v) The Educator may, within 5 school days, respond in writing to any observation. If the Evaluator uses the observation in the evaluation, the Educator's response must also be included.

B) Announced Observations

- i) All non-PTS Educators in their first year in the school, PTS Educators on Improvement Plans and other educators at the discretion of the evaluator shall have at least one Announced Observation by the Primary Evaluator.
 - (a) The Evaluator and Educator shall select the date and time of the lesson or activity to be observed and discuss with the Educator any specific goal(s) for the observation.
 - (b) Within 5 school days of the scheduled observation, upon request of either the Evaluator or Educator, the Evaluator and Educator shall meet for a pre-observation conference. In lieu of a meeting, the Educator may inform the Evaluator in writing of the nature of the

lesson, the student population served, and any other information that will assist the Evaluator to assess performance.

- (1) The Educator shall provide the Evaluator a draft of the lesson, student conference, IEP plan or activity. If the actual plan is different, the Educator will provide the Evaluator with a copy prior to the observation.
- (2) The Educator will be notified as soon as possible if the Evaluator will not be able to attend the scheduled observation. The observation will be rescheduled with the Educator as soon as reasonably practical.
- (c) Within 10 school days of the observation, the Evaluator and Educator shall meet for a post-observation conference barring extreme circumstances.
- (d) The Evaluator shall provide the Educator with written feedback within 5 school days of the post-observation conference. For any standard where the Educator's practice was found to be unsatisfactory or needs improvement, the feedback must:
 - (1) Describe the basis for the Evaluator's judgment.
 - (2) Describe actions the Educator should take to improve his/her performance.
 - (3) Identify support and/or resources the Educator may use in his/her improvement.
 - (4) State that the Educator is responsible for addressing the need for improvement.
- (e) The Educator may, within 5 school days, respond in writing to any observation. If the Evaluator uses the observation in the evaluation, the Educator's response must also be included.
- Teacher Leaders and Observations
 Teacher leaders may conduct observations as defined below:

Developing Educator - First Year

Two (2) out of the required four (4) unannounced observations may be completed by a Teacher Leader.

The required announced observation must be done by Primary or Supervising Evaluator.

Any 30 minute follow up within 30 school days for partial or contradictory evidence must be done by the Primary or Supervising Evaluator.

Developing Educator - Second/Third Year

One (1) out of three (3) required unannounced observations may be completed by a Teacher Leader.

Any 30 minute follow up within 30 school days for partial or contradictory evidence must be done by the Primary or Supervising Evaluator.

Self-Directed 2 Year Plan - PTS -

One (1) unannounced observation must be performed by the Primary or Supervising Evaluator. Any additional observations may be completed by the Teacher Leader. The Primary or Supervising Evaluator must complete the majority of the observations.

Any 30 minute follow up within 30 school days for partial or contradictory evidence must be done by the Primary or Supervising Evaluator.

12. Evaluation Cycle: Formative Assessment

A) A specific purpose for evaluation is to promote student learning, growth and achievement by providing Educators with feedback for improvement. Evaluators are expected to make frequent unannounced visits to classrooms. Evaluators are expected to give targeted constructive feedback to Educators based on their observations of practice, examination of artifacts, and analysis of multiple

- measures of student learning, growth and achievement in relation to the Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice.
- B) Formative Assessment may be ongoing throughout the evaluation cycle but typically takes place mid-cycle when a Formative Assessment report is completed. For an Educator on a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan, the mid-cycle Formative Assessment report is replaced by the Formative Evaluation report at the end of year one. See section 13, below.
- C) The Formative Assessment report provides written feedback and ratings to the Educator about his/her progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on Performance Standards and overall, or both.
- D) The Educator shall provide to the Evaluator by January 5th evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining professional practice and student learning goals. The educator may provide to the evaluator additional evidence of the educator's performances against the four Performance Standards.
- E) Upon the request of either the Evaluator or the Educator, the Evaluator and the Educator will meet either before or after completion of the Formative Assessment Report.
- F) The Evaluator shall complete the Formative Assessment report and provide a copy to the Educator. All Formative Assessment reports must be signed by the Evaluator and delivered face-to-face, through a secure evaluation system such as Teach Point, or to the Educator's school mailbox in a sealed envelope or mailed home.
- G) The Educator may reply in writing to the Formative Assessment report within 5 school days of receiving the report.
- H) The Educator shall sign the Formative Assessment report within 5 school days of receiving the report. The signature indicates that the Educator received the Formative Assessment report in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- I) As a result of the Formative Assessment Report, the Evaluator may change the activities in the Educator Plan.
- J) If the rating in the Formative Assessment report differs from the last summative rating the Educator received, the Evaluator may place the Educator on a different Educator Plan, appropriate to the new rating.

13. Evaluation Cycle: Formative Evaluation for Two Year Self-Directed Plans Only

- A) Educators on two year Self-Directed Growth Educator Plans receive a Formative Evaluation report near the end of the first year of the two year cycle. The Educator's performance rating for that year shall be assumed to be the same as the previous summative rating unless evidence demonstrates a significant change in performance in which case the rating on the performance standards may change, and the Evaluator may place the Educator on a different Educator plan, appropriate to the new rating.
- B) The Formative Evaluation report provides written feedback and ratings to the Educator about his/her progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on each performance standard and overall, or both.
- No less than two weeks before the due date for the Formative Evaluation report, which due date shall be established by the Evaluator with written notice provided to the Educator, the Educator shall provide to the Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining professional practice and student learning goals. The educator may also provide to the evaluator additional evidence of the educator's performance against the four Performance Standards.
- D) The Evaluator shall complete the Formative Evaluation report and provide a copy to the Educator. All Formative Evaluation reports must be signed by the Evaluator and delivered face-to-face, sent through a secure evaluation system such as Teach Point, or to the Educator's school mailbox in a sealed envelope or mailed home.
- E) Upon the request of either the Evaluator or the Educator, the Evaluator and the Educator will meet either before or after completion of the Formative Evaluation Report.
- F) The Educator may reply in writing to the Formative Evaluation report within 5 school days of receiving the report.
- G) The Educator shall sign the Formative Evaluation report within 5 school days of receiving the report. The signature indicates that the Educator received the Formative Evaluation report in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.

- H) As a result of the Formative Evaluation report, the Evaluator may change the activities in the Educator Plan.
- I) If the rating in the Formative Evaluation report differs from the last summative rating the Educator received, the Evaluator may place the Educator on a different Educator Plan, appropriate to the new rating.

14. Evaluation Cycle: Summative Evaluation

- A) The evaluation cycle concludes with a summative evaluation report. For Educators on a one or two year Educator Plan, the summative report must be written and provided to the educator by May 15th.
- B) The Evaluator determines a rating on each standard and an overall rating based on the Evaluator's professional judgment, an examination of evidence against the Performance Standards and evidence of the attainment of the Educator Plan goals.
- C) The professional judgment of the primary evaluator shall determine the overall summative rating that the Educator receives.
- D) For an educator whose overall performance rating is exemplary or proficient and whose impact on student learning is low, the evaluator's supervisor shall discuss and review the rating with the evaluator and the supervisor shall confirm or revise the educator's rating. In cases where the superintendent serves as the primary evaluator, the superintendent's decision on the rating shall not be subject to review.
- E) The summative evaluation rating must be based on evidence from multiple categories of evidence. MCAS Growth scores shall not be the sole basis for a summative evaluation rating.
- F) To be rated proficient overall, the Educator shall, at a minimum, have been rated proficient on the Curriculum, Planning and Assessment and the Teaching All Students Standards of Effective Teaching Practice.
- No less than four weeks before the due date for the Summative Evaluation report, which due date shall be established by the Evaluator with written notice provided to the Educator, the Educator will provide to the Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining professional practice and student learning goals. The educator may also provide to the evaluator additional evidence of the educator's performance against the four Performance Standards.

- H) The Summative Evaluation report should recognize areas of strength as well as identify recommendations for professional growth.
- The Evaluator shall deliver a signed copy of the Summative Evaluation report to the Educator face-to-face, through a secure evaluation system such as Teach Point, or to the Educator's school mailbox in a sealed envelope or mailed home no later than May 15th.
- J) The Evaluator shall meet with the Educator rated needs improvement or unsatisfactory to discuss the summative evaluation. The meeting shall occur by June 1st.
- K) The Evaluator may meet with the Educator rated proficient or exemplary to discuss the summative evaluation, if either the Educator or the Evaluator requests such a meeting. The meeting shall occur by June 10th.
- L) Upon mutual agreement, the Educator and the Evaluator may develop the Self-Directed Growth Plan for the following two years during the meeting on the Summative Evaluation report.
- M) The Educator shall sign the final Summative Evaluation within 10 school days of the report or by June 15th, whichever is sooner. The signature indicates that the Educator received the Summative Evaluation report in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- N) The Educator shall have the right to respond in writing within 30 days to the summative evaluation which shall become part of the final Summative Evaluation report.
- O) A copy of the signed final Summative Evaluation report shall be filed in the Educator's personnel file.

15. Educator Plans – General

- A) Educator Plans shall be designed to provide Educators with feedback for improvement, professional growth, and leadership; and to ensure Educator effectiveness and overall system accountability. The Plan must be aligned to the standards and indicators and be consistent with district and school goals.
- B) The Educator Plan shall include, but is not limited to:
 - i) At least one goal related to improvement of practice tied to one or more Performance Standards;

- ii) At least one goal for the improvement of the learning, growth and achievement of the students under the Educator's responsibility;
- iii) An outline of actions the Educator must take to attain the goals and benchmarks to assess progress. Actions must include specified professional development and learning activities that the Educator will participate in as a means of obtaining the goals, as well as other support that may be suggested by the Evaluator or provided by the school or district. Examples may include but are not limited to course work, self-study, action research, curriculum development, and study groups with peers.
- C) It is the Educator's responsibility to attain the goals in the Plan and to participate in any training and professional development provided through the state, district, or other providers in accordance with the Educator Plan. If an Educator is required by the District to participate in any training and/or professional development in accordance with the Educator Plan, the District will pay for the cost of the prior approved training and/or professional development.

16. Educator Plans: Developing Educator Plan

- A) The Developing Educator Plan is for all Educators without PTS.
- B) The Educator shall be evaluated at least annually.

17. Educator Plans: Self-Directed Growth Plan

- A) A Two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary, and whose impact on student learning is moderate or high. A formative evaluation report is completed at the end of year 1 and a summative evaluation report at the end of year 2.
- B) A One-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary, and whose impact on student learning is low. In this case, the Evaluator and Educator shall analyze the discrepancy between the summative evaluation rating and the rating for impact on student learning to seek to determine the cause(s) of the discrepancy.

18. Educator Plans: Directed Growth Plan

- A) A Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS whose overall rating is needs improvement.
- B) The goals in the Plan must address areas identified as needing improvement as determined by the Evaluator.
- C) The Evaluator shall complete a summative evaluation for the Educator at the end of the period determined by the Plan, but at least annually, and in no case later than June 10th.
- D) For an Educator on a Directed Growth Plan whose overall performance rating is at least proficient, the Evaluator will place the Educator on a Self-Directed Growth Plan for the next Evaluation Cycle.
- E) For an Educator on a Directed Growth Plan whose overall performance rating is not at least proficient, the Evaluator will rate the Educator as unsatisfactory and will place the Educator on an Improvement Plan for the next Evaluation Cycle.

19. Educator Plans: Improvement Plan

- A) An Improvement Plan is for those Educators with PTS whose overall rating is unsatisfactory.
- B) The parties agree that in order to provide students with the best instruction, it may be necessary from time to time to place an Educator whose practice has been rated as unsatisfactory on an Improvement Plan of no fewer than 45 calendar days (beginning on the first day of the school year following the summative evaluation) and no more than one school year.
- C) The Evaluator must complete a summative evaluation for the Educator at the end of the period determined by the Evaluator for the Plan.
- D) An Educator on an Improvement Plan shall be assigned a Supervising Evaluator (see definitions). The Supervising Evaluator is responsible for providing the Educator with guidance and assistance in accessing the resources and professional development outlined in the Improvement Plan. The primary evaluator may be the Supervising Evaluator.
- E) The Improvement Plan shall define the problem(s) of practice identified through the observations and evaluation and detail the improvement goals to be met, the activities the Educator must take to improve and the assistance to be provided to the Educator by the district.

- F) The Improvement Plan process shall include:
 - i) Within ten school days of notification to the Educator that the Educator is being placed on an Improvement Plan, the Evaluator shall schedule a meeting with the Educator to discuss the Improvement Plan. The Evaluator will develop the Improvement Plan, which will include the provision of specific assistance to the Educator.
 - ii) The Educator may request that a representative of the UEP attend the meeting(s).
 - iii) If the Educator consents, the UEP will be informed that an Educator has been placed on an Improvement Plan.
- G) The Improvement Plan shall:
 - i) Define the improvement goals directly related to the performance standard(s) and/or student learning outcomes that must be improved;
 - ii) Describe the activities and work products the Educator must complete as a means of improving performance;
 - iii) Describe the assistance that the district will make available to the Educator;
 - iv) Articulate the measurable outcomes that will be accepted as evidence of improvement;
 - Detail the timeline for completion of each component of the Plan,
 including at a minimum a mid-cycle formative assessment report of the
 relevant standard(s) and indicator(s);
 - vi) Identify the individuals assigned to assist the Educator which must include minimally the Supervising Evaluator; and,
 - vii) Include the signatures of the Educator and Supervising Evaluator.
- H) A copy of the signed Plan shall be provided to the Educator. The Educator's signature indicates that the Educator received the Improvement Plan in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- I) A decision on the Educator's status at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan.
 - i) All determinations below must be made no later than June 1. One of three decisions must be made at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan:

- (a) If the Evaluator determines that the Educator has improved his/her practice to the level of proficiency, the Educator will be placed on a Self-Directed Growth Plan.
- (b) (i) In those cases where the Educator was placed on an Improvement Plan as a result of his/her summative rating at the end of his/her Directed Growth Plan, if the Evaluator determines that the Educator is making substantial progress toward proficiency, the Evaluator shall place the Educator on a Directed Growth Plan.
 - (ii) In those cases where the Educator was placed on an Improvement Plan as a result of his/her Summative rating at the end of his/her Directed Growth Plan, if the Evaluator determines that the Educator is not making substantial progress toward proficiency, the Evaluator shall recommend to the superintendent that the Educator be dismissed.
- (c) If the Evaluator determines that the Educator's practice remains at the level of unsatisfactory, the Evaluator shall recommend to the superintendent that the Educator be dismissed.

20. Timelines for Educators on a 1 year plan.

Activity:	Completed By:
Superintendent, principal or designee meets with evaluators and educators to explain evaluation process	September 15th
Evaluator meets with first-year educators to assist in self-assessment and goal setting process	October 1
Educator submits self-assessment and proposed goals. Evaluator meets with Educators in teams or individually to establish Educator Plans (Educator Plan may be established at Summative Evaluation Report meeting in prior school year)	October 15
Evaluator completes Educator Plans	November 1
Evaluator should complete first observation of each Educator	December 1 st
Educator submits evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired)	January 5th

Evaluator should complete mid-cycle Formative Assessment Reports.	February 1
Evaluator holds Formative Assessment Meetings if requested by either Evaluator or Educator	February 15
Educator submits evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired)	4 weeks prior to Summative Evaluation Report date established by evaluator
Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report	May 15
Evaluator meets with Educators whose overall Summative Evaluation ratings are Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory	June 1
Evaluator meets with Educators whose ratings are proficient or exemplary at request of Evaluator or Educator	June 10
Educator signs Summative Evaluation Report and adds response, if any within 10 school days of receipt or by June 15th, whichever is sooner.	June 15

Timelines for Educators with PTS on Two Year Plans

Activity:	Completed By:
Evaluator completes unannounced observations	Any time during the 2 year evaluation cycle
Superintendent, principal or designee meets with evaluators and educators to explain evaluation process	September 15
Educator submits self-assessment and proposed goals.	October 15
Evaluator meets with Educators in teams or individually to establish Educator Plans (Educator Plan may be established at Summative Evaluation Report meeting prior school year)	(of year one)
Evaluator completes Educator Plans	November 1
	(of year one)
Educator submits evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired)	Date established by Evaluator but no earlier than May 1st.
	(Year One)
Evaluator completes Formative Evaluation Report	June 1 of Year 1
Evaluator conducts Formative Evaluation Meeting, if any	June 1 of Year 1
Educator submits evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired)	Date established by Evaluator but no earlier than May 1st. (Year Two)
Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report	May 15 of Year 2
Evaluator meets with Educators whose ratings are proficient or exemplary at request of Evaluator or Educator	June 10 of Year 2, or by the last day of school, whichever is sooner.
Educator signs Summative Evaluation Report and adds response, if any within 10 school days of receipt or by June 15th, whichever is sooner.	June 15 of Year 2, or by the last day of school, whichever is sooner.

Timelines for Educators on Plans of Less than One Year

The timeline for educators on Plans of less than one year will be established in the Educator Plan.

NOTE: Timelines in this evaluation document may be adjusted by mutual agreement for Educators who suffer extended illnesses or leaves of absence. The Evaluator will meet with the Educator upon their return to discuss an appropriate modification to deadlines for the parties.

21. Career Advancement

- A) In order to attain Professional Teacher Status, the Educator should achieve ratings of proficient or exemplary on each Performance Standard and overall. A principal considering making an employment decision that would lead to PTS for any Educator who has not been rated proficient or exemplary on each performance standard and overall on the most recent evaluation shall confer with the superintendent by May 1. The principal's decision is subject to review and approval by the superintendent.
- B) In order to qualify to apply for a teacher leader position, the Educator must have had a Summative Evaluation performance rating of proficient or exemplary for at least the previous two years.
- C) Educators with PTS whose summative performance rating is exemplary and, after 2013-14 whose impact on student learning is rated moderate or high, shall be recognized and rewarded with leadership roles, promotions, additional compensation, public commendation or other acknowledgement as determined by the district through collective bargaining where applicable.

22. Rating Impact on Student Learning Growth

ESE will provide model contract language and guidance on rating educator impact on student learning growth based on state and district-determined measures of student learning by July 15, 2012. Upon receiving this model contract language and guidance, the parties agree to bargain with respect to this matter.

23. Using Student feedback in Educator Evaluation

ESE will provide model contract language, direction and guidance on using student feedback in Educator Evaluation by June 30, 2013. Upon receiving this model contract language, direction and guidance, the parties agree to bargain with respect to this matter.

24. Using Staff feedback in Educator Evaluation

ESE will provide model contract language, direction and guidance on using staff feedback in Administrator Evaluation by June 30, 2013. Upon receiving this model contract language, direction and guidance, the parties agree to bargain with respect to this matter.

25. Transition from Existing Evaluation System

- A) All Educators who are not on a corrective action plan will be rated "Proficient" and those on a corrective action plan will be rated "Needs Improvement"...
- B) Educators will remain on their current cycle for evaluation purposes. Those Educators with PTS who have just completed an evaluation cycle will be considered as beginning their two year cycle under this agreement. Those Educators in their second year of the evaluation cycle will be evaluated under the former agreement.
- C) The existing evaluation system will remain in effect until the provisions set forth in this Article are implemented. The relevant time frame for adopting and implementing new systems is set forth in 603 CMR 35.11(1).
- D) All non PTS Educators will be evaluated under this agreement.

26. General Provisions

- A) Only Educators who are licensed and trained may serve as primary evaluators of Educators.
 - i. The superintendent or their designee will inform the UEP who has satisfied the evaluator training requirements.
 - ii. Primary evaluators will be trained in accordance with ESE guidelines. The superintendent or their designee will provide the UEP with the details of the training.

- B) Evaluators shall not make negative comments about the Educator's performance, or comments of a negative evaluative nature, in the presence of students, parents or other staff, except in the unusual circumstance where the Evaluator concludes that s/he must immediately and directly intervene. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to limit an administrator's ability to investigate a complaint, or secure assistance to support an Educator.
- C) The superintendent shall insure that Evaluators have training in supervision and evaluation, including the regulations and standards and indicators of effective teaching practice promulgated by ESE (35.03), and the evaluation Standards and Procedures established in this Agreement.
- D) Should there be a serious disagreement between the Educator and the Evaluator regarding an overall summative performance rating of unsatisfactory, the Educator may meet with the Evaluator's supervisor to discuss the disagreement. Should the Educator request such a meeting, the Evaluator's supervisor must meet with the Educator. The Evaluator may attend any such meeting at the discretion of the superintendent. The Educator has the right to have UEP representation attend this meeting.
- E) Administration will notify the UEP of all Unit A Educator Plans (year and type) by June 15th. Educators placed on to a directed growth plan or an improvement plan shall meet with both the Evaluator and a UEP representative to create the plan.

27. Implementation

The parties agree to maintain a joint labor-management evaluation team which shall review the evaluation processes and procedures annually through the first three years of implementation and recommend adjustments to the parties. The parties agree to meet to discuss any recommended adjustments.

Violations of this article are subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures. The arbitrator shall determine whether there was substantial compliance with the totality of the evaluation process. When the evaluation process results in the termination or non-renewal of an Educator, then no financial remedy or reinstatement shall issue if there was substantial compliance.

Evaluation Responsibilities

Position	Primary	Supervising	Teacher Leader
Elementary Educator	Principal	School Community Coordinator, Dean of Students, and/or Curriculum Coordinator	
Middle School Educator	Principal	Vice Principal, Dean of Students, and/or Curriculum Coordinator	Team Leader
MS Team Leaders	Principal	Vice Principal , Dean of Students, and/or Curriculum Coordinator	
High School Educator	Principal	Vice Principal, Dean of Students, and/or Curriculum Coordinator	Department Head
HS Department Head	Principal	Vice Principal, Dean of Students, and/or Curriculum Coordinator	
CVTE Educator	Principal	Vice Principal, Dean of Students, Asst. Superintendent for Vocational, Workforce, and College Readiness Programs	Department Head
Special Education Educator	Principal or Director	Supervisor, Director, Vice Principal, Dean of Students, and/or Curriculum Coordinator	Unit Leader
OT / PT	Director	Supervisor, Principal, Vice Principal, Dean of Students, and/or Curriculum Coordinator	Unit Leader
Itinerant Speech / Hearing	Director	Supervisor, Principal, Vice Principal, Dean of Students, and/or Curriculum Coordinator	Unit Leader
Itinerant Specialists	Principal*	Principal**, Vice Principal, Community Coordinator, Dean of Students, Curriculum Coordinator	Unit Leader or Department Head
Caseworker	Director or Supervisor	Principal, Vice Principal, Dean of Students, Director, or Supervisor	Unit Leader or Department Head
Adult Basic Education Educator	Director	None	
School Nurses	Principal	School Community Coordinator, Dean of Students, Vice Principal	Nurse Leader
Nurse Leader	Deputy Superintendent	Principal	

Note: School Community Coordinators and Deans of Students can be Supervising Evaluators as long as they hold a valid DESE license at the appropriate level, and have received training in accordance with Section 4(A) above.

^{*} Where itinerant educator spends most of their time or otherwise determined by mutual agreement

^{**}At the school the educator spends the lesser amount of their instructional time.

APPENDIX C

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Pittsfield voted on May 15, 2008 to accept M.G.L. c. 32B, §19, as amended by Chapter 67 of the Acts of 2007, (Section 19); and

WHEREAS the City of Pittsfield (hereinafter referred to as "City") and the duly-formed Public Employee Committee (hereinafter referred to as "PEC") has agreed to transfer from the Commonwealth's Group Insurance Commission (GIC) to the Massachusetts Interlocal Insurance Association/BlueCross BlueShield Massachusetts (MIIA/BCBSMA); and

WHEREAS, the City and PEC have negotiated for such transfer;

NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the PEC agree as follows:

Effective Date and Duration of Agreement

1. The Agreement shall take effect on the date the City and the PEC execute the Agreement and shall remain in effect through June 30, 2018.

Transfer of Health Coverage from the GIC to MIIA/BCBSMA

- 2. The City shall transfer subscribers from the GIC to MIIA/BCBSMA effective July 1, 2015, and shall continue coverage through MIIA/BCBSMA through June 30, 2018. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "subscribers" shall mean all employees, retirees, surviving spouses and dependents, currently eligible for and receiving health insurance through the City and any employees, retirees, surviving spouses and dependents who become eligible in the future.
- 3. The City shall provide notice to the GIC of the City's transferring subscribers from the GIC to MIIA/BCBSMA by sending a formal letter of termination of coverage to the GIC by October 1, 2014.
- 4. The City shall take all reasonable and necessary actions required by the GIC and/or MIIA/BCBSMA to effectuate the transfer no later than July 1, 2015 and to maintain coverage thereafter for the duration of this Agreement.

Contribution Splits

HMO, PPO, PPO-Type, and Indemnity Plans - 85/15 Split

- 5. For the duration of this Agreement, the City shall contribute 85 percent of the premium or cost for any HMO, PPO, PPO-Type, and Indemnity plans offered by MIIA/BCBSMA and the subscriber shall contribute 15 percent.
 - If MIIA/BCBSMA offers any new or additional HMO, PPO, PPO-Type, and/or Indemnity plans during the life of this agreement, the same contribution rate shall apply.

Medicare Enrollment

6. For the duration of this Agreement, the City shall contribute the same percentage of the premium cost for any plans offered by MIIA/BCBSMA and the subscriber shall contribute the same percentage as the pre-Medicare rate for the plan selected. If MIIA/BCBSMA offers any new or additional plans during the life of this agreement, the same contribution rate shall apply. The City does not contribute toward Medicare Part B coverage.

Future Meetings of City and PEC

- 7. The PEC shall be comprised of a representative of every collective bargaining unit who shall be appointed by the union President that negotiates with the City under M.G.L. c.150E, and a retiree representative designated by the Retired State, County and Municipal Employees Association. Each union representative and the retiree representative shall have the option of allowing one additional representative to attend meetings of the PEC and the City or their designee.
- 8. The parties shall establish a regular schedule of meetings to discuss the implementation of this Agreement and any issues relating to the effectiveness and efficiency of health coverage for subscribers. Such meetings shall take place quarterly, unless mutually agreed otherwise in writing. Meetings shall be held at times and places that are mutually agreed upon by the City and the PEC. In addition, either party may convene a meeting upon seven days' notice to the other party, unless there is an emergency that requires shorter notice. Meeting notices shall be provided to the City and to the PEC in writing. The City may provide notice of a meeting or a series of meetings up to twelve months in advance of a meeting. Any employee who is a representative of the PEC shall receive time off to attend meetings between the PEC and the City with full pay and benefits.

Mitigation Fund

9. The City agrees to establish an "Employee Mitigation Fund" (EMF) of a sum equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of the actual first year's total savings as a result of the transfer to MIIA/BCBSMA. The calculations of the savings shall be the difference between total actual costs from June 2015 x's 12 (annualized) under GIC and July 2015 x's 12 (annualized) under MIIA/BCBSM. The parties agree that the EMF funds are intended to offset premium increases for members negatively impacted by the change from their current GIC plan to a like MIIA/BCBSMA plan. Said offset shall be in accordance with Appendix A of this document which will be changed each year to reflect the actual premiums of the plans. The lump sum paid for those negatively impacted will be paid out in a lump sum as soon as possible, but at least by September 1, 2016. Any remaining amount will be kept in the EMF.

In year 2 of this agreement, the City agrees to provide funding to the EMF of a sum equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of the actual 2nd year's actual cost savings as a result of the transfer to MIIA/BCBSMA not to exceed \$250,000. The calculations shall be arrived at by comparing the adjusted (July 1, 2016) GIC rates using the health plan enrollment as of June 2015 and the adjusted (July 1, 2016) MIIA/BCBSMA using the health plan enrollment as of July 2016.

In year 3 of this agreement, the City agrees to provide funding to the EMF of a sum equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of the 3rd year's actual cost savings as a result of the transfer to MIIA/BCBSMA not to exceed \$250,000. The calculations shall be arrived at by comparing the adjusted (July 1, 2017) GIC rates using the health plan enrollment as of June 2015 and the adjusted (July 1, 2017) MIIA/BCBSMA using the health plan enrollment as of July 2017.

For the duration of this agreement, the EMF funds shall accrue year after year, and shall be paid out to those negatively impacted by September 1, 2017 and September 1, 2018. The amount remaining in the fund, if any, at the end of September 1, 2018, will be agreed by the parties as to the manner of distribution to the participants in the plan. For an individual to be eligible for the final payment, the individual must have been on the plan as of July 1, 2017 and remained on the plan through June 30, 2018. Any funds not dedicated to premium offsets may be distributed in manner agreed upon by the parties but in no case shall be used for non-healthcare purposes. The parties agree to meet no later than April 15, 2018, to decide on the distribution of these funds if available. If the parties cannot agree on the distributions of these funds, then the funds shall be distributed equally to all individuals who meet the eligibility criteria above.

It is agreed that there shall be no reduction in the EMF for any administration costs throughout this agreement.

The meeting to determine the final distribution of EMF funds will occur by March 15, 2018.

Annual Accounting

The City will provide annual account statements of both the savings of the move to MIAA/BSBSMA and the EMF account balance to the PEC. A copy of said accounting shall be provided to each employee on a yearly basis.

Correspondence and Information

11. The City shall make available to the PEC copies of any correspondence between the City, the GIC, MIIA/BCBSMA or between the City and any provider of health care on a quarterly basis. Likewise, the PEC shall make all like correspondence from any healthcare provider available to the City within the same timeframe. Correspondence or information protected by HIPPA will remain confidential.

Health Coverage After June 30, 2018

- 12. This transfer of subscribers to MIIA/BCBSMA shall terminate on June 30, 2018 unless, pursuant to a successor agreement executed by the parties and/or the provisions of section 15, notice is provided to the MIIA/BCBSMA no later than October 1, 2017, that the City shall continue to provide health coverage for subscribers through the MIIA/BCBSMA effective July 1, 2018.
- 13. The parties agree to place the health plans out to competitive bid, no later than February 1, 2017 for a July 1, 2018 effective date. The competitive bid request shall be jointly developed by the City and the PEC commencing no later than December 1, 2016. Costs associated with the RFP shall be absorbed by the City. The RFP shall be issued to not less than three health insurance carriers and shall additionally include a cost and benefit comparison to the GIC.
- 14. The City or its designee and the PEC shall begin negotiations for a successor agreement pursuant to Section 19 no later than March 1, 2017. If the parties have not reached a successor agreement by October 1, 2017, the terms of this Agreement shall constitute the terms of the successor agreement except that all of the terms contained herein shall be modified to be consistent with a termination date of June 30, 2019.
- 15. In accordance with the provisions of the successor agreement, the City shall notify MIIA/BCBSMA no later than October 1, 2017, either that subscribers shall continue coverage through MIIA/BCBSMA effective July 1, 2018, the interval specified in the Agreement, or that the City is withdrawing its subscribers effective July 1, 2018.
- 16. The parties shall meet for the purposes of impact bargaining in the event any healthcare plans are modified as a result of the Patient Affordable Care Act.

Life and Dental Insurance

17. After subscribers are transferred to MIIA/BCBSMA, the City shall offer life insurance and dental insurance to subscribers at the same terms and contribution splits as were provided to group insurance participants prior to transfer to MIIA/BCBSMA.

Surviving Spouse Coverage

18. The parties agree that a surviving spouse will pay the same amount as the employee and/or retiree for health coverage in the event the employee and/or retiree dies.

Effect of Agreement

19. This Agreement shall be binding on all subscribers and shall supersede any conflicting provisions of any City policies, codes, or any collective bargaining agreements between the City, School Committee, and any unions representing City and/or School Committee employees.

Cancellation

20. In the event the City is delinquent in making payments as required by MIIA/BCBSMA and MIIA/BCBSMA notifies the City that it intends to exercise its option to cancel coverage pursuant to Section 19, the City shall immediately notify the PEC, present it a proposal for plans that are at least the actuarial equivalent of those offered by MIIA/BCBSMA, and engage in negotiations with the PEC for replacement coverage.

Arbitration of Disputes

21. Either party may submit a dispute between the parties concerning the interpretation or application of this Agreement to the American Arbitration Association for arbitration under its Labor Arbitration Rules. A request for arbitration by the PEC shall be in accordance with M.G.L. c. 32B, §19, as amended by Chapter 67 of the Acts of 2007, (Section 19).

Savings Clause

22. If any provision or portion of the Agreement is found to be unenforceable or unlawful, the remaining provisions or portions shall remain binding.

Scope and Modification

23. This Agreement shall constitute the whole of the Agreement between the City and the PEC. The Agreement may be modified only through a mutual agreement between the City and the PEC.

Dated: _	3-13	-15	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
For the 9	Myof Pittsfie	ld:			
<u> </u>	aniel	Des			manustus of the second of the
For the P	ittsfield Føde	ration of Sch	ool Employ	res Local I	31:5:
	7	Λ	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		<u> </u>
	grull.				

For the Teamsters, Local 404:

For the Retired Employees of the City of Pittsfield:

Heraf Ethille

FY16 Teachers with .5%

FY16 Teachers Base with new step 20 at 1.5% above original teachers scale step 17, and .5% increase for Ch. 70 increased funding between \$250K and \$499,999

B+30 Masters
\$38,448 \$41,514
\$39,601 \$42,760
\$40,790 \$44,043
\$42,013
\$43,273
\$44,571 \$48,126
\$45,909 \$49,570
\$47,286 \$51,057
\$48,705
\$50,166 \$54,167
\$51,671 \$55,79
\$53,221 \$57,466
\$54,818 \$59,190
\$56,462 \$60,965
\$58,156 \$62,794
\$59,900 \$64,678
\$61,697
\$63,549 \$68,617
\$65,455 \$70,675
\$66,620 \$72,484

FY17 Teachers base

FY17 Teachers base with new top step at an even 3% above prior step; step 1 dropped

Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
\$38,646	\$39,124	\$39,601	\$42,760	\$43,317	\$43,874	\$44,431	\$45,944	\$46,255	\$51,950		
\$39,806	\$40,297	\$40,790	\$44,043	\$44,617	\$45,190	\$45,764	\$47,321	\$47,642	\$53,509		
\$41,000	\$41,506	\$42,013	\$45,363	\$45,955	\$46,546	\$47,137	\$48,741	\$49,072	\$55,115	\$41,000	\$45,363
\$42,230	\$42,752	\$43,273	\$46,725	\$47,333	\$47,942	\$48,551	\$50,204	\$50,543	\$56,767	\$42,230	\$46,725
\$43,497	\$44,034	\$44,571	\$48,126	\$48,753	\$49,381	\$50,007	\$51,709	\$52,060	\$58,469	\$43,497	\$48,126
\$44,802	\$45,355	\$45,909	\$49,570	\$50,216	\$50,862	\$51,507	\$53,261	\$53,622	\$60,224	\$44,802	\$49,570
\$46,146	\$46,716	\$47,286	\$51,057	\$51,723	\$52,387	\$53,053	\$54,859	\$55,230	\$61,730	\$46,146	\$51,057
\$47,530	\$48,118	\$48,705	\$52,589	\$53,274	\$53,960	\$54,645	\$56,504	\$56,887	\$63,886	\$47,530	\$52,589
\$48,956	\$49,561	\$50,166	\$54,167	\$54,872	\$55,578	\$56,284	\$58,199	\$58,594	\$65,802	\$48,956	\$54,167
\$50,424	\$51,048	\$51,671	\$55,791	\$56,519	\$57,245	\$57,973	\$59,946	\$60,352	\$67,776	\$50,424	\$55,791
\$51,937	\$52,579	\$53,221	\$57,466	\$58,214	\$58,963	\$59,712	\$61,744	\$62,162			
\$53,496	\$54,156	\$54,818	\$59,190	\$59,960	\$60,732	\$61,503	\$63,596	\$64,027			
\$55,100	\$55,781	\$56,462	\$60,965	\$61,759	\$62,554	\$63,348	\$65,504	\$65,947			
\$56,753	\$57,454	\$58,156	\$62,794	\$63,612	\$64,430	\$65,249	\$67,469	\$67,926			
\$58,456	\$59,178	\$59,900	\$64,678	\$65,521	\$66,363	\$67,206	\$69,494	\$69,964			
\$60,210	\$60,953	\$61,697	\$66,618	\$67,486	\$68,354	\$69,222	\$71,578	\$72,063			
\$62,016	\$62,782	\$63,549	\$68,617	\$69,510	\$70,405	\$71,299	\$73,725	\$74,224			
\$63,877	\$64,666	\$65,455	\$70,675	\$71,596	\$72,517	\$73,438	\$75,938	\$76,452			
\$65,793	\$66,606	\$67,419	\$72,795	\$73,744	\$74,692	\$75,641	\$78,216	\$78,745			

FY17 Teachers .25% increase

FY17 Teachers base with new top step at an even 3% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.25% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$0 and \$249,999

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
	\$38,742	\$39,222	\$39,700	\$42,867	\$43,426	\$43,983	\$44,542	\$46,058	\$46,370	\$52,080		
2	\$39,905	\$40,398	\$40,892	\$44,153	\$44,728	\$45,303	\$45,879	\$47,439	\$47,761	\$53,643		
3	\$41,103	\$41,610	\$42,118	\$45,477	\$46,070	\$46,663	\$47,255	\$48,863	\$49,194	\$55,252	\$41,103	\$45,477
4	\$42,336	\$42,858	\$43,381	\$46,841	\$47,452	\$48,062	\$48,673	\$50,330	\$50,669	\$56,909	\$42,336	\$46,841
5	\$43,605	\$44,144	\$44,683	\$48,246	\$48,875	\$49,504	\$50,132	\$51,839	\$52,190	\$58,616	\$43,605	\$48,246
9	\$44,914	\$45,469	\$46,023	\$49,694	\$50,342	\$50,990	\$51,636	\$53,394	\$53,756	\$60,375	\$44,914	\$49,694
7	\$46,261	\$46,833	\$47,404	\$51,185	\$51,852	\$52,518	\$53,186	\$54,996	\$55,368	\$61,885	\$46,261	\$51,185
8	\$47,649	\$48,238	\$48,827	\$52,721	\$53,408	\$54,094	\$54,781	\$56,646	\$57,029	\$64,046	\$47,649	\$52,721
6	\$49,079	\$49,685	\$50,291	\$54,302	\$55,010	\$55,717	\$56,425	\$58,345	\$58,740	\$65,967	\$49,079	\$54,302
10	\$50,551	\$51,175	\$51,800	\$55,931	\$56,660	\$57,388	\$58,118	\$60,09\$	\$60,503	\$67,946	\$50,551	\$55,931
1	\$52,067	\$52,710	\$53,354	\$57,609	\$58,359	\$59,110	\$59,861	\$61,898	\$62,317			
12	\$53,630	\$54,292	\$54,955	\$59,338	\$60,110	\$60,884	\$61,656	\$63,755	\$64,187			
13	\$55,238	\$55,921	\$56,603	\$61,117	\$61,914	\$62,710	\$63,506	\$65,668	\$66,112			
14	\$56,895	\$57,598	\$58,301	\$62,951	\$63,771	\$64,591	\$65,412	\$67,638	\$68,096			
51	\$58,602	\$59,326	\$60,050	\$64,840	\$65,685	\$66,529	\$67,374	\$69,69\$	\$70,139			
16	\$60,360	\$61,106	\$61,852	\$66,785	\$67,654	\$68,525	\$66,395	\$71,757	\$72,243			
17	\$62,171	\$62,939	\$63,708	\$68,789	\$69,684	\$70,581	\$71,477	\$73,910	\$74,410			
18	\$64,036	\$64,827	\$65,619	\$70,851	\$71,775	\$72,698	\$73,622	\$76,127	\$76,643			
19	\$65,957	\$66,772	\$67,587	\$72,977	\$73,928	\$74,879	\$75,830	\$78,411	\$78,942			

FY17 Teachers .5% increase

FY17 Teachers base with new top step at an even 3% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.5% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$250,000 and \$499,999

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$38,839	\$39,319	\$39,799	\$42,974	\$43,534	\$44,093	\$44,653	\$46,173	\$46,486	\$52,210		
2	\$40,005	\$40,499	\$40,994	\$44,263	\$44,840	\$45,416	\$45,993	\$47,558	\$47,880	\$53,777		
3	\$41,205	\$41,713	\$42,223	\$45,590	\$46,185	\$46,779	\$47,372	\$48,985	\$49,317	\$55,390	\$41,205	\$45,590
4	\$42,441	\$42,965	\$43,489	\$46,958	\$47,570	\$48,182	\$48,794	\$50,455	\$50,796	\$57,051	\$42,441	\$46,958
5	\$43,714	\$44,255	\$44,794	\$48,366	\$48,997	\$49,628	\$50,257	\$51,968	\$52,320	\$58,762	\$43,714	\$48,366
9	\$45,026	\$45,582	\$46,138	\$49,818	\$50,467	\$51,117	\$51,765	\$53,527	\$53,890	\$60,525	\$45,026	\$49,818
7	\$46,376	\$46,950	\$47,523	\$51,312	\$51,981	\$52,649	\$53,318	\$55,133	\$55,506	\$62,039	\$46,376	\$51,312
8	\$47,768	\$48,358	\$48,948	\$52,852	\$53,541	\$54,229	\$54,918	\$56,787	\$57,171	\$64,205	\$47,768	\$52,852
6	\$49,201	\$49,809	\$50,417	\$54,437	\$55,147	\$55,856	\$56,565	\$58,490	\$58,887	\$66,131	\$49,201	\$54,437
10	\$50,677	\$51,303	\$51,930	\$56,070	\$56,802	\$57,532	\$58,263	\$60,246	\$60,654	\$68,115	\$50,677	\$56,070
11	\$52,197	\$52,842	\$53,487	\$57,753	\$58,505	\$59,258	\$60,010	\$62,052	\$62,473			
12	\$53,763	\$54,427	\$55,092	\$59,485	\$60,260	\$61,036	\$61,810	\$63,914	\$64,347			
13	\$55,376	\$56,060	\$56,745	\$61,270	\$62,068	\$62,866	\$63,665	\$65,832	\$66,277			
14	\$57,037	\$57,742	\$58,447	\$63,108	\$63,930	\$64,752	\$65,575	\$67,807	\$68,265			
15	\$58,748	\$59,474	\$60,200	\$65,002	\$65,849	\$66,695	\$67,542	\$69,841	\$70,314			
16	\$60,511	\$61,258	\$62,006	\$66,951	\$67,823	\$68,696	\$69,568	\$71,936	\$72,423			
17	\$62,326	\$63,096	\$63,867	\$68,960	\$69,858	\$70,757	\$71,656	\$74,094	\$74,595			
18	\$64,196	\$64,989	\$65,782	\$71,028	\$71,954	\$72,879	\$73,805	\$76,317	\$76,834			
19	\$66,122	\$66,939	\$67,756	\$73,159	\$74,112	\$75,066	\$76,019	\$78,607	\$79,139			

FY17 Teachers .75% increase

FY17 Teachers base with new top step at an even 3% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.75% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$500,000 and \$749,999

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$38,936	\$39,417	\$39,898	\$43,081	\$43,642	\$44,203	\$44,764	\$46,288	\$46,602	\$52,340		
2	\$40,104	\$40,600	\$41,096	\$44,373	\$44,951	\$45,529	\$46,108	\$47,676	\$47,999	\$53,911		
3	\$41,308	\$41,817	\$42,328	\$45,704	\$46,300	\$46,895	\$47,490	\$49,106	\$49,440	\$55,528	\$41,308	\$45,704
4	\$42,547	\$43,072	\$43,597	\$47,075	\$47,688	\$48,302	\$48,915	\$50,581	\$50,922	\$57,193	\$42,547	\$47,075
5	\$43,823	\$44,365	\$44,905	\$48,487	\$49,119	\$49,751	\$50,382	\$52,097	\$52,450	\$58,908	\$43,823	\$48,487
9	\$45,138	\$45,695	\$46,253	\$49,942	\$50,593	\$51,244	\$51,894	\$53,660	\$54,024	\$60,676	\$45,138	\$49,942
7	\$46,492	\$47,067	\$47,641	\$51,440	\$52,111	\$52,780	\$53,451	\$55,270	\$55,644	\$62,193	\$46,492	\$51,440
8	\$47,887	\$48,478	\$49,070	\$52,984	\$53,674	\$54,364	\$55,055	\$56,928	\$57,313	\$64,365	\$47,887	\$52,984
6	\$49,323	\$49,933	\$50,542	\$54,573	\$55,284	\$55,995	\$56,706	\$58,636	\$59,033	\$66,296	\$49,323	\$54,573
10	\$50,803	\$51,431	\$52,059	\$56,210	\$56,943	\$57,675	\$58,408	\$60,395	\$60,804	\$68,285	\$50,803	\$56,210
11	\$52,327	\$52,973	\$53,620	\$57,897	\$58,650	\$59,405	\$60,160	\$62,207	\$62,628			
12	\$53,897	\$54,563	\$55,229	\$59,633	\$60,410	\$61,187	\$61,964	\$64,073	\$64,507			
13	\$55,513	\$56,200	\$56,886	\$61,422	\$62,222	\$63,023	\$63,823	\$65,996	\$66,442			
14	\$57,178	\$57,885	\$58,592	\$63,265	\$64,089	\$64,913	\$65,738	\$67,975	\$68,435			
15	\$58,894	\$59,622	\$60,350	\$65,163	\$66,012	\$66,860	\$67,710	\$70,015	\$70,488			
16	\$60,661	\$61,411	\$62,160	\$67,118	\$67,992	\$68,867	\$69,741	\$72,115	\$72,603			
17	\$62,481	\$63,253	\$64,025	\$69,132	\$70,032	\$70,933	\$71,834	\$74,278	\$74,781			
18	\$64,356	\$65,151	\$65,946	\$71,205	\$72,133	\$73,061	\$73,989	\$76,507	\$77,025			
19	\$66,286	\$67,105	\$67,924	\$73,341	\$74,297	\$75,253	\$76,208	\$78,802	\$79,336			

FY17 Teachers 1.0% increase

FY17 Teachers base with new top step at an even 3% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 1.0% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase of \$750,000 or more

												Ī
Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$39,032	\$39,515	\$39,997	\$43,187	\$43,750	\$44,312	\$44,875	\$46,403	\$46,717	\$52,470		
2	\$40,204	\$40,700	\$41,198	\$44,483	\$45,063	\$45,642	\$46,222	\$47,794	\$48,118	\$54,044		
3	\$41,410	\$41,921	\$42,433	\$45,817	\$46,414	\$47,012	\$47,608	\$49,228	\$49,562	\$55,666	\$41,410	\$45,817
4	\$42,653	\$43,179	\$43,706	\$47,192	\$47,807	\$48,422	\$49,037	\$50,706	\$51,048	\$57,335	\$42,653	\$47,192
5	\$43,931	\$44,475	\$45,017	\$48,607	\$49,241	\$49,875	\$50,507	\$52,226	\$52,580	\$59,054	\$43,931	\$48,607
9	\$45,250	\$45,809	\$46,368	\$50,066	\$50,719	\$51,371	\$52,022	\$53,794	\$54,158	\$60,826	\$45,250	\$50,066
7	\$46,607	\$47,183	\$47,759	\$51,568	\$52,240	\$52,911	\$53,583	\$55,408	\$55,782	\$62,348	\$46,607	\$51,568
8	\$48,006	\$48,599	\$49,192	\$53,115	\$53,807	\$54,499	\$55,191	\$57,070	\$57,456	\$64,525	\$48,006	\$53,115
6	\$49,446	\$50,057	\$50,668	\$54,708	\$55,421	\$56,134	\$56,847	\$58,781	\$59,180	\$66,460	\$49,446	\$54,708
10	\$50,929	\$51,558	\$52,188	\$56,349	\$57,084	\$57,818	\$58,552	\$60,545	\$60,955	\$68,454	\$50,929	\$56,349
11	\$52,456	\$53,105	\$53,753	\$58,040	\$58,796	\$59,552	\$60,309	\$62,361	\$62,784			
12	\$54,031	\$54,698	\$55,366	\$59,781	\$60,560	\$61,339	\$62,118	\$64,232	\$64,667			
13	\$55,651	\$56,339	\$57,027	\$61,574	\$62,377	\$63,179	\$63,981	\$66,159	\$66,607			
14	\$57,320	\$58,029	\$58,738	\$63,422	\$64,248	\$65,074	\$65,901	\$68,144	\$68,605			
15	\$59,040	\$59,770	\$60,499	\$65,325	\$66,176	\$67,026	\$67,878	\$70,189	\$70,663			
16	\$60,812	\$61,563	\$62,314	\$67,284	\$68,161	\$69,038	\$69,914	\$72,294	\$72,783			
17	\$62,636	\$63,410	\$64,184	\$69,303	\$70,205	\$71,109	\$72,012	\$74,463	\$74,966			
18	\$64,515	\$65,312	\$66,110	\$71,381	\$72,312	\$73,242	\$74,172	\$76,697	\$77,216			
19	\$66,451	\$67,272	\$68,093	\$73,523	\$74,481	\$75,439	\$76,398	\$78,998	\$79,533			

FY18 base on FY17 .25% increase

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .25% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$39,905	\$40,398	\$40,892	\$44,153	\$44,728	\$45,303	\$45,879	\$47,439	\$47,761	\$53,643		
7	\$41,103	\$41,610	\$42,118	\$45,477	\$46,070	\$46,663	\$47,255	\$48,863	\$49,194	\$55,252		
3	\$42,336	\$42,858	\$43,381	\$46,841	\$47,452	\$48,062	\$48,673	\$50,330	\$50,669	\$56,909	\$42,336	\$46,841
4	\$43,605	\$44,144	\$44,683	\$48,246	\$48,875	\$49,504	\$50,132	\$51,839	\$52,190	\$58,616	\$43,605	\$48,246
5	\$44,914	\$45,469	\$46,023	\$49,694	\$50,342	\$50,990	\$51,636	\$53,394	\$53,756	\$60,375	\$44,914	\$49,694
9	\$46,261	\$46,833	\$47,404	\$51,185	\$51,852	\$52,518	\$53,186	\$54,996	\$55,368	\$61,885	\$46,261	\$51,185
7	\$47,649	\$48,238	\$48,827	\$52,721	\$53,408	\$54,094	\$54,781	\$56,646	\$57,029	\$64,046	\$47,649	\$52,721
8	\$49,079	\$49,685	\$50,291	\$54,302	\$55,010	\$55,717	\$56,425	\$58,345	\$58,740	\$65,967	\$49,079	\$54,302
6	\$50,551	\$51,175	\$51,800	\$55,931	\$56,660	\$57,388	\$58,118	\$60,09\$	\$60,503	\$67,946	\$50,551	\$55,931
10	\$52,067	\$52,710	\$53,354	\$57,609	\$58,359	\$59,110	\$59,861	\$61,898	\$62,317	\$68,965	\$52,067	\$57,609
11	\$53,630	\$54,292	\$54,955	\$59,338	\$60,110	\$60,884	\$61,656	\$63,755	\$64,187			
12	\$55,238	\$55,921	\$56,603	\$61,117	\$61,914	\$62,710	\$63,506	\$65,668	\$66,112			
13	\$56,895	\$57,598	\$58,301	\$62,951	\$63,771	\$64,591	\$65,412	\$67,638	\$68,096			
14	\$58,602	\$59,326	\$60,050	\$64,840	\$65,685	\$66,529	\$67,374	\$69,668	\$70,139			
15	\$60,360	\$61,106	\$61,852	\$66,785	\$67,654	\$68,525	\$66,395	\$71,757	\$72,243			
16	\$62,171	\$62,939	\$63,708	\$68,789	\$69,684	\$70,581	\$71,477	\$73,910	\$74,410			
17	\$64,036	\$64,827	\$65,619	\$70,851	\$71,775	\$72,698	\$73,622	\$76,127	\$76,643			
18	\$65,957	\$66,772	\$67,587	\$72,977	\$73,928	\$74,879	\$75,830	\$78,411	\$78,942			
19	\$66,947	\$67,774	\$68,601	\$74,072	\$75,037	\$76,002	\$76,968	\$79,587	\$80,126			

FY18 .25% on FY17 .25% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .25% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.25% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$0 and \$249,999

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$40,005	\$40,499	\$40,994	\$44,263	\$44,840	\$45,417	\$45,993	\$47,558	\$47,880	\$53,777		
2	\$41,205	\$41,714	\$42,223	\$45,591	\$46,185	\$46,779	\$47,373	\$48,985	\$49,317	\$55,390		
3	\$42,442	\$42,966	\$43,490	\$46,958	\$47,570	\$48,182	\$48,794	\$50,455	\$50,796	\$57,051	\$42,442	\$46,958
4	\$43,714	\$44,255	\$44,794	\$48,367	\$48,997	\$49,628	\$50,258	\$51,968	\$52,320	\$58,762	\$43,714	\$48,367
5	\$45,026	\$45,582	\$46,138	\$49,819	\$50,468	\$51,117	\$51,765	\$53,528	\$53,890	\$60,525	\$45,026	\$49,819
9	\$46,377	\$46,950	\$47,523	\$51,313	\$51,982	\$52,650	\$53,318	\$55,134	\$55,506	\$62,039	\$46,377	\$51,313
7	\$47,768	\$48,358	\$48,949	\$52,852	\$53,541	\$54,230	\$54,918	\$56,787	\$57,172	\$64,206	\$47,768	\$52,852
8	\$49,201	\$49,809	\$50,417	\$54,438	\$55,147	\$55,856	\$56,566	\$58,491	\$58,887	\$66,132	\$49,201	\$54,438
6	\$50,677	\$51,303	\$51,930	\$56,071	\$56,802	\$57,532	\$58,263	\$60,246	\$60,654	\$68,116	\$50,677	\$56,071
10	\$52,197	\$52,842	\$53,487	\$57,753	\$58,505	\$59,258	\$60,011	\$62,053	\$62,473	\$69,137	\$52,197	\$57,753
11	\$53,764	\$54,427	\$55,092	\$59,486	\$60,260	\$61,036	\$61,811	\$63,915	\$64,347			
12	\$55,376	\$56,060	\$56,745	\$61,270	\$62,068	\$62,867	\$63,665	\$65,832	\$66,278			
13	\$57,037	\$57,742	\$58,447	\$63,108	\$63,930	\$64,752	\$65,576	\$67,807	\$68,266			
14	\$58,749	\$59,474	\$60,200	\$65,002	\$65,849	\$69,695	\$67,542	\$69,842	\$70,314			
51	\$60,511	\$61,259	\$62,006	\$66,952	\$67,824	\$68,697	\$69,568	\$71,937	\$72,423			
91	\$62,326	\$63,097	\$63,867	\$68,961	\$69,858	\$70,757	\$71,656	\$74,095	\$74,596			
<i>L</i> 1	\$64,196	\$64,989	\$65,783	\$71,028	\$71,954	\$72,880	\$73,806	\$76,318	\$76,834			
18	\$66,122	\$66,939	\$67,756	\$73,159	\$74,113	\$75,066	\$76,020	\$78,607	\$79,139			
19	\$67,114	\$67,943	\$68,772	\$74,257	\$75,225	\$76,192	\$77,160	879,786	\$80,327			

FY18 .5% on FY17 .25% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .25% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.5% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$250,000 and \$499,999

Č			Š		* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *		**	/09+W	4		Nurses -	Nurses -
Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	VI+I5	M+30	M+45	CAGS	Dr.	OI/PI	RN/BSN	MA/NS
1	\$40,105	\$40,600	\$41,096	\$44,373	\$44,952	\$45,530	\$46,108	\$47,677	\$47,999	\$53,911		
2	\$41,308	\$41,818	\$42,328	\$45,704	\$46,300	\$46,896	\$47,491	\$49,107	\$49,440	\$55,529		
3	\$42,548	\$43,073	\$43,598	\$47,076	\$47,689	\$48,303	\$48,916	\$50,581	\$50,923	\$57,194	\$42,548	\$47,076
4	\$43,823	\$44,365	\$44,906	\$48,487	\$49,120	\$49,752	\$50,383	\$52,098	\$52,451	\$58,909	\$43,823	\$48,487
5	\$45,139	\$45,696	\$46,253	\$49,943	\$50,594	\$51,244	\$51,894	\$53,661	\$54,024	\$60,676	\$45,139	\$49,943
9	\$46,492	\$47,067	\$47,641	\$51,441	\$52,111	\$52,781	\$53,451	\$55,271	\$55,645	\$62,194	\$46,492	\$51,441
7	\$47,887	\$48,479	\$49,071	\$52,984	\$53,675	\$54,365	\$55,055	\$56,929	\$57,314	\$64,366	\$47,887	\$52,984
8	\$49,324	\$49,933	\$50,543	\$54,574	\$55,285	\$55,996	\$56,707	\$58,637	\$59,034	\$66,297	\$49,324	\$54,574
6	\$50,803	\$51,431	\$52,059	\$56,211	\$56,944	\$57,675	\$58,408	\$60,396	\$60,805	\$68,285	\$50,803	\$56,211
10	\$52,327	\$52,974	\$53,621	\$57,897	\$58,651	\$59,406	\$60,160	\$62,208	\$62,629	\$69,310	\$52,327	\$57,897
11	\$53,898	\$54,563	\$55,230	\$59,634	\$60,411	\$61,188	\$61,965	\$64,074	\$64,508			
12	\$55,514	\$56,200	\$56,886	\$61,423	\$62,223	\$63,024	\$63,824	\$65,997	\$66,443			
13	\$57,179	\$57,886	\$58,593	\$63,265	\$64,090	\$64,914	\$65,739	\$67,976	\$68,436			
14	\$58,895	\$59,623	\$60,350	\$65,164	\$66,013	\$66,861	\$67,710	\$70,016	\$70,489			
15	\$60,662	\$61,411	\$62,161	\$67,119	\$67,993	\$68,868	\$69,742	\$72,116	\$72,604			
16	\$62,482	\$63,254	\$64,026	\$69,133	\$70,033	\$70,934	\$71,835	\$74,279	\$74,782			
17	\$64,356	\$65,152	\$65,947	\$71,206	\$72,134	\$73,062	\$73,990	\$76,508	\$77,026			
18	\$66,287	\$67,106	\$67,925	\$73,342	\$74,298	\$75,254	\$76,209	\$78,803	\$79,337			
19	\$67,281	\$68,113	\$68,944	\$74,442	\$75,412	\$76,382	\$77,353	\$79,985	\$80,527			

FY18 .75% on FY17 .25% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .25% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.75% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$500,000 and \$749,999

			Ī	Ī	Ī	Ī	Ī					
Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$40,205	\$40,701	\$41,199	\$44,484	\$45,064	\$45,643	\$46,223	\$47,795	\$48,119	\$54,045		
2	\$41,411	\$41,922	\$42,434	\$45,818	\$46,415	\$47,013	\$47,609	\$49,229	\$49,563	\$55,667		
3	\$42,653	\$43,180	\$43,706	\$47,193	\$47,808	\$48,423	\$49,038	\$50,707	\$51,049	\$57,336	\$42,653	\$47,193
4	\$43,932	\$44,476	\$45,018	\$48,608	\$49,242	\$49,875	\$50,508	\$52,227	\$52,581	\$59,055	\$43,932	\$48,608
5	\$45,251	\$45,810	\$46,368	\$50,067	\$50,719	\$51,372	\$52,023	\$53,795	\$54,159	\$60,827	\$45,251	\$50,067
9	\$46,608	\$47,184	\$47,760	\$51,569	\$52,241	\$52,912	\$53,584	\$55,409	\$55,783	\$62,349	\$46,608	\$51,569
7	\$48,006	\$48,600	\$49,193	\$53,116	\$53,808	\$54,500	\$55,192	\$57,071	\$57,457	\$64,526	\$48,006	\$53,116
8	\$49,447	\$50,058	\$50,668	\$54,709	\$55,422	\$56,135	\$56,848	\$58,782	\$59,181	\$66,461	\$49,447	\$54,709
6	\$50,930	\$51,559	\$52,189	\$56,350	\$57,085	\$57,819	\$58,554	\$60,546	\$60,956	\$68,455	\$50,930	\$56,350
10	\$52,457	\$53,106	\$53,754	\$58,042	\$58,797	\$59,554	\$60,310	\$62,362	\$62,785	\$69,482	\$52,457	\$58,042
11	\$54,032	\$54,699	\$55,367	\$59,783	\$60,561	\$61,340	\$62,119	\$64,233	\$64,668			
12	\$55,652	\$56,340	\$57,028	\$61,576	\$62,378	\$63,180	\$63,983	\$66,161	\$66,608			
13	\$57,321	\$58,030	\$58,739	\$63,423	\$64,249	\$65,075	\$65,903	\$68,145	\$68,606			
14	\$59,042	\$59,771	\$60,501	\$65,326	\$66,177	\$67,028	867,879	\$70,190	\$70,665			
15	\$60,813	\$61,564	\$62,315	\$67,286	\$68,162	\$69,039	\$69,915	\$72,295	\$72,784			
16	\$62,637	\$63,411	\$64,186	\$69,305	\$70,207	\$71,110	\$72,013	\$74,464	\$74,968			
17	\$64,516	\$65,314	\$66,111	\$71,383	\$72,313	\$73,243	\$74,174	\$76,698	\$77,218			
18	\$66,452	\$67,273	\$68,094	\$73,524	\$74,482	\$75,441	\$76,399	\$78,999	\$79,534			
19	\$67,449	\$68,282	\$69,115	\$74,627	\$75,600	\$76,572	\$77,545	\$80,184	\$80,727			

FY18 1.0% on FY17 .25% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .25% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 1.0% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase of \$750,000 or more

ř	- -		96.4	,	1	00.34	17 7	/09+W	4		Nurses -	Nurses -
Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	SI+IN	M+30	M+45	CAGS	Dr.	OI/PI	RN/BSN	MANNS
1	\$40,304	\$40,802	\$41,301	\$44,594	\$45,175	\$45,756	\$46,337	\$47,914	\$48,238	\$54,180		
2	\$41,514	\$42,026	\$42,539	\$45,932	\$46,530	\$47,129	\$47,727	\$49,351	\$49,686	\$55,805		
3	\$42,759	\$43,287	\$43,815	\$47,310	\$47,926	\$48,543	\$49,159	\$50,833	\$51,176	\$57,478	\$42,759	\$47,310
4	\$44,041	\$44,586	\$45,129	\$48,729	\$49,364	\$49,999	\$50,634	\$52,357	\$52,712	\$59,202	\$44,041	\$48,729
5	\$45,363	\$45,923	\$46,484	\$50,191	\$50,845	\$51,499	\$52,152	\$53,928	\$54,293	826,09\$	\$45,363	\$50,191
9	\$46,723	\$47,301	\$47,878	\$51,697	\$52,371	\$53,043	\$53,717	\$55,546	\$55,922	\$62,504	\$46,723	\$51,697
7	\$48,126	\$48,720	\$49,315	\$53,248	\$53,942	\$54,635	\$55,329	\$57,212	\$57,599	\$64,686	\$48,126	\$53,248
8	\$49,569	\$50,182	\$50,794	\$54,845	\$55,560	\$56,274	\$56,989	\$58,928	\$59,328	\$66,626	\$49,569	\$54,845
6	\$51,056	\$51,687	\$52,318	\$56,490	\$57,227	\$57,962	\$58,699	\$60,697	\$61,108	\$68,625	\$51,056	\$56,490
10	\$52,588	\$53,237	\$53,887	\$58,186	\$58,943	\$59,701	\$60,460	\$62,517	\$62,941	\$69,655	\$52,588	\$58,186
11	\$54,166	\$54,835	\$55,504	\$59,931	\$60,711	\$61,493	\$62,273	\$64,393	\$64,829			
12	\$55,790	\$56,480	\$57,169	\$61,728	\$62,533	\$63,337	\$64,141	\$66,325	\$66,773			
13	\$57,464	\$58,174	\$58,885	\$63,580	\$64,408	\$65,237	\$66,066	\$68,314	\$68,776			
14	\$59,188	\$59,919	\$60,651	\$65,488	\$66,342	\$67,194	\$68,047	\$70,364	\$70,840			
15	\$60,964	\$61,717	\$62,470	\$67,453	\$68,331	\$69,210	\$70,089	\$72,475	\$72,965			
16	\$62,792	\$63,569	\$64,345	\$69,477	\$70,381	\$71,287	\$72,192	\$74,649	\$75,154			
17	\$64,677	\$65,476	\$66,275	\$71,560	\$72,493	\$73,425	\$74,358	\$76,889	\$77,409			
18	\$66,617	\$67,440	\$68,263	\$73,707	\$74,667	\$75,628	\$76,589	\$79,195	\$79,732			
19	\$67,616	\$68,452	\$69,287	\$74,812	\$75,787	\$76,762	\$77,737	\$80,383	\$80,928			

FY18 base on FY17 .5% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .5% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped

Bachelor B+15 B+30 Masters M+15 M \$40,005 \$40,004 \$44,063 \$44,840 \$24,840	B+15 B+30 Masters M+15 I	Masters M+15 I	M+15 I	1	 	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
\$40,499 \$40,994 \$44,203 \$41,713 \$42,223 \$45,590	\$40,499 \$40,994 \$44,203 \$41,713 \$42,223 \$45,590	\$44,263 \$45,590			\$44,840 \$46,185	\$45,416 \$46,779	\$47,372	\$47,538	\$47,880 \$49,317	\$55,777		
\$42,441 \$42,965 \$43,489 \$46,958	\$43,489		\$46,958		\$47,570	\$48,182	\$48,794	\$50,455	\$50,796	\$57,051	\$42,441	\$46,958
\$43,714 \$44,255 \$44,794 \$48,366	\$44,794		\$48,366		\$48,997	\$49,628	\$50,257	\$51,968	\$52,320	\$58,762	\$43,714	\$48,366
\$45,026 \$45,582 \$46,138 \$49,818	\$46,138		\$49,818		\$50,467	\$51,117	\$51,765	\$53,527	\$53,890	\$60,525	\$45,026	\$49,818
\$46,376 \$46,950 \$47,523 \$51,312	\$47,523		\$51,312		\$51,981	\$52,649	\$53,318	\$55,133	\$55,506	\$62,039	\$46,376	\$51,312
\$47,768 \$48,358 \$48,948 \$52,852	\$48,948		\$52,852		\$53,541	\$54,229	\$54,918	\$56,787	\$57,171	\$64,205	\$47,768	\$52,852
\$49,201 \$49,809 \$50,417 \$54,437	\$50,417		\$54,437		\$55,147	\$55,856	\$56,565	\$58,490	\$58,887	\$66,131	\$49,201	\$54,437
\$50,677 \$51,303 \$51,930 \$56,070	\$51,930		\$56,070		\$56,802	\$57,532	\$58,263	\$60,246	\$60,654	\$68,115	\$50,677	\$56,070
\$52,197 \$52,842 \$53,487 \$57,753 \$	\$53,487 \$57,753	\$57,753		•	\$58,505	\$59,258	\$60,010	\$62,052	\$62,473	\$69,137	\$52,197	\$57,753
\$53,763 \$54,427 \$55,092 \$59,485	\$55,092		\$59,485		\$60,260	\$61,036	\$61,810	\$63,914	\$64,347			
\$55,376 \$56,060 \$56,745 \$61,270	\$56,745		\$61,270		\$62,068	\$62,866	\$63,665	\$65,832	\$66,277			
\$57,037 \$57,742 \$58,447 \$63,108	\$58,447		\$63,108		\$63,930	\$64,752	\$65,575	\$67,807	\$68,265			
\$58,748 \$59,474 \$60,200 \$65,002	\$60,200		\$65,002		\$65,849	\$66,695	\$67,542	\$69,841	\$70,314			
\$60,511 \$61,258 \$62,006 \$66,951	\$62,006		\$66,951		\$67,823	\$68,696	\$69,568	\$71,936	\$72,423			
\$62,326 \$63,096 \$63,867 \$68,960	\$63,867		\$68,960		\$69,858	\$70,757	\$71,656	\$74,094	\$74,595			
\$64,196 \$64,989 \$65,782 \$71,028	\$65,782		\$71,028		\$71,954	\$72,879	\$73,805	\$76,317	\$76,834			
\$66,122 \$66,939 \$67,756 \$73,159	\$67,756		\$73,159		\$74,112	\$75,066	\$76,019	\$78,607	\$79,139			
\$67,114 \$67,943 \$68,772 \$74,256	\$68,772		\$74,256		\$75,224	\$76,192	\$77,160	\$79,786	\$80,326			

FY18 .25% on FY17 .5% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .5% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.25% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$0 and \$249,999

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$40,105	\$40,600	\$41,096	\$44,373	\$44,952	\$45,530	\$46,108	\$47,677	\$47,999	\$53,911		
2	\$41,308	\$41,818	\$42,328	\$45,704	\$46,300	\$46,896	\$47,491	\$49,107	\$49,440	\$55,529		
3	\$42,548	\$43,073	\$43,598	\$47,076	\$47,689	\$48,303	\$48,916	\$50,581	\$50,923	\$57,194	\$42,548	\$47,076
4	\$43,823	\$44,365	\$44,906	\$48,487	\$49,120	\$49,752	\$50,383	\$52,098	\$52,451	\$58,909	\$43,823	\$48,487
5	\$45,139	\$45,696	\$46,253	\$49,943	\$50,594	\$51,244	\$51,894	\$53,661	\$54,024	\$60,676	\$45,139	\$49,943
9	\$46,492	\$47,067	\$47,641	\$51,441	\$52,111	\$52,781	\$53,451	\$55,271	\$55,645	\$62,194	\$46,492	\$51,441
7	\$47,887	\$48,479	\$49,071	\$52,984	\$53,675	\$54,365	\$55,055	\$56,929	\$57,314	\$64,366	\$47,887	\$52,984
8	\$49,324	\$49,933	\$50,543	\$54,574	\$55,285	\$55,996	\$56,707	\$58,637	\$59,034	\$66,297	\$49,324	\$54,574
6	\$50,803	\$51,431	\$52,059	\$56,211	\$56,944	\$57,675	\$58,408	\$60,396	\$60,805	\$68,285	\$50,803	\$56,211
10	\$52,327	\$52,974	\$53,621	\$57,897	\$58,651	\$59,406	\$60,160	\$62,208	\$62,629	\$69,310	\$52,327	\$57,897
11	\$53,898	\$54,563	\$55,230	\$59,634	\$60,411	\$61,188	\$61,965	\$64,074	\$64,508			
12	\$55,514	\$56,200	\$56,886	\$61,423	\$62,223	\$63,024	\$63,824	\$65,997	\$66,443			
13	\$57,179	\$57,886	\$58,593	\$63,265	\$64,090	\$64,914	\$65,739	\$67,976	\$68,436			
14	\$58,895	\$59,623	\$60,350	\$65,164	\$66,013	\$66,861	\$67,710	\$70,016	\$70,489			
15	\$60,662	\$61,411	\$62,161	\$67,119	\$67,993	\$68,868	\$69,742	\$72,116	\$72,604			
16	\$62,482	\$63,254	\$64,026	\$69,133	\$70,033	\$70,934	\$71,835	\$74,279	\$74,782			
17	\$64,356	\$65,152	\$65,947	\$71,206	\$72,134	\$73,062	\$73,990	\$76,508	\$77,026			
18	\$66,287	\$67,106	\$67,925	\$73,342	\$74,298	\$75,254	\$76,209	\$78,803	\$79,337			
19	\$67,281	\$68,113	\$68,944	\$74,442	\$75,412	\$76,382	\$77,353	\$79,985	\$80,527			

FY18 .5% on FY17 .5% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .5% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.5% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$250,000 and \$499,999

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$40,205	\$40,701	\$41,199	\$44,484	\$45,064	\$45,643	\$46,223	\$47,796	\$48,119	\$54,046		
2	\$41,411	\$41,922	\$42,434	\$45,818	\$46,416	\$47,013	\$47,609	\$49,230	\$49,564	\$55,667		
3	\$42,654	\$43,180	\$43,707	\$47,193	\$47,808	\$48,423	\$49,038	\$50,707	\$51,050	\$57,336	\$42,654	\$47,193
4	\$43,933	\$44,476	\$45,018	\$48,608	\$49,242	\$49,876	\$50,509	\$52,228	\$52,582	\$59,055	\$43,933	\$48,608
5	\$45,251	\$45,810	\$46,369	\$50,067	\$50,720	\$51,372	\$52,024	\$53,795	\$54,159	\$60,828	\$45,251	\$50,067
9	\$46,608	\$47,185	\$47,760	\$51,569	\$52,241	\$52,912	\$53,585	\$55,409	\$55,784	\$62,349	\$46,608	\$51,569
7	\$48,007	\$48,600	\$49,193	\$53,116	\$53,808	\$54,501	\$55,193	\$57,071	\$57,457	\$64,526	\$48,007	\$53,116
8	\$49,447	\$50,058	\$50,669	\$54,710	\$55,423	\$56,135	\$56,848	\$58,783	\$59,181	\$66,462	\$49,447	\$54,710
6	\$50,930	\$51,560	\$52,189	\$56,351	\$57,086	\$57,819	\$58,554	\$60,547	\$60,957	\$68,456	\$50,930	\$56,351
10	\$52,458	\$53,106	\$53,754	\$58,042	\$58,797	\$59,554	\$60,311	\$62,363	\$62,785	\$69,483	\$52,458	\$58,042
11	\$54,032	\$54,699	\$55,367	\$59,783	\$60,561	\$61,341	\$62,119	\$64,234	\$64,669			
12	\$55,653	\$56,340	\$57,028	\$61,576	\$62,378	\$63,181	\$63,983	\$66,161	\$66,609			
13	\$57,322	\$58,030	\$58,739	\$63,423	\$64,249	\$65,076	\$65,903	\$68,146	\$68,607			
14	\$59,042	\$59,771	\$60,501	\$65,327	\$66,178	\$67,028	\$67,879	\$70,191	\$70,665			
15	\$60,813	\$61,565	\$62,316	\$67,286	\$68,162	\$69,040	\$69,916	\$72,296	\$72,785			
16	\$62,637	\$63,412	\$64,186	\$69,305	\$70,207	\$71,111	\$72,014	\$74,465	\$74,968			
17	\$64,517	\$65,314	\$66,111	\$71,383	\$72,314	\$73,244	\$74,174	\$76,699	\$77,218			
18	\$66,452	\$67,273	\$68,095	\$73,525	\$74,483	\$75,441	\$76,399	\$79,000	\$79,535			
19	\$67,449	\$68,283	\$69,116	\$74,628	\$75,600	\$76,573	\$77,545	\$80,185	\$80,728			

FY18 .75% on FY17 .5% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .5% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.75% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$500,000 and \$749,999

											,	Nurses -
Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	MA/NS NC
1	\$40,305	\$40,803	\$41,301	\$44,595	\$45,176	\$45,757	\$46,338	\$47,914	\$48,239	\$54,180		
2	\$41,514	\$42,026	\$42,540	\$45,932	\$46,531	\$47,130	\$47,728	\$49,352	\$49,687	\$55,806		
3	\$42,760	\$43,288	\$43,815	\$47,310	\$47,927	\$48,543	\$49,160	\$50,833	\$51,177	\$57,479	\$42,760	\$47,310
4	\$44,042	\$44,586	\$45,130	\$48,729	\$49,365	\$50,000	\$50,634	\$52,358	\$52,712	\$59,202	\$44,042	\$48,729
5	\$45,364	\$45,924	\$46,484	\$50,192	\$50,846	\$51,500	\$52,153	\$53,929	\$54,294	860,979	\$45,364	\$50,192
9	\$46,724	\$47,302	\$47,879	\$51,697	\$52,371	\$53,044	\$53,718	\$55,547	\$55,922	\$62,504	\$46,724	\$51,697
7	\$48,126	\$48,721	\$49,316	\$53,249	\$53,942	\$54,636	\$55,330	\$57,213	\$57,600	\$64,687	\$48,126	\$53,249
8	\$49,570	\$50,182	\$50,795	\$54,846	\$55,560	\$56,275	\$56,990	\$58,929	\$59,329	\$66,627	\$49,570	\$54,846
6	\$51,057	\$51,688	\$52,319	\$56,491	\$57,228	\$57,963	\$58,700	\$60,697	\$61,108	\$68,626	\$51,057	\$56,491
10	\$52,588	\$53,238	\$53,888	\$58,186	\$58,944	\$59,702	\$60,461	\$62,518	\$62,941	\$69,655	\$52,588	\$58,186
11	\$54,167	\$54,835	\$55,505	\$59,932	\$60,712	\$61,493	\$62,274	\$64,394	\$64,830			
12	\$55,791	\$56,481	\$57,170	\$61,729	\$62,533	\$63,338	\$64,142	\$66,326	\$66,774			
13	\$57,464	\$58,175	\$58,885	\$63,581	\$64,409	\$65,238	\$66,067	\$68,315	\$68,777			
14	\$59,189	\$59,920	\$60,651	\$65,489	\$66,342	\$67,195	\$68,048	\$70,365	\$70,841			
15	\$60,964	\$61,718	\$62,471	\$67,453	\$68,332	\$69,211	\$70,090	\$72,476	\$72,966			
16	\$62,793	\$63,569	\$64,346	\$69,477	\$70,382	\$71,287	\$72,193	\$74,650	\$75,155			
17	\$64,677	\$65,476	\$66,276	\$71,561	\$72,493	\$73,426	\$74,359	\$76,890	\$77,410			
18	\$66,618	\$67,441	\$68,264	\$73,708	\$74,668	\$75,629	\$76,589	\$79,196	\$79,733			
19	\$67,617	\$68,452	\$69,288	\$74,813	\$75,788	\$76,763	\$77,738	\$80,384	\$80,929			

FY18 1.0% on FY17 .5% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17.5% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 1.0% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase of \$750,000 or more

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$40,405	\$40,904	\$41,404	\$44,705	\$45,288	\$45,871	\$46,453	\$48,033	\$48,359	\$54,315		
2	\$41,617	\$42,131	\$42,645	\$46,046	\$46,647	\$47,247	\$47,846	\$49,474	\$49,810	\$55,944		
3	\$42,866	\$43,395	\$43,924	\$47,428	\$48,046	\$48,664	\$49,282	\$50,960	\$51,304	\$57,622	\$42,866	\$47,428
4	\$44,151	\$44,697	\$45,242	\$48,850	\$49,487	\$50,124	\$50,760	\$52,488	\$52,843	\$59,349	\$44,151	\$48,850
5	\$45,476	\$46,038	\$46,599	\$50,316	\$50,972	\$51,628	\$52,283	\$54,063	\$54,429	\$61,130	\$45,476	\$50,316
9	\$46,840	\$47,419	\$47,998	\$51,826	\$52,501	\$53,176	\$53,851	\$55,685	\$56,061	\$62,659	\$46,840	\$51,826
7	\$48,246	\$48,842	\$49,438	\$53,381	\$54,076	\$54,772	\$55,467	\$57,355	\$57,743	\$64,847	\$48,246	\$53,381
8	\$49,693	\$50,307	\$50,921	\$54,982	\$55,698	\$56,415	\$57,131	\$59,075	\$59,476	\$66,793	\$49,693	\$54,982
6	\$51,183	\$51,816	\$52,449	\$56,631	\$57,370	\$58,107	\$58,845	\$60,848	\$61,260	\$68,796	\$51,183	\$56,631
10	\$52,719	\$53,370	\$54,022	\$58,331	\$59,090	\$59,850	\$60,611	\$62,673	\$63,098	\$69,828	\$52,719	\$58,331
11	\$54,301	\$54,971	\$55,643	\$60,080	\$60,863	\$61,646	\$62,428	\$64,553	\$64,991			
12	\$55,929	\$56,621	\$57,312	\$61,882	\$62,689	\$63,495	\$64,301	\$66,490	\$66,940			
13	\$57,607	\$58,319	\$59,031	\$63,739	\$64,569	\$65,399	\$66,231	\$68,485	\$68,948			
14	\$59,336	\$60,069	\$60,802	\$65,652	\$66,507	\$67,361	\$68,217	\$70,540	\$71,017			
15	\$61,116	\$61,871	\$62,626	\$67,621	\$68,501	\$69,383	\$70,264	\$72,656	\$73,147			
16	\$62,949	\$63,727	\$64,505	\$69,650	\$70,557	\$71,464	\$72,372	\$74,835	\$75,341			
17	\$64,838	\$65,639	\$66,440	\$71,738	\$72,673	\$73,608	\$74,543	\$77,080	\$77,602			
18	\$66,783	\$67,608	\$68,433	\$73,890	\$74,853	\$75,817	\$76,780	\$79,393	\$79,930			
19	\$67,785	\$68,622	\$69,460	\$74,999	\$75,976	\$76,954	\$77,931	\$80,584	\$81,129			

FY18 base on FY17 .75% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .75% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$40,104	\$40,600	\$41,096	\$44,373	\$44,951	\$45,529	\$46,108	\$47,676	\$47,999	\$53,911		
2	\$41,308	\$41,817	\$42,328	\$45,704	\$46,300	\$46,895	\$47,490	\$49,106	\$49,440	\$55,528		
3	\$42,547	\$43,072	\$43,597	\$47,075	\$47,688	\$48,302	\$48,915	\$50,581	\$50,922	\$57,193	\$42,547	\$47,075
4	\$43,823	\$44,365	\$44,905	\$48,487	\$49,119	\$49,751	\$50,382	\$52,097	\$52,450	\$58,908	\$43,823	\$48,487
5	\$45,138	\$45,695	\$46,253	\$49,942	\$50,593	\$51,244	\$51,894	\$53,660	\$54,024	\$60,676	\$45,138	\$49,942
9	\$46,492	\$47,067	\$47,641	\$51,440	\$52,111	\$52,780	\$53,451	\$55,270	\$55,644	\$62,193	\$46,492	\$51,440
7	\$47,887	\$48,478	\$49,070	\$52,984	\$53,674	\$54,364	\$55,055	\$56,928	\$57,313	\$64,365	\$47,887	\$52,984
8	\$49,323	\$49,933	\$50,542	\$54,573	\$55,284	\$55,995	\$56,706	\$58,636	\$59,033	\$66,296	\$49,323	\$54,573
6	\$50,803	\$51,431	\$52,059	\$56,210	\$56,943	\$57,675	\$58,408	\$60,395	\$60,804	\$68,285	\$50,803	\$56,210
10	\$52,327	\$52,973	\$53,620	\$57,897	\$58,650	\$59,405	\$60,160	\$62,207	\$62,628	\$69,309	\$52,327	\$57,897
11	\$53,897	\$54,563	\$55,229	\$59,633	\$60,410	\$61,187	\$61,964	\$64,073	\$64,507			
12	\$55,513	\$56,200	\$56,886	\$61,422	\$62,222	\$63,023	\$63,823	\$65,996	\$66,442			
13	\$57,178	\$57,885	\$58,592	\$63,265	\$64,089	\$64,913	\$65,738	\$67,975	\$68,435			
14	\$58,894	\$59,622	\$60,350	\$65,163	\$66,012	\$66,860	\$67,710	\$70,015	\$70,488			
15	\$60,661	\$61,411	\$62,160	\$67,118	\$67,992	\$68,867	\$69,741	\$72,115	\$72,603			
16	\$62,481	\$63,253	\$64,025	\$69,132	\$70,032	\$70,933	\$71,834	\$74,278	\$74,781			
17	\$64,356	\$65,151	\$65,946	\$71,205	\$72,133	\$73,061	\$73,989	\$76,507	\$77,025			
18	\$66,286	\$67,105	\$67,924	\$73,341	\$74,297	\$75,253	\$76,208	\$78,802	\$79,336			
19	\$67,281	\$68,112	\$68,943	\$74,441	\$75,411	\$76,381	\$77,352	\$79,984	\$80,526			

FY18 .25% on FY17 .75% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .75% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.25% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$0 and \$249,999

												Viirebe -
Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	MA/NS NC
1	\$40,205	\$40,701	\$41,199	\$44,484	\$45,064	\$45,643	\$46,223	\$47,795	\$48,119	\$54,045		
2	\$41,411	\$41,922	\$42,434	\$45,818	\$46,415	\$47,013	\$47,609	\$49,229	\$49,563	\$55,667		
3	\$42,653	\$43,180	\$43,706	\$47,193	\$47,808	\$48,423	\$49,038	\$50,707	\$51,049	\$57,336	\$42,653	\$47,193
4	\$43,932	\$44,476	\$45,018	\$48,608	\$49,242	\$49,875	\$50,508	\$52,227	\$52,581	\$59,055	\$43,932	\$48,608
5	\$45,251	\$45,810	\$46,368	\$50,067	\$50,719	\$51,372	\$52,023	\$53,795	\$54,159	\$60,827	\$45,251	\$50,067
9	\$46,608	\$47,184	\$47,760	\$51,569	\$52,241	\$52,912	\$53,584	\$55,409	\$55,783	\$62,349	\$46,608	\$51,569
7	\$48,006	\$48,600	\$49,193	\$53,116	\$53,808	\$54,500	\$55,192	\$57,071	\$57,457	\$64,526	\$48,006	\$53,116
8	\$49,447	\$50,058	\$20,668	\$54,709	\$55,422	\$56,135	\$56,848	\$58,782	\$59,181	\$66,461	\$49,447	\$54,709
6	\$50,930	\$51,559	\$52,189	\$56,350	\$57,085	\$57,819	\$58,554	\$60,546	\$60,956	\$68,455	\$50,930	\$56,350
10	\$52,457	\$53,106	\$53,754	\$58,042	\$58,797	\$59,554	\$60,310	\$62,362	\$62,785	\$69,482	\$52,457	\$58,042
11	\$54,032	\$54,699	\$55,367	\$59,783	\$60,561	\$61,340	\$62,119	\$64,233	\$64,668			
12	\$55,652	\$56,340	\$57,028	\$61,576	\$62,378	\$63,180	\$63,983	\$66,161	\$66,608			
13	\$57,321	\$58,030	\$58,739	\$63,423	\$64,249	\$65,075	\$65,903	\$68,145	\$68,606			
14	\$59,042	\$59,771	\$60,501	\$65,326	\$66,177	\$67,028	\$67,879	\$70,190	\$70,665			
15	\$60,813	\$61,564	\$62,315	\$67,286	\$68,162	\$69,039	\$69,915	\$72,295	\$72,784			
16	\$62,637	\$63,411	\$64,186	\$69,305	\$70,207	\$71,110	\$72,013	\$74,464	\$74,968			
17	\$64,516	\$65,314	\$66,111	\$71,383	\$72,313	\$73,243	\$74,174	\$76,698	\$77,218			
18	\$66,452	\$67,273	\$68,094	\$73,524	\$74,482	\$75,441	\$76,399	\$78,999	\$79,534			
19	\$67,449	\$68,282	\$69,115	\$74,627	\$75,600	\$76,572	\$77,545	\$80,184	\$80,727			

FY18 .5% on FY17 .75% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .75% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.5% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$250,000 and \$499,999

											,	Nurses -
Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	MA/NS NC
1	\$40,305	\$40,803	\$41,301	\$44,595	\$45,176	\$45,757	\$46,338	\$47,914	\$48,239	\$54,180		
2	\$41,514	\$42,026	\$42,540	\$45,932	\$46,531	\$47,130	\$47,728	\$49,352	\$49,687	\$55,806		
3	\$42,760	\$43,288	\$43,815	\$47,310	\$47,927	\$48,543	\$49,160	\$50,833	\$51,177	\$57,479	\$42,760	\$47,310
4	\$44,042	\$44,586	\$45,130	\$48,729	\$49,365	\$50,000	\$50,634	\$52,358	\$52,712	\$59,202	\$44,042	\$48,729
5	\$45,364	\$45,924	\$46,484	\$50,192	\$50,846	\$51,500	\$52,153	\$53,929	\$54,294	\$60,979	\$45,364	\$50,192
9	\$46,724	\$47,302	\$47,879	\$51,697	\$52,371	\$53,044	\$53,718	\$55,547	\$55,922	\$62,504	\$46,724	\$51,697
7	\$48,126	\$48,721	\$49,316	\$53,249	\$53,942	\$54,636	\$55,330	\$57,213	\$57,600	\$64,687	\$48,126	\$53,249
8	\$49,570	\$50,182	\$50,795	\$54,846	\$55,560	\$56,275	\$56,990	\$58,929	\$59,329	\$66,627	\$49,570	\$54,846
6	\$51,057	\$51,688	\$52,319	\$56,491	\$57,228	\$57,963	\$58,700	\$60,697	\$61,108	\$68,626	\$51,057	\$56,491
10	\$52,588	\$53,238	\$53,888	\$58,186	\$58,944	\$59,702	\$60,461	\$62,518	\$62,941	\$69,655	\$52,588	\$58,186
11	\$54,167	\$54,835	\$55,505	\$59,932	\$60,712	\$61,493	\$62,274	\$64,394	\$64,830			
12	\$55,791	\$56,481	\$57,170	\$61,729	\$62,533	\$63,338	\$64,142	\$66,326	\$66,774			
13	\$57,464	\$58,175	\$58,885	\$63,581	\$64,409	\$65,238	\$66,067	\$68,315	\$68,777			
14	\$59,189	\$59,920	\$60,651	\$65,489	\$66,342	\$67,195	\$68,048	\$70,365	\$70,841			
15	\$60,964	\$61,718	\$62,471	\$67,453	\$68,332	\$69,211	\$70,090	\$72,476	\$72,966			
16	\$62,793	\$63,569	\$64,346	\$69,477	\$70,382	\$71,287	\$72,193	\$74,650	\$75,155			
17	\$64,677	\$65,476	\$66,276	\$71,561	\$72,493	\$73,426	\$74,359	\$76,890	\$77,410			
18	\$66,618	\$67,441	\$68,264	\$73,708	\$74,668	\$75,629	\$76,589	\$79,196	\$79,733			
19	\$67,617	\$68,452	\$69,288	\$74,813	\$75,788	\$76,763	\$77,738	\$80,384	\$80,929			

FY18 .75% on FY17 .75% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .75% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.75% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$500,000 and \$749,999

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$40,405	\$40,904	\$41,404	\$44,706	\$45,288	\$45,871	\$46,453	\$48,034	\$48,359	\$54,315		
2	\$41,617	\$42,131	\$42,645	\$46,046	\$46,647	\$47,247	\$47,846	\$49,475	\$49,810	\$55,944		
3	\$42,866	\$43,395	\$43,924	\$47,428	\$48,046	\$48,664	\$49,282	\$50,960	\$51,304	\$57,622	\$42,866	\$47,428
4	\$44,151	\$44,697	\$45,242	\$48,850	\$49,487	\$50,124	\$50,760	\$52,488	\$52,843	\$59,350	\$44,151	\$48,850
5	\$45,477	\$46,038	\$46,600	\$50,317	\$50,972	\$51,628	\$52,283	\$54,063	\$54,429	\$61,131	\$45,477	\$50,317
9	\$46,840	\$47,420	\$47,998	\$51,826	\$52,501	\$53,176	\$53,852	\$55,685	\$56,062	\$62,660	\$46,840	\$51,826
7	\$48,246	\$48,842	\$49,438	\$53,381	\$54,077	\$54,772	\$55,467	\$57,355	\$57,743	\$64,848	\$48,246	\$53,381
8	\$49,693	\$50,307	\$50,921	\$54,982	\$55,699	\$56,415	\$57,131	\$59,076	\$59,476	\$66,793	\$49,693	\$54,982
6	\$51,184	\$51,816	\$52,449	\$56,632	\$57,370	\$58,107	\$58,846	\$60,848	\$61,260	\$68,797	\$51,184	\$56,632
10	\$52,719	\$53,371	\$54,022	\$58,331	\$59,090	\$59,851	\$60,611	\$62,673	\$63,098	\$69,829	\$52,719	\$58,331
11	\$54,301	\$54,972	\$55,643	\$60,081	\$60,863	\$61,646	\$62,429	\$64,554	\$64,991			
12	\$55,930	\$56,621	\$57,312	\$61,883	\$62,689	\$63,495	\$64,302	\$66,491	\$66,940			
13	\$57,607	\$58,319	\$59,032	\$63,739	\$64,569	\$65,400	\$66,231	\$68,485	\$68,948			
14	\$59,336	\$60,069	\$60,802	\$65,652	\$66,507	\$67,362	\$68,217	\$70,540	\$71,017			
15	\$61,116	\$61,871	\$62,626	\$67,621	\$68,502	\$69,384	\$70,264	\$72,656	\$73,148			
16	\$62,949	\$63,728	\$64,506	\$69,650	\$70,557	\$71,465	\$72,373	\$74,835	\$75,342			
17	\$64,838	\$65,639	\$66,440	\$71,739	\$72,674	\$73,609	\$74,544	\$77,081	\$77,603			
18	\$66,783	\$67,609	\$68,434	\$73,891	\$74,854	\$75,817	\$76,780	\$79,393	\$79,931			
19	\$67,785	\$68,623	\$69,460	\$74,999	\$75,977	\$76,954	\$77,932	\$80,584	\$81,130			

FY18 1.0% on FY17 .75% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 .75% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 1.0% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase of \$750,000 or more

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	/09+W	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses -	Nurses - MA/NS
-	\$40.505	\$41,006	\$41.507	644 017	645 401	\$45,005	076 560	¢40 152	0770 470	057 750	MINDSIN	NC
- (340,303	\$41,000	341,307	444,017	343,401	545,765	\$40,309	\$46,133	340,479	\$34,430		
2	\$41,721	\$42,235	\$42,751	\$46,161	\$46,763	\$47,364	\$47,965	\$49,598	\$49,934	\$56,083		
3	\$42,972	\$43,503	\$44,033	\$47,546	\$48,165	\$48,785	\$49,405	\$51,086	\$51,431	\$57,765	\$42,972	\$47,546
4	\$44,261	\$44,808	\$45,355	\$48,972	\$49,610	\$50,249	\$50,886	\$52,618	\$52,975	\$59,497	\$44,261	\$48,972
5	\$45,589	\$46,152	\$46,715	\$50,442	\$51,099	\$51,756	\$52,413	\$54,197	\$54,564	\$61,282	\$45,589	\$50,442
9	\$46,957	\$47,537	\$48,117	\$51,954	\$52,632	\$53,308	\$53,985	\$55,823	\$56,201	\$62,815	\$46,957	\$51,954
7	\$48,366	\$48,963	\$49,561	\$53,513	\$54,211	\$54,908	\$55,605	\$57,498	\$57,887	\$65,009	\$48,366	\$53,513
8	\$49,817	\$50,432	\$51,048	\$55,119	\$55,837	\$56,555	\$57,273	\$59,222	\$59,624	\$66,959	\$49,817	\$55,119
6	\$51,311	\$51,945	\$52,579	\$56,772	\$57,512	\$58,251	\$58,992	\$60,999	\$61,412	\$68,967	\$51,311	\$56,772
10	\$52,850	\$53,503	\$54,156	\$58,476	\$59,237	\$59,999	\$60,761	\$62,829	\$63,255	\$70,002	\$52,850	\$58,476
11	\$54,436	\$55,108	\$55,781	\$60,230	\$61,014	\$61,799	\$62,584	\$64,714	\$65,152			
12	\$56,069	\$56,762	\$57,455	\$62,036	\$62,845	\$63,653	\$64,461	\$66,656	\$67,107			
13	\$57,750	\$58,464	\$59,178	\$63,897	\$64,730	\$65,562	\$66,396	\$68,655	\$69,120			
14	\$59,483	\$60,218	\$60,953	\$65,815	\$66,672	\$67,529	\$68,387	\$70,715	\$71,193			
15	\$61,268	\$62,025	\$62,782	\$67,789	\$68,672	\$69,556	\$70,438	\$72,836	\$73,329			
16	\$63,106	\$63,886	\$64,666	\$69,823	\$70,732	\$71,642	\$72,552	\$75,021	\$75,529			
17	\$64,999	\$65,802	\$66,605	\$71,917	\$72,854	\$73,791	\$74,729	\$77,272	\$77,795			
18	\$66,949	\$67,776	\$68,604	\$74,074	\$75,040	\$76,005	\$76,971	\$79,590	\$80,129			
19	\$67,953	\$68,793	\$69,633	\$75,185	\$76,165	\$77,145	\$78,125	\$80,784	\$81,331			

FY18 base on FY17 1.0% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 1.0% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$40,204	\$40,700	\$41,198	\$44,483	\$45,063	\$45,642	\$46,222	\$47,794	\$48,118	\$54,044		
2	\$41,410	\$41,921	\$42,433	\$45,817	\$46,414	\$47,012	\$47,608	\$49,228	\$49,562	\$55,666		
3	\$42,653	\$43,179	\$43,706	\$47,192	\$47,807	\$48,422	\$49,037	\$50,706	\$51,048	\$57,335	\$42,653	\$47,192
4	\$43,931	\$44,475	\$45,017	\$48,607	\$49,241	\$49,875	\$50,507	\$52,226	\$52,580	\$59,054	\$43,931	\$48,607
5	\$45,250	\$45,809	\$46,368	\$50,066	\$50,719	\$51,371	\$52,022	\$53,794	\$54,158	\$60,826	\$45,250	\$50,066
9	\$46,607	\$47,183	\$47,759	\$51,568	\$52,240	\$52,911	\$53,583	\$55,408	\$55,782	\$62,348	\$46,607	\$51,568
7	\$48,006	\$48,599	\$49,192	\$53,115	\$53,807	\$54,499	\$55,191	\$57,070	\$57,456	\$64,525	\$48,006	\$53,115
8	\$49,446	\$50,057	\$50,668	\$54,708	\$55,421	\$56,134	\$56,847	\$58,781	\$59,180	\$66,460	\$49,446	\$54,708
6	\$50,929	\$51,558	\$52,188	\$56,349	\$57,084	\$57,818	\$58,552	\$60,545	\$60,955	\$68,454	\$50,929	\$56,349
10	\$52,456	\$53,105	\$53,753	\$58,040	\$58,796	\$59,552	\$60,309	\$62,361	\$62,784	\$69,481	\$52,456	\$58,040
11	\$54,031	\$54,698	\$55,366	\$59,781	\$60,560	\$61,339	\$62,118	\$64,232	\$64,667			
12	\$55,651	\$56,339	\$57,027	\$61,574	\$62,377	\$63,179	\$63,981	\$66,159	\$66,607			
13	\$57,320	\$58,029	\$58,738	\$63,422	\$64,248	\$65,074	\$65,901	\$68,144	\$68,605			
14	\$59,040	\$59,770	\$60,499	\$65,325	\$66,176	\$67,026	\$67,878	\$70,189	\$70,663			
15	\$60,812	\$61,563	\$62,314	\$67,284	\$68,161	\$69,038	\$69,914	\$72,294	\$72,783			
16	\$62,636	\$63,410	\$64,184	\$69,303	\$70,205	\$71,109	\$72,012	\$74,463	\$74,966			
17	\$64,515	\$65,312	\$66,110	\$71,381	\$72,312	\$73,242	\$74,172	\$76,697	\$77,216			
18	\$66,451	\$67,272	\$68,093	\$73,523	\$74,481	\$75,439	\$76,398	\$78,998	\$79,533			
19	\$67,447	\$68,281	\$69,114	\$74,626	\$75,598	\$76,571	\$77,544	\$80,183	\$80,726			

FY18 .25% on FY17 1.0% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 1.0% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.25% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$0 and \$249,999

								/09+IV			Viirses -	Nurses -
Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	RN/BSN	MA/NS NC
1	\$40,304	\$40,802	\$41,301	\$44,594	\$45,175	\$45,756	\$46,337	\$47,914	\$48,238	\$54,180		
2	\$41,514	\$42,026	\$42,539	\$45,932	\$46,530	\$47,129	\$47,727	\$49,351	\$49,686	\$55,805		
3	\$42,759	\$43,287	\$43,815	\$47,310	\$47,926	\$48,543	\$49,159	\$50,833	\$51,176	\$57,478	\$42,759	\$47,310
4	\$44,041	\$44,586	\$45,129	\$48,729	\$49,364	\$49,999	\$50,634	\$52,357	\$52,712	\$59,202	\$44,041	\$48,729
5	\$45,363	\$45,923	\$46,484	\$50,191	\$50,845	\$51,499	\$52,152	\$53,928	\$54,293	\$60,978	\$45,363	\$50,191
9	\$46,723	\$47,301	\$47,878	\$51,697	\$52,371	\$53,043	\$53,717	\$55,546	\$55,922	\$62,504	\$46,723	\$51,697
7	\$48,126	\$48,720	\$49,315	\$53,248	\$53,942	\$54,635	\$55,329	\$57,212	\$57,599	\$64,686	\$48,126	\$53,248
8	\$49,569	\$50,182	\$50,794	\$54,845	\$55,560	\$56,274	\$56,989	\$58,928	\$59,328	\$66,626	\$49,569	\$54,845
6	\$51,056	\$51,687	\$52,318	\$56,490	\$57,227	\$57,962	\$58,699	\$60,697	\$61,108	\$68,625	\$51,056	\$56,490
10	\$52,588	\$53,237	\$53,887	\$58,186	\$58,943	\$59,701	\$60,460	\$62,517	\$62,941	\$69,655	\$52,588	\$58,186
111	\$54,166	\$54,835	\$55,504	\$59,931	\$60,711	\$61,493	\$62,273	\$64,393	\$64,829			
12	\$55,790	\$56,480	\$57,169	\$61,728	\$62,533	\$63,337	\$64,141	\$66,325	\$66,773			
13	\$57,464	\$58,174	\$58,885	\$63,580	\$64,408	\$65,237	\$66,066	\$68,314	\$68,776			
14	\$59,188	\$59,919	\$60,651	\$65,488	\$66,342	\$67,194	\$68,047	\$70,364	\$70,840			
15	\$60,964	\$61,717	\$62,470	\$67,453	\$68,331	\$69,210	\$70,089	\$72,475	\$72,965			
16	\$62,792	\$63,569	\$64,345	\$69,477	\$70,381	\$71,287	\$72,192	\$74,649	\$75,154			
17	\$64,677	\$65,476	\$66,275	\$71,560	\$72,493	\$73,425	\$74,358	\$76,889	\$77,409			
18	\$66,617	\$67,440	\$68,263	\$73,707	\$74,667	\$75,628	\$76,589	\$79,195	\$79,732			
19	\$67,616	\$68,452	\$69,287	\$74,812	\$75,787	\$76,762	\$77,737	\$80,383	\$80,928			

FY18 .5% on FY17 1.0% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 1.0% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.5% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$250,000 and \$499,999

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses -	Nurses - MA/NS
-	\$40,405	\$40,904	\$41,404	\$44,705	\$45.288	\$45.871	\$46,453	\$48.033	\$48,359	\$54,315		NC
2	\$41,617	\$42,131	\$42,645	\$46,046	\$46,647	\$47,247	\$47,846	\$49,474	\$49,810	\$55,944		
3	\$42,866	\$43,395	\$43,924	\$47,428	\$48,046	\$48,664	\$49,282	\$50,960	\$51,304	\$57,622	\$42,866	\$47,428
4	\$44,151	\$44,697	\$45,242	\$48,850	\$49,487	\$50,124	\$50,760	\$52,488	\$52,843	\$59,349	\$44,151	\$48,850
5	\$45,476	\$46,038	\$46,599	\$50,316	\$50,972	\$51,628	\$52,283	\$54,063	\$54,429	\$61,130	\$45,476	\$50,316
9	\$46,840	\$47,419	\$47,998	\$51,826	\$52,501	\$53,176	\$53,851	\$55,685	\$56,061	\$62,659	\$46,840	\$51,826
7	\$48,246	\$48,842	\$49,438	\$53,381	\$54,076	\$54,772	\$55,467	\$57,355	\$57,743	\$64,847	\$48,246	\$53,381
8	\$49,693	\$50,307	\$50,921	\$54,982	\$55,698	\$56,415	\$57,131	\$59,075	\$59,476	\$66,793	\$49,693	\$54,982
6	\$51,183	\$51,816	\$52,449	\$56,631	\$57,370	\$58,107	\$58,845	\$60,848	\$61,260	\$68,796	\$51,183	\$56,631
10	\$52,719	\$53,370	\$54,022	\$58,331	\$59,090	\$59,850	\$60,611	\$62,673	\$63,098	\$69,828	\$52,719	\$58,331
11	\$54,301	\$54,971	\$55,643	\$60,080	\$60,863	\$61,646	\$62,428	\$64,553	\$64,991			
12	\$55,929	\$56,621	\$57,312	\$61,882	\$62,689	\$63,495	\$64,301	\$66,490	\$66,940			
13	\$57,607	\$58,319	\$59,031	\$63,739	\$64,569	\$65,399	\$66,231	\$68,485	\$68,948			
14	\$59,336	\$60,069	\$60,802	\$65,652	\$66,507	\$67,361	\$68,217	\$70,540	\$71,017			
15	\$61,116	\$61,871	\$62,626	\$67,621	\$68,501	\$69,383	\$70,264	\$72,656	\$73,147			
16	\$62,949	\$63,727	\$64,505	\$69,650	\$70,557	\$71,464	\$72,372	\$74,835	\$75,341			
17	\$64,838	\$65,639	\$66,440	\$71,738	\$72,673	\$73,608	\$74,543	\$77,080	\$77,602			
18	\$66,783	\$67,608	\$68,433	\$73,890	\$74,853	\$75,817	\$76,780	\$79,393	\$79,930			
19	\$67,785	\$68,622	\$69,460	\$74,999	\$75,976	\$76,954	\$77,931	\$80,584	\$81,129			

FY18 .75% on FY17 1.0% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 1.0% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 0.75% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase between \$500,000 and \$749,999

Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	Nurses - MA/NS NC
1	\$40,505	\$41,006	\$41,507	\$44,817	\$45,401	\$45,985	\$46,569	\$48,153	\$48,479	\$54,450		
2	\$41,721	\$42,235	\$42,751	\$46,161	\$46,763	\$47,364	\$47,965	\$49,598	\$49,934	\$56,083		
3	\$42,972	\$43,503	\$44,033	\$47,546	\$48,165	\$48,785	\$49,405	\$51,086	\$51,431	\$57,765	\$42,972	\$47,546
4	\$44,261	\$44,808	\$45,355	\$48,972	\$49,610	\$50,249	\$50,886	\$52,618	\$52,975	\$59,497	\$44,261	\$48,972
5	\$45,589	\$46,152	\$46,715	\$50,442	\$51,099	\$51,756	\$52,413	\$54,197	\$54,564	\$61,282	\$45,589	\$50,442
9	\$46,957	\$47,537	\$48,117	\$51,954	\$52,632	\$53,308	\$53,985	\$55,823	\$56,201	\$62,815	\$46,957	\$51,954
7	\$48,366	\$48,963	\$49,561	\$53,513	\$54,211	\$54,908	\$55,605	\$57,498	\$57,887	\$65,009	\$48,366	\$53,513
8	\$49,817	\$50,432	\$51,048	\$55,119	\$55,837	\$56,555	\$57,273	\$59,222	\$59,624	\$66,959	\$49,817	\$55,119
6	\$51,311	\$51,945	\$52,579	\$56,772	\$57,512	\$58,251	\$58,992	\$60,999	\$61,412	\$68,967	\$51,311	\$56,772
10	\$52,850	\$53,503	\$54,156	\$58,476	\$59,237	\$59,999	\$60,761	\$62,829	\$63,255	\$70,002	\$52,850	\$58,476
11	\$54,436	\$55,108	\$55,781	\$60,230	\$61,014	\$61,799	\$62,584	\$64,714	\$65,152			
12	\$56,069	\$56,762	\$57,455	\$62,036	\$62,845	\$63,653	\$64,461	\$66,656	\$67,107			
13	\$57,750	\$58,464	\$59,178	\$63,897	\$64,730	\$65,562	\$66,396	\$68,655	\$69,120			
14	\$59,483	\$60,218	\$60,953	\$65,815	\$66,672	\$67,529	\$68,387	\$70,715	\$71,193			
15	\$61,268	\$62,025	\$62,782	\$67,789	\$68,672	\$69,556	\$70,438	\$72,836	\$73,329			
16	\$63,106	\$63,886	\$64,666	\$69,823	\$70,732	\$71,642	\$72,552	\$75,021	\$75,529			
17	\$64,999	\$65,802	\$66,605	\$71,917	\$72,854	\$73,791	\$74,729	\$77,272	\$77,795			
18	\$66,949	\$67,776	\$68,604	\$74,074	\$75,040	\$76,005	\$76,971	\$79,590	\$80,129			
19	\$67,953	\$68,793	\$69,633	\$75,185	\$76,165	\$77,145	\$78,125	\$80,784	\$81,331			

FY18 1.0% on FY17 1.0% incr

FY18 Teachers base schedule on FY17 1.0% increase; new top step at an even 1.5% above prior step; step 1 dropped; 1.0% increase for PPS Ch. 70 increase of \$750,000 or more

												Nimego
Step	Bachelor	B+15	B+30	Masters	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60/ CAGS	Dr.	OT/PT	Nurses - RN/BSN	MA/NS NC
1	\$40,606	\$41,107	\$41,610	\$44,928	\$45,513	\$46,099	\$46,684	\$48,272	\$48,599	\$54,585		
2	\$41,824	\$42,340	\$42,857	\$46,275	\$46,879	\$47,482	\$48,084	\$49,721	\$50,058	\$56,222		
3	\$43,079	\$43,611	\$44,143	\$47,664	\$48,285	\$48,906	\$49,527	\$51,213	\$51,559	\$57,908	\$43,079	\$47,664
4	\$44,371	\$44,919	\$45,467	\$49,093	\$49,733	\$50,373	\$51,012	\$52,749	\$53,106	\$59,645	\$44,371	\$49,093
5	\$45,702	\$46,267	\$46,831	\$50,567	\$51,226	\$51,885	\$52,543	\$54,332	\$54,699	\$61,434	\$45,702	\$50,567
9	\$47,073	\$47,655	\$48,237	\$52,083	\$52,762	\$53,440	\$54,119	\$55,962	\$56,340	\$62,971	\$47,073	\$52,083
7	\$48,486	\$49,085	\$49,684	\$53,646	\$54,345	\$55,044	\$55,743	\$57,640	\$58,030	\$65,170	\$48,486	\$53,646
8	\$49,940	\$50,557	\$51,174	\$55,255	\$55,975	\$56,695	\$57,415	\$59,369	\$59,772	\$67,125	\$49,940	\$55,255
6	\$51,438	\$52,074	\$52,710	\$56,913	\$57,655	\$58,396	\$59,138	\$61,151	\$61,565	\$69,139	\$51,438	\$56,913
10	\$52,981	\$53,636	\$54,291	\$58,621	\$59,384	\$60,148	\$60,912	\$62,985	\$63,411	\$70,176	\$52,981	\$58,621
11	\$54,571	\$55,245	\$55,920	\$60,379	\$61,165	\$61,953	\$62,739	\$64,875	\$65,314			
12	\$56,208	\$56,902	\$57,597	\$62,190	\$63,001	\$63,811	\$64,621	\$66,821	\$67,273			
13	\$57,894	\$58,609	\$59,325	\$64,056	\$64,890	\$65,725	\$66,560	\$68,825	\$69,291			
14	\$59,631	\$60,368	\$61,104	\$65,978	\$66,838	\$67,697	\$68,556	\$70,891	\$71,370			
15	\$61,420	\$62,179	\$62,937	\$67,957	\$68,842	\$69,728	\$70,613	\$73,017	\$73,511			
16	\$63,262	\$64,044	\$64,826	966,69\$	\$70,908	\$71,820	\$72,732	\$75,207	\$75,716			
17	\$65,160	\$65,966	\$66,771	\$72,095	\$73,035	\$73,974	\$74,914	\$77,464	\$77,988			
18	\$67,115	\$67,944	\$68,774	\$74,258	\$75,226	\$76,194	\$77,162	\$79,788	\$80,328			
19	\$68,122	\$68,964	\$69,805	\$75,372	\$76,354	\$77,337	\$78,319	\$80,985	\$81,533			